
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

AGENDA 
 

CABINET SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
 

Wednesday, 25th April, 2007, at 2.00 pm Ask for: Peter Sass 
Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, 
Maidstone 

Telephone   01622 694002 

 
Refreshments will be available from 1.45 pm.  County Councillors who are not Members of 

the Committee but who wish to ask questions at the meeting are asked to notify the 
Chairman of their questions in advance. 

 
UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 

(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public) 
 

A.  COMMITTEE BUSINESS 

A1 Substitutes  

A2 Minutes - 21 March 2007 (Pages 1 - 6) 

A3 Informal Member Group on "Kent: What Price Growth?" - 26 March 2007 (Pages 7 
- 10) 

A4 Informal Member Group on Budgetary Issues - 12 April 2007 (Pages 11 - 14) 

A5 Cabinet Scrutiny Committee - Standing Report to April 20007 (Pages 15 - 22) 

A6 Directorate Business Plans 2007/08 (Pages 23 - 26) 

B.  CABINET/CABINET MEMBER DECISIONS AT VARIANCE TO APPROVED 
BUDGET OR POLICY FRAMEWORK 

No items. 
 

C.  CABINET DECISIONS 

C1  Equality Strategy 2007-10 (Pages 27 - 116) 

 Mr P B Carter, Leader of the Council, and Mr O Mills, Managing Director, Adult 
Social Services, will attend the meeting at 2.15 pm to answer Members' questions 
on this item.  

C2  Kent TV (Pages 117 - 122) 

 Mr P B Carter, Leader of the Council; Mr P Gilroy, Chief Executive; and Ms T 
Oliver, Head of Strategic Development, will attend the meeting at 3.00 pm to 
answer Members' questions on this item.     



C3  Other Cabinet Decisions  

 Any Member of the Committee is entitled to propose discussion and/or 
postponement of any other decision taken by the Cabinet at its last meeting. 
 
(Members who wish to exercise their right under this item are asked to notify the 
Head of Democratic Services of the decision concerned in advance.) 
  

D.  CABINET MEMBER DECISIONS 

D1  East Kent Empty Property Initiative - Direct Purchase Scheme (Decision 07/00934) 
(Pages 123 - 130) 

 Mr R W Gough, Cabinet Member for Regeneration and Supporting Independence;  
Mr N J D Chard, Cabinet Member for Finance; Mr P Raine, Managing Director, 
Environment and Regeneration; Mr M Austerberry, Director of Property; and Ms S 
Pledger, Project Manager, East Kent Empty Property Initiative, will attend the 
meeting at 3.45 pm to answer Members' questions on this item.    

 

E.  OFFICER AND COUNCIL COMMITTEE DECISIONS 

No Officer or Council Committee decisions have been proposed for call in but the 
Committee may resolve to consider any decision taken since its last meeting by an 
Officer or Council Committee exercising functions delegated to it by the Council. 

(Members who wish to propose that the Committee should consider any Officer or 
Council Committee decision are asked to inform the Head of Democratic Services of the 
decision concerned in advance.) 
 
 

EXEMPT ITEMS 

(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items.  During any such items 
which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public) 

 
Peter Sass 
Head of Democratic Services and Local Leadership 
(01622) 694002 
 
Tuesday, 17 April 2007 
 
 
Please note that any background documents referred to in the accompanying papers 
maybe inspected by arrangement with the officer responsible for preparing the relevant 
report. 
 



KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
______________________________ 

 

CABINET SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES of a meeting of the Cabinet Scrutiny Committee held at Invicta House, County 
Hall, Maidstone on Wednesday, 21 March 2007. 
 
PRESENT:  Dr M R Eddy (Chairman), Mr D Smyth (Vice-Chairman), Mr A R Bassam, Mr J 
R Bullock MBE, Mr C J Capon, Mr B R Cope, Mrs T Dean, Mr J B O Fullarton, Mr C Hart, 
Mr P W A Lake, Mr C J Law, Mrs M Newell, Mr R J E Parker, Mr J E Scholes, Mrs P A V 
Stockell and Mr C T Wells. 
 
ALSO PRESENT:  Ms A Harrison (for item D1) 
 
IN ATTENDANCE:  Mr J Wale, Assistant to the Chief Executive and Mr S C Ballard, Head 
of Democratic Services.  
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
 
61. Minutes 

(Item A2) 

(1) The Committee noted that the detailed costings for the pilot scheme for Assisted 
Travel for 11-16 Year Olds (Minute 59(2)(f)) would be reported to the next meeting 
of the Informal Member Group on Budgetary Issues.  

(2) RESOLVED that the Minutes of the meeting held on 20 February 2007 are correctly 
recorded and that they be signed by the Chairman. 

62. Informal Member Group on Budgetary Issues – 8 March 2007 
(Item A3) 

RESOLVED that:- 

(a) the recommendation of the Informal Member Group in Note 2(5) that the 
Cabinet Member for Finance be requested to commission work to identify 
the reasons why some schools were much more financially successful than 
others, so that the lessons could be disseminated more widely within Kent 
schools, be endorsed; 

(b) the remaining notes of the meeting of the Informal Member Group on 
Budgetary Issues held on 8 March 2007 be noted. 

63. Cabinet Scrutiny Committee – Standing Report to March 2007 
(Item A4 – Report by Assistant to the Chief Executive) 

RESOLVED that the report on the actions taken as a result of the Committee’s 
decisions at previous meetings, and the updated report on progress with Select 
Committee Topic Reviews, be noted. 

Agenda Item A2

Page 1



 

64. Children’s Centres – Approval to Name Next Nine Sites (Decision 07/00942) 
(Item D1) 

Mr Parker declared a personal interest in this item as an LEA governor of Lawn 
Community Primary School. 

Mrs Dean declared a personal interest as a member of the steering committee of 
the Children’s Centre to be sited at St James’ School, West Malling. 

 (1) Dr T R Robinson, Cabinet Member for Children and Family Services; Miss S J 
Carey, Lead Member for Education and School Improvement; Mrs A Gamby, Head of 
Early Years/Childcare; Mr K Abbott, Director, Finance and Corporate Services; and Ms J 
Smith, Quality Assurance Co-ordinator, Early Years and Childcare, Children, Families and 
Education Directorate, attended the meeting to answer Members’ questions on this item, 
which covered the following issues:- 

Criteria for Site Selection 

(2) In answer to a question from Ms Harrison, Mrs Gamby explained that Round 2 
Children’s Centres were required to reach out to children under 5 in the 30%, and ideally 
the 50%, most disadvantaged areas (Super Output Areas) in the county.  While sites had 
been and were being identified so that the first 52 Round 2 Children’s Centres met this 
criterion, they were not being selected in order from most deprived area to least. 

Process for Site Selection 

(3) In answer to questions from Ms Harrison and Dr Eddy, Ms Smith circulated a flow-
chart illustrating the process for site selection.  Each Children’s Centre had to serve 800 
under-8s so this determined the geographical area covered.  However, Ms Smith 
explained that a Children’s Centre was not just a physical building.  It was actually the 
provision of the full range of Children’s Centre services throughout an identified catchment 
area.  Mrs Gamby explained that the site selection process illustrated in the flow-chart had 
been introduced in October 2006 and had evolved since then as and when potential 
improvements had been identified.   

Involvement of Local Members 

(4) In answer to questions and comments from Ms Harrison, Dr Eddy, Mr Bassam and 
Mr Parker, Mrs Gamby said that her team had originally thought that engagement with 
District Consortia (step 4 in the flow-chart) would include consultation with local Members.  
When it was realised that this was not happening, local Members had been specifically 
added at step 7.  Miss Carey gave some examples of where local members had taken an 
active role in the selection of children's centre sites and assured the Committee that the 
Cabinet Member for Education and School Improvement welcomed input from local 
Members and would be delighted to hear from any Member who knew of potential sites in 
their area. 
 
Funding of Children’s Centres 

(5) In answer to a question from Mr Law, Mrs Gamby explained that the DfES had 
allocated capital funding of £9.1m to the County Council for the provision of 52 Round 2 
Children’s Centres, an average of £177k per Centre.  In addition, the DfES provided 
revenue funding of approximately £180k per year for each Children’s Centre as part of the 
general Sure Start grant.  This grant was for the day-to-day operation of each Centre.  The 

Page 2



 

services delivered from the Centres continued to be funded by the agencies providing 
those services. 

Decision-making Process 

(6) In answer to questions from Ms Harrison and Dr Eddy, Mrs Gamby confirmed that, 
although the DfES was aware of the 9 new sites for Children’s Centres named in Decision 
07/00942, the County Council had not yet formally sought DfES approval to them.  She 
explained that DfES approval was more to do with bringing together the core services into 
a Children’s Centre rather than just identifying a site. 

KCC Press Releases about Children’s Centres 

(7) In answer to a question from Mrs Newell, Miss Carey and Mrs Gamby explained 
that press releases were normally issued at the time that the Cabinet Member took the 
decision to agree a proposal to name new sites, even though they were still subject to 
approval by the Sure Start Unit at the DfES.  Prior to the press announcement, the 
Children’s Centre’s host (eg a school or other facility) and the local Member were 
informed, but local Sure Start workers would not normally be informed because they were 
not directly connected to the new Children’s Centre. 

Children’s Centre for Cliftonville West 

(8) In answer to a question from Mr Hart, Ms Smith confirmed that Cliftonville West was 
due to have one of the 52 Round 2 Children’s Centres but there had been great difficulty 
in identifying a suitable site.  Efforts were continuing.  Cliftonville West already had a 
Children’s Centre manager, even though a site for the Centre had not yet been identified, 
to arrange for the various elements of the Children’s Centre service to be delivered from 
different buildings, and to publicise the availability of the services to local families. 

Offsite Day Care Facilities 

(9) In answer to questions from Mrs Dean and Mr Smyth, Mrs Gamby said that in the 
case of partial core Children’s Centres, where day care facilities were provided offsite by 
existing providers, it was not possible to insist that those providers reserve places for local 
children because they could simply choose not to participate in the Children’s Centre 
project.  However, under the 10-year Children’s Strategy, LEAs were required to promote 
the sustainability of childcare so, in theory, there was no limit on the number of day care 
providers who could be attached to a Children’s Centre.  Miss Carey added that the 
County Council was keen to ensure that day care facilities were available to all children in 
each Children’s Centre area.   

(10) RESOLVED that:- 

(a) Dr Robinson, Miss Carey, Mrs Gamby, Mr Abbott and Ms Smith be thanked 
for attending the meeting and answering Members’ questions;  

(b) progress with the establishment of Children’s Centres be welcomed; 

(c) concern be expressed to the Cabinet Member for Education and School 
Improvement and the Managing Director, Children, Families and Education, 
that local Members had not been kept sufficiently informed about the 
identification of sites for Children’s Centres in their own electoral divisions; 

Page 3



 

 (d) the Cabinet Member for Education and School Improvement and the 
Managing Director, Children, Families and Education, be urged to ensure 
that, for all future work on the identification and establishment of new 
Children’s Centres, local Members be fully involved from the outset so that 
their local knowledge can be used to assist with the identification of sites; 

(e) the Cabinet Member for Education and School Improvement and the 
Managing Director, Children, Families and Education, be urged to explore 
ways, including lobbying the DfES, to include extra day care provision in any 
Children’s Centre where local providers were not meeting the demand from 
the area served by the Centre; 

(f) the Cabinet Member for Education and School Improvement and the 
Managing Director, Children, Families and Education, be urged to ensure 
that KCC press releases on the naming of new Children’s Centres be clear 
as to whether the Children’s Centres concerned have been proposed by 
KCC, agreed by KCC or agreed by the DfES; 

(g) in view of the significance to local communities of the opening of a Children’s 
Centre, the Cabinet Member for Education and School Improvement and the 
Managing Director, Children, Families and Education be recommended to 
treat future proposals as Key Decisions and publicise them in the Forward 
Plan of Key Decisions for up to four months in advance of the formal 
Decision being taken to send the names of proposed sites to the DfES for 
approval. 

65. Cancellation of Kent-Virginia Direct Flights Project (previous Decision 
06/00799) 
(Item D2) 

(1) Mr P B Carter, Leader of the Council; Mr A J King, Cabinet Member for Policy and 
Performance and Deputy Leader; Mr P Gilroy, Chief Executive; and Mr P Raine, Managing 
Director, Environment and Regeneration, attended the meeting to answer Members’ 
questions on this matter, which covered the following issues:- 

Total Costs Incurred or Committed on the Project 

(2) In answer to questions from Mr Capon and Dr Eddy, Mr Carter and Mr Raine said 
that the total costs incurred by all the partners in the project were £825,310, made up as 
follows:- 

Page 4



 

 

 £ 

KCC 298,560 

SEEDA 100,000 

Private Sector Contributions 50,000 

East Kent Partnership 25,000 

Infratil 25,000 

Thanet District Council 10,000 

Canterbury City Council 5,000 

Gravesham Borough Council 1,000 

Norfolk Airport Authority 310,750 

TOTAL 825,310 

 

Cost to KCC  

(3) In answer to a question from Mr Wells, Mr Carter explained that the County 
Council’s share of the costs came from the Regeneration Fund, which was funded by the 
investment income from the Kings Hill development.  This year that investment income 
had totalled some £1.5m.  Mr Raine explained that the purpose of the Regeneration Fund 
was to allow the County Council to make one-off investments in projects with a calculated 
financial risk in order to seek to stimulate economic regeneration. 

(4) Mr Carter added that some investments, such as the Kent-Virginia Flights project 
proved unsuccessful but, in the overall context of the County Council’s entrepreneurial 
activity, unsuccessful projects were small in terms of both numbers and costs.   

Potential and Actual Benefits from KCC Involvement in Project 

(5) In answer to questions from Mr Capon, Mr Law and Dr Eddy, Mr Carter said that, if 
the project had been successful in terms of ticket sales, it could have generated up to £5m 
of revenue from US tourists to Kent.  Mr Raine explained that this figure was based on 
3,000 US tourists (out of a total of 8,000 travellers) flying into Manston, each staying for 
three nights in Kent and spending £250 per day. 

(6) Mr Carter went on to say that even though the project itself had not been 
successful, there was a residual benefit in terms of increased awareness of Kent as a 
tourism destination amongst the residents of Virginia. 

Reasons for Terminating Project 

(7) In answer to questions from Mr Law and Dr Eddy, Mr Raine explained that Cosmos 
had supplied ticket sales figures to the County Council and the other partners in the 
project on a weekly basis.  By the time the original contract with Cosmos expired in 
February, it was decided not to renew it because ticket sales had been lower than 
expected; no other partners were prepared to share the risks; and so the potential cost to 
KCC and its Council Tax payers was too high.  Mr Carter added that US ticket sales had 

Page 5



 

undoubtedly been affected by adverse movements in the exchange rate and the downturn 
in the US economy. 

Risk Assessment 

(8) In answer to questions from Mr Parker and Mr Bullock, Mr Raine said that a risk 
assessment had been undertaken by the County Council’s consultants as part of the 
feasibility study before the project commenced and he would circulate this to Members of 
the Committee.  

(9) In answer to a question from Mrs Dean, Mr Raine said that the fact that no airline 
chose to fund this route commercially did not indicate that it was an unacceptably high 
risk.  It was not unusual for local authorities and other public bodies to contribute to the 
costs of developing new air routes serving their area, because of the long-term economic 
benefits such routes would bring.  In answer to a question from Mr Smyth, Mr Raine 
pointed out that the main commercial partner in the project, Cosmos, while not exposed to 
any financial risk, had been willing to risk its reputation on the project. 

Kent County Council/Commonwealth of Virginia Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) 

(10) In answer to questions from Mr Parker and Dr Eddy, Mr Gilroy said that the MoU 
was unaffected by the cancellation of the direct flights project.  The MoU was being 
revamped to establish a longer-term relationship between the County Council and the 
Commonwealth of Virginia which would include staff exchanges, peer reviews, etc. 

 (11) RESOLVED that:- 

(a) Mr Carter, Mr King, Mr Gilroy and Mr Raine be thanked for attending the 
meeting and answering Members’ questions; 

(b) the Leader of the Council’s decision not to proceed with the project following 
the meeting on 27 February be recognised as sensible given the lower than 
expected ticket sales; the fact that no other partners were prepared to share 
the risks; and the potential cost to the County Council and Council Tax 
payers; 

(c) the Managing Director, Environment and Regeneration’s agreement to 
provide Members of the Committee with the feasibility study undertaken by 
the Council’s consultants before the project commenced be welcomed; 

(d) the Leader of the Council be urged that, for all future potentially high-risk 
entrepreneurial projects, a proper risk assessment be undertaken in advance 
in accordance with the Council’s formal risk management procedures.  This 
should be made clear to the responsible project manager at the outset. 

 
07/so/csc/032107/Minutes 

Page 6



 
NOTES of a meeting of the Cabinet Scrutiny Committee, Informal Member Group on “Kent 
– What Price Growth?” held on Monday, 26 March 2007  
 
PRESENT: Mr D Smyth (Chairman), Mr B R Cope and Mrs T Dean  
 
OFFICERS: Mr R Hardy, Assistant Director of Environment and Regeneration and Mr G 
Mills, Democratic Services  

1. Notes of Previous Meeting 
 

(1) The notes of the meeting of the Informal Member Group held on 22 January 2007 
were noted.  The Informal Member Group also noted that the Regeneration and Economy 
Team had advised Kent Police Authority and the Kent and Medway Fire and Rescue 
Authority of KCC’s publication of the developer’s guide and had invited them to adopt a 
similar approach to developer contributions. 
 
(2) In addition, Mr Hardy confirmed that he would check with Mr Nigel Smith progress 
on the actions set out on page 3.3 of the meeting notes.   

2. “Kent: What Price Growth?” – Review of Progress 
 
(1) The original version of “Kent: What Price Growth?” was published in June 2003.  
Since then, there had been 3 full financial years during which to see evidence of progress 
towards the goals set out in June 2003.  A short progress report was published in May 
2005, but a fuller review and update was now appropriate.   
 
(2) Mr Hardy said that he would be leading this review during 2007 and proposed to 
focus on a number of key issues designed to document and assess what had happened 
over the last 4 years.  These included:- 
 

• Financial support from central government and the Early Years; 

• Action in Kent by government agencies and NDPBs; 

• Additional KCC spending and changes in spending priorities; 

• Private Sector investment; 

• Additional District Council spending and changes in spending priorities; 

• Investment secured from developers by KCC and districts; 

• The development and effectiveness of local delivery structures; 

• Housing and employment site completions (including use of brown field 
land); 

• Job growth and inward investment; 

• Type and scale of affordable housing delivered; 

• Progress on design and quality; 

• Progress on transport issues; 

• Water supply, air quality and energy issues; 

• Retail developments and town centre regeneration; 

• Case studies on a selection of projects eg., Fastrack and Ashford Gateway. 
 
(3) Mr Hardy said that this range of work was clearly a notable task and as far as 
possible he would present information on a district by district basis.  Some issues would 
need to be addressed more thematically, for example, progress on rural issues.  In terms 
of funding and investment Mr Hardy said he would distinguish between the amounts which 
had been agreed during the period and the amounts that had actually been spent.  In the 
“Leading Kent” section, he said he would look for evidence of the aspirations set out there 

Agenda Item A3

Page 7



having been translated into policy and action.  When up-to-date information was available, 
he would update the “Opportunities and Challenges” section.   
 
(4) During a wide-ranging discussion, Members of the Informal Member Group asked a 
number of questions relating to the review to which Mr Hardy responded as follows:- 
 
Climate Change and investment in Flood and Coastal Defences – Mr Hardy said that the 
County Council was addressing issues related to Climate Change in a number of ways 
and was itself taking a lead by setting itself challenging targets to reduce its carbon 
emissions.  As to dealing with investment in sea defences and dealing with any potential 
flood problems in areas such as Ashford and Thameside, that was the lead responsibility 
of the Environment Agency, although KCC together with the local authorities in Kent were 
obviously having an input into this work.  Mr Hardy that the Agency had produced a 
headline study on flooding issues entitled “Naturalisation of the Coastline” and copies 
could be made available on request. 
 
Housing Issues – discussion on housing issues formed a major part of the meeting and 
focussed on:- 

• the provision of affordable housing and the need for there to be consistency 
across Kent in both policy and implementation related to affordable housing; 

• development of brownfield sites; 

• the need to have flexibility and consistency in the way that developer 
contributions were applied;  

• the importance of infrastructure provision going hand in hand with housing 
development. 

Responding to the comments made, Mr Hardy said that the Kent Housing Group was 
looking at a number of issues including the provision of affordable housing on a district by 
district basis.  The Group had also been working on a standard Section 106 Agreement 
and this was being put to individual councils to take through their democratic processes to 
get approved.  As regards the development of brownfield sites, Mr Hardy said the County 
Council very much encouraged such sites to be developed in preference to greenfield 
sites wherever possible.  He said the County Council also very much supported the 
provision of housing to meet local needs, particularly in rural areas. 
 
Sustainable Communities – following on but closely related to the discussion on housing 
the Informal Member Group also discussed issues related to sustainable communities.  It 
was suggested and agreed that as part of the review, a case study could be included to 
give clarity in explaining the concept and mix which goes into having a sustainable 
community.  Mr Hardy said that the Kings Hill development could be the basis for such a 
case study but that there was also some work which the County Council undertook with 
Medway Council a couple of years ago.  Also ongoing developments like that at St Mary’s 
Island would be included in the survey.  This work would also include looking at what local 
shopping was available together with pre-school and adult education provision.  The 
review would also look at what pressures there may be for sites currently earmarked for 
commercial development being taken up for housing.  With regard to patterns of shopping, 
Mr Hardy said that a number of footfall surveys which had been carried out in the past at a 
number of towns across Kent would be reviewed and he said that would include looking at 
shopping patterns in Dartford and Gravesham both pre and post construction of 
Bluewater.  
 
Transport – the Informal Member Group also discussed transport issues particularly 
related to train services through Kent and proposals by Eurostar to reduce services calling 
at Ashford International Station.  Mr Hardy said these points would be picked up by a 
piece of work into transport issues which was currently been undertaken by Mr Mick 

Page 8



Sutch, Head of Transport Planning and Strategy in the Environment and Regeneration 
Directorate.   
 

3. Date of Next Meeting 

The Informal Member Group agreed that it should hold its next meeting once the first draft 
of the review document was available. 

Page 9



Page 10

This page is intentionally left blank



 
NOTES of a meeting of the Cabinet Scrutiny Committee’s Informal Member Group on 
Budgetary Issues held on Thursday, 12 April 2007 

PRESENT:  Dr M R Eddy (substitute for Mr D Smyth – in the chair), and Mrs P A V 
Stockell (substitute for Mr C J Capon). 

OFFICERS:  Ms L McMullan, Director of Finance; Mrs C Head, Chief Accountant; Mr D 
Hall, County Transportation Manager (for item 2); Mr J Wale, Assistant to the Chief 
Executive; and Mr S C Ballard, Head of Democratic Services  
 
1. Notes of Previous Meeting 

(Item 1) 

Noted. 
 

2. “Freedom Pass” (Assisted Travel for 11-16 Year Olds) – Detailed Costings for 
Pilot Scheme 
(Item 2) 

(1) In answer to a question from Dr Eddy, Mr Hall explained that the scheme had been 
re-named “Freedom Pass” because officers were concerned that use of the term “Assisted 
Travel Pass”, as suggested by the Cabinet Scrutiny Committee, could cause confusion 
with the existing statutory free school transport arrangements which were also known as 
assisted travel. 
 
(2) Mr Hall updated the IMG on progress with the introduction of the pilot schemes in 
Tonbridge/Tunbridge Wells and Canterbury which were budgeted to cost £1m each.  The 
pilot schemes would now be launched in June which would allow them to bed in during the 
quietest part of the school year so that any teething troubles could be resolved prior to the 
start of the new school year in September. 
 
(3) All the bus operators in Tonbridge/Tunbridge Wells and Canterbury had 
volunteered to include all their registered stage carriage services in the pilot schemes and 
negotiations were currently taking place with them on reimbursement arrangements.  
Because the pilot schemes were being run under the Transport Act 1985 the scheme had 
to leave operators no better or worse off than before its introduction.  As a result, 
operators were having to provide KCC with a great deal of commercially-sensitive 
information to allow reimbursement levels to be calculated.  Mr Hall circulated a paper 
setting out the principles of the scheme and the reimbursement arrangements. 
 
(4) Cost effective agreements had been reached with the principal operators in 
Tonbridge/Tunbridge Wells and Canterbury for the provision of additional capacity to cope 
with the extra demand expected to be generated in the morning peak.  This additional 
demand, and where it was likely to occur, had been estimated by using postcode data.  
Part of the purpose of the pilots was to establish exactly where additional capacity was 
needed. 
 
(5) Although rail services were not currently included in the pilot schemes, Mr Hall was 
pursuing the possibility of including them in the future. 
 
(6) In answer to questions from Dr Eddy, Mr Hall said that not allowing children 
attending independent schools to participate in the Freedom Pass scheme would reduce 
the cost but the size of the reduction could not be quantified at present.  However, the pilot 

Agenda Item A4

Page 11



schemes would show the relative take-up, and thus the costs, of the scheme from children 
attending different types of school.  
 
(7) Mr Hall offered to provide a detailed analysis on the operation of the pilot schemes 
to the IMG in 12 months time, in addition to the previously agreed half-yearly reports to 
Members of the Cabinet Scrutiny Committee on costs and take-up of the pilot schemes. 
 
(8) In answer to a question from Mrs Stockell, Mr Hall said that, although the pilot 
schemes did not include Park and Ride services, the possibility of using Park and Ride 
sites as drop-off points where children could catch dedicated buses to take them on to 
their schools was being explored. 
 
3. Revenue and Capital Budgets, Key Activity and Risk Monitoring 

(Item 3) 

(1) Members questions covered the following issues:- 
 
Re-phasing of Capital Projects (paragraph 4.1.1) 
 
(2) In answer to a question from Dr Eddy, Ms McMullan said that there was concern 
about the level of slippage on capital projects and an exercise was being undertaken to 
establish why this was occurring.  It appeared likely that officers responsible for capital 
projects were being too optimistic about the speed at which their projects would proceed 
and, for example, allowing insufficient time for obtaining planning permission or achieving 
any necessary capital receipts.  Pressure on the construction industry did not appear to be 
a significant factor in delaying schemes at present but could become a bigger problem as 
Olympic Games-related development took off. 
 
(3) In answer to a question from Mrs Stockell, Ms McMullan said that section 106 
agreements were not a delaying factor on capital projects.  Although S106 agreements 
were ultimately a matter for Districts, as local planning authorities, it was hoped that the 
Development Contribution Guide agreed by Cabinet on 12 March would assist KCC in 
securing earlier agreement from developers to making realistic S106 contributions towards 
KCC infrastructure. 
 
Schools PFI (Annex 1, paragraph 1.2.5) 
 
(4) In answer to a question from Dr Eddy, Ms McMullan explained that unitary charges 
were the payments made to the PFI provider for the provision of the asset.  The financial 
effect of any further slippage in the construction programme would be accommodated 
using the PFI reserve which had been established to smooth any time-lag between receipt 
of PFI credits and payment to PFI providers. 
 
Elderly People in Nursing Care (Annex 2, paragraph 2.2) 
 
(5) In answer to a question from Dr Eddy, Ms McMullan accepted that the number of 
elderly people in nursing care in 2006/07 had proved to be significantly higher than the 
target.  The reasons for this had been taken into account in the preparation of the 2007/08 
budget to try to ensure that the 2007/08 target was more realistic. 
 
Kent Works (Annex 5, paragraph 1.1.4) 
 

Page 12



(6) In answer to a question from Dr Eddy, Ms McMullan said that approximately £200k 
of the higher than expected costs of establishing the ongoing operation would be met by 
the CFE Directorate.  She added that costs had been higher than expected because Kent 
Works was doing more work than it was contracted to do, and take-up and income 
generation were both lower than anticipated. 
 
Other Issues 
 
(7) In response to requests from Members, Mrs Head offered to provide further 
information about the following issues (Action:  CH):- 
 

• Details of which Communities Portfolio Capital Projects had been re-phased 
(para 4.1.1, item 2). 

• Background to overspend on Fastrack (para 4.3.1). 

• Reasons for lower than planned take-up of school transport (both SEN and 
mainstream) since September 2006 (Annex 1, para 2.1). 

• Latest position on implementation of SWIFT (Annex 2, para 2.5). 

• Detailed breakdown of costs for development of Manston Airport (Annex 3, para 
1.1.3.1). 

• Details of additional DCLG activity and nature of matching Government grant 
(Annex 3, para 1.1.3.2 – Regeneration and Projects Group). 

• Latest position on staff vacancies in Planning and Development Group and 
resulting delay in progressing the Waste Local Development Framework (Annex 
3, para 1.1.3.2 – Strategy). 

• Extent of reduced drawdown from Kent Regeneration Fund (Annex 3, para 
1.1.3.2). 

 
 
 
07/so/BudIssIMG/041207/Notes 

Page 13



Page 14

This page is intentionally left blank



 

REPORT TO:  CABINET SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 25 APRIL 2007 
BY:    ASSISTANT TO THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
    
 
CABINET SCRUTINY AND POLICY OVERVIEW 
Standing Report to April 2007 
________________________________________________________________  
 

Summary 
 

1. The report summarises in Table 1 outcomes of the most recent Cabinet 
Scrutiny Committee (CSC) meeting held on 21 March 2007. Cabinet 
Members and Chief Officers were provided with a copy of the action sheet 
and asked to respond as appropriate. The report includes any subsequent 
responses and actions by Cabinet Members and Senior Officers up to and 
including the meeting of Cabinet held on 16 April 2007.  

 
2. Additionally, in Table 2 the report provides an updated report on the current 

programme for Select Committee Topic Review. This programme was 
originally agreed at Policy Overview Co-ordinating Committee on 15 February 
2007.  

 
Recommendations 
 

3. Members are asked to note: 
 

(i) progress on actions and outcomes from the meeting of Cabinet 
Scrutiny Committee held on 21 March 2007 as set out in Table 1; 

(ii) the current position on Select Committee Topic Reviews.  
 
________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
Contact Officer: John Wale 01622 694006   
 
  
 
 
 

Agenda Item A5

Page 15



 

Cabinet Scrutiny Committee 25 April 2007                                                     Table 1 

ACTIONS FOR CABINET/DIRECTORATES FROM CABINET SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 21 March 2007 

Item/Issue Actions and Outcomes from Cabinet Scrutiny 
Committee  

A2 Minutes of Cabinet 
Scrutiny Committee 20 
February 2007 
 

The minutes were agreed subject to clarification of the 
following points: 

(a) Outstanding information requested or offered at the 
meeting to be followed up. Action: S Ballard 

(b) On Free Travel for 11-16 Year Olds, Mr Parker 
asked why the “Kent Freedom Pass” had been 
adopted as the new name instead of “Assisted 
Travel for 11-16 Year Olds” as recommended by 
Scrutiny Committee, and Mr Hart asked what 
progress had been made on determining a means of 
reduction in congestions as a result of the scheme.  
Action: D Hall 

(c) On Operation Stack, Mr Parker asked to be advised 
of progress on identifying a suitable site for lorry 
parking. Action: M Sutch 

A3 IMG on Budgetary 
Issues  
8 March 2007  

The notes were noted by the Committee and the IMG’s 
recommendation in note 2(5) (to request the Cabinet 
Member for Finance to commission work to identify the 
reason why some schools were much more financially 
successful than others, so that lessons could be 
disseminated more widely within Kent Schools) agreed. 
Action: Mr Chard/Ms McMullan 

A4 Cabinet Scrutiny 
Committee: Actions and 
Outcomes to March/April 
2007 

The report was noted.  

With regard to table 2 of the report, the Chairman 
informed the Committee that Mr Christie had been 
nominated to chair the forthcoming Select Committee on 
“Carers in Kent.”  

Mr Parker expressed concern that the process for 
notifying spokespersons over appointment of chairman 
and timing of reviews was not happening.  

The recent meeting of POCC(15/02/2007) had clarified 
the priorities and dates for reviews, but Mr Wale agreed 
to look into the matter further to ensure Members were 
kept informed.   

Page 16



 

Cabinet Scrutiny Committee 25 April 2007                                                     Table 1 

ACTIONS FOR CABINET/DIRECTORATES FROM CABINET SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 21 March 2007 

Item/Issue Actions and Outcomes from Cabinet Scrutiny 
Committee  

D1 Children’s Centres: 
Approval to Name Next 
Nine Sites-Decision 
07/00942 

Dr T R Robinson (Cabinet Member for CFE), Mrs S J 
Carey (Lead Member for Education and School 
Improvement), Mrs A Gamby (Head of Early 
Years/Childcare), Mrs J Smith (QA Co-ordinator, EY and 
C, and Mr K Abbott (Director, Finance and Corporate 
Services) attended and answered Members’ questions 
on the process for deciding locations and how funding is 
allocated to each one.  The following issues were 
covered: 

• Criteria for Site Selection 

• Process for Site Selection 

• Involvement of Local Members 

• Funding of Children’s Centres 

• Decision-making Process 

• KCC Press Releases about Children’s Centres 

• Children’s Centre for Cliftonville West 

• Offsite Day-care Facilities 

After discussion, the Committee thanked the Members 
and Officers for attending and answering questions, and 
resolved as follows: 

(a) Decision 07/00942 can now be implemented. 
Action: Dr Ian Craig/Mrs A Gamby 

(b) Ms Harrison asked for a full explanation of why the 
DfES had shown the 9 new Children’s Centres on 
their website, and the Minister had included them in 
a House of Commons written answer, when KCC 
should not yet have sought DfES approval for them. 
Action: Mrs A Gamby 

(c) Dr Eddy asked for details of internal details for 
making press announcements about new Children’s 
Centres and for seeking approval from DfES 
(including what that approval related to). Action: 
Mrs A Gamby 

Page 17



 

Cabinet Scrutiny Committee 25 April 2007                                                     Table 1 

ACTIONS FOR CABINET/DIRECTORATES FROM CABINET SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 21 March 2007 

Item/Issue Actions and Outcomes from Cabinet Scrutiny 
Committee  

 (d) Dr Eddy asked why Decision 07/00942 had not been 
included in the Forward Plan of Key Decisions. 
Action: Mrs A Gamby/Stuart Ballard 

(e) The Committee requested a Briefing Note on the 
Terms of Reference of “District Consortia.” Action: 
Stuart Ballard 

The Committee also concluded that: 

(i) progress with the establishment of Children’s 
Centres be welcomed; 

(ii) concern be expressed to the Cabinet Member for 
Education and School Improvement and the 
Managing Director CFE that local Members had not 
been informed about the identification of sites for 
Children’s Centres in their own electoral divisions; 
Action: Mr J Simmonds, Dr Craig, Mrs Gamby 

(iii) the Cabinet Member for Education and School 
Improvement  and the Managing Director, CFE be 
urged to ensure that, for all future work on the 
establishment of new Children’s Centres, local 
Members can be fully involved from the outset so 
that their local knowledge can be used to assist with 
the identification of sites; Action: Mr J Simmonds, 
Dr Craig, Mrs Gamby 

(iv) the Cabinet Member for Education and School 
Improvement and the Managing Director, Children, 
Families and Education, be urged to explore ways, 
including lobbying the DfES, to include extra daycare 
provision in any Children’s Centre where local 
providers were not meeting the demand from the 
area served by the Centre; Action: Mr J 
Simmonds, Dr Craig, Mrs Gamby 

(v) the Cabinet Member for Education and School 
Improvement and the Managing Director CFE be 
urged to ensure that KCC Press Releases on the 
naming of new Children’s Centres be clear as to 
whether the Centres concerned have been proposed 
by KCC, agreed by KCC , or agreed by the DfES; 
Action: Mr J Simmonds, Dr Craig, Mrs Gamby, 
Gerry Moore 

Page 18



 

Cabinet Scrutiny Committee 25 April 2007                                                     Table 1 

ACTIONS FOR CABINET/DIRECTORATES FROM CABINET SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 21 March 2007 

Item/Issue Actions and Outcomes from Cabinet Scrutiny 
Committee  

 (vi) in view of the significance to local communities of the 
opening of a Children’s Centre, future proposals be 
treated as Key Decisions and publicised in the 
Forward Plan of key Decisions for up to four months 
in advance of the formal Decision being taken to 
name the sites. Action: Dr Craig, Mrs Gamby 

D2 Cancellation of Kent 
to Virginia Direct Flights 
Project (Previous 
Decision 06/00799) 

Mr P B Carter (Leader), Mr A J King (Deputy Leader), Mr 
P Gilroy (Chief Executive) and Mr P Raine (MD, 
Environment and Economy) attended for this item and 
were thanked for answering Members’ questions on 
costs incurred or committed by KCC to the project. 

Members subsequently concluded that: 

(a) the Leader’s decision not to proceed with the project 
following the meeting on 27 February 2007 be 
recognised as sensible given the lower than 
expected ticket sales; the fact that no other partners 
were prepared to share the risks; and the potential 
cost to the County Council and Council Tax payers; 

(b) Mr Raine’s agreement to provide Members of the 
Committee with the risk assessment undertaken by 
the Council’s consultants as part of the report and 
feasibility study before the project commenced be 
welcomed; Action: P Raine 

(c) the Leader be urged that, for all future high-risk 
entrepreneurial projects, a proper risk assessment 
be undertaken in advance in accordance with the 
Council’s formal risk management processes. 
Action: P Gilroy/P Raine 

Page 19



  

Cabinet Scrutiny Committee 25 April 2007                                                         Table 2 

SELECT COMMITTEE TOPIC REVIEWS:  PROGRAMME FOLLOWING POLICY 
OVERVIEW CO-ORDINATING COMMITTEE 15 February 2007 

Policy Overview Committee/ 
Topic Review/Chair 

Current Topic Review status and other topics (in 
no particular order*) agreed for the period 
February 2007 to July 2008  

Children Families and 
Education 

 

PSHE-Children’s Health: 
Chair MS C J CRIBBON  

 

Inaugural meeting of the Select Committee was held 
on 5 October.  Hearings and visits were held during 
November.  
The Select Committee’s report was agreed by 
Cabinet on 16 April 2007. (Research Officer: 
Gaetano Romagnuolo) 

Developing the Creative 
Curriculum 
 

Dates to be agreed* 
 

Primary School Attainment 
 

POCC agreed that this issue was being dealt with 
through a cross-party mechanism. It was therefore 
removed at the request of CFE POC.  
 

Young People’s Spiritual, 
Moral, Social and Cultural 
Development 

Dates to be agreed* 

Communities 
 

Accessing Democracy Dates to be agreed* Preliminary discussions are 
being held to assess how this work will 
compliment the work of the “Going Local” Informal 
Member Group. 
 

Student Voice –Consultation 
and Participation with Young 
People 
 

Dates to be agreed.* 
 

Provision of Activities for 
Young People 
 

Dates to be agreed.*  

 Communities/Public Health 
(to be agreed) 
 

 

Alcohol and Related Issues  
 

To start in Spring 2007. 

 

Page 20



 

Cabinet Scrutiny Committee 25 April 2007                                                         Table 2 

SELECT COMMITTEE TOPIC REVIEWS:  PROGRAMME FOLLOWING POLICY 
OVERVIEW CO-ORDINATING COMMITTEE 15 February 2007 

Policy Overview Committee/ 
Topic Review/Chair 

Current Topic Review status and other topics (in 
no particular order*) agreed for the period 
February 2007 to July 2008  

Adult Services 
 

Carers in Kent 
Chairman designate:  
MR L CHRISTIE (to be 
confirmed by the Select 
Committee at its inaugural 
meeting) 

Dates confirmed as Spring to Autumn 2007. 

 

Transition from Childhood to 
Adulthood: 
MR A BOWLES 
 

 

 

Inaugural meeting of the Select Committee was held 
on 9 October 2006; hearing sessions commenced on 
26 October and are due to end on 20 December 2006. 
It is anticipated that the Select Committee report will 
be submitted to Cabinet in May 2007. (Research 
Officer: Susan Frampton). 
 

Environment and 
Regeneration 

 

 

Impact of Supermarkets, Out of 
Town Shopping Malls and 
Retail Parks on Businesses in 
Kent 

Dates to be agreed.* 

 

jhw/sc 13 April 2007  
* To be discussed at the meeting of the POCC in June and September 2007 
 

 

 
 

 

Page 21



Page 22

This page is intentionally left blank



 

A6:1 

 
By: Head of Democratic Services 
 
To: Cabinet Scrutiny Committee – 25 April 2007 
 
Subject: DIRECTORATE BUSINESS PLANS 2007/08 
 
Classification: Unrestricted 
 
FOR DECISION 

 
 
1. The Committee is asked to consider which individual unit Business 
Plans for 2007/08 should be selected for detailed scrutiny.  The report to 
Cabinet on 16 April about Business Plans (Item 5) is attached for ease of 
reference. 
 
2. In past years, the Committee has selected three Business Plans, each 
from a different Directorate, and established Informal Member Groups (1/1/1) 
to consider them in detail and report back to the Committee.  The Committee 
may wish to follow the same process for 2007/08.  Experience has shown that 
the most useful time for the IMGs to meet is during the autumn, when 
progress in meeting Business Plan targets can be assessed. 
 
3. It may help the Committee to know that in previous years the following 
Business Plans have been subject to detailed scrutiny:- 
 

2003/04 Waste Management 
  Corporate Property 
 
2004/05 Youth Service 
  Occupational Therapy and Sensory Disabilities 
  Commercial Services’ Transport Services 
 
2005/06 Emergency Planning 
  Youth Offending Team 
  Asylum-Seekers and Refugee Service 
 
2006/07 Public Health 
  Clusters 
  Supporting People 

 
RECOMMENDATION 

 
4. Members are invited to consider which unit Business Plans for 2007/08 
should be selected for detailed scrutiny and feed suggestions in through the 
Chairman and Spokesmen of the Committee.  A recommendation will then be 
made to the next meeting of the Committee.  

Agenda Item A6

Page 23



Page 24

This page is intentionally left blank



           
By:   Alex King, Deputy Leader  
   Peter Gilroy, Chief Executive 
 
To   Cabinet– 16 April 2007 
 
Subject:  BUSINESS PLANS 
 
Unrestricted 
 
 

 
 
Introduction 
 
On the basis of each Cabinet Member’s recommendation Cabinet is asked to 
approve the Business Plans as listed in Appendix 1. They identify medium 
term priorities and goals within Directorates and also include the 2007-08 
annual plans for individual units. 
 
They represent the operation of the County Council’s services within the 
context of its Policy Framework and are clearly linked to its Medium Term 
Financial Plan and annual budget as approved by the Council on 22 February 
2007. 
 
The plans have been made available to members of Cabinet Scrutiny 
Committee and a copy has been placed in the Members’ lounge. Further 
copies are available on request to the contact officer and the approved plans 
will be accessible via KNet. 
 
Recommendation 
 
Cabinet is asked to approve the Directorate business plans as listed in 
Appendix 1. 
 
 
Backgound documents: None 
Contact: 
Janice Hill (01622 221981) 
Performance Manager 

Page 25



 
Directorate Business Plans      Appendix 1 
    
 

 
 
 

 
Adult Social Services 
Adult Social Services 
Adult Mental Health  
Occupational Therapy and Sensory  
Disabilities Unit 
Supporting People Unit 
Gypsy Unit 
Strategic and Area Management and 
Business Support 
 

 
Communities  
Policy and Resources 
Kent Youth Offending Service 
Kent Drug and Alcohol Action Team 
Community Safety  
Contact Centre 
Trading Standards  
Food Service Plan 
Kent Scientific Services 
Registration and Coroners 
Emergency Planning 
Sport, Leisure and Olympics 
Libraries and Archives 
Youth Service  
Cultural Development 
Turner Contemporary 
 

  
Children, Families & Education  
Children’s Social Services 
Operations Division: Clusters 
Operations Division: School Organisation 
Standards and Achievement 
Commissioning Division 
Finance and Corporate Services  
Health, Children and Young People 
Resources 
Strategy, Policy and Performance  
 

 
Environment & Regeneration  
Change and Development 
Environment and Waste 
Kent Highway Services 
Regeneration and Economy 
Resources  
Strategy and Planning 
 
 
 

 
Chief Executive’s Department  
Corporate Finance 
Property Group 
Commercial Services 
Legal & Democratic Services 
Personnel & Development 
Business Solutions and Policy 
Strategic Development Unit 
 

 

 
 

 

Page 26



 
CABINET SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 25 APRIL 2007 
 
Report Title: Equality Strategy 2007-10 

 
Document Attached: Report to Cabinet, 16 March (Item 4) 

Cabinet approved the recommendations in the 
report (subject to some changes in the 
wording), and also asked the Director of 
Personnel and Development to bring a report 
on gender equality to Personnel Committee. 

 
Purpose of Consideration: To explore why Cabinet was asked to approve  

the strategy when consultation had not yet 
been concluded. 

 
Possible Decisions: The Constitution (Appendix 4 Part 8) requires 

the Committee to take one of the following 
decisions:- 

 
(a) make no comments; or 
(b) express comments but not require 

reconsideration of the decision; or 
(c) require implementation of the decision to 

be postponed pending reconsideration 
of the matter by the Cabinet Member in 
the light of the Committee’s comments; 
or 

(d) require implementation of the decision to 
be postponed pending reconsideration 
of the matter by full Council.   

 
Previous Consideration: None. 
 
Background Documents: None. 

Agenda Item C1

Page 27



Page 28

This page is intentionally left blank



 
By: Paul Carter, Leader of the Council, Corporate support & health 

 Oliver Mills, Managing Director, Adult Services 

 

To: Cabinet – 16 April 2007 

Subject: EQUALITY STRATEGY 2007 - 2010 

Classification: Unrestricted  

Summary: 
 

This paper asks Cabinet to agree an Equality Strategy, which 
brings together the Council’s existing Disability and Race 
equality schemes, and new Gender Equality Scheme, into one 
document. 
 
The Strategy aims to support continuous improvement in 
service delivery across all areas of the Council, with a greater 
focus on meeting the needs of diverse service users. It is 
underpinned by a commitment to achieving best value for 
available resources, working in partnership and encouraging 
more people to have their say locally to influence decisions 
which affect them and their community. 
  

1.  Overview 

The Council has a statutory obligation to produce Disability and Race equality schemes, 
which it already has in place. From 30 April this year, it is also required to publish a 
Gender Equality Scheme. Following discussion at the Strategic Equalities Group in 
November last year, it was agreed to amalgamate these three documents, to enable 
multiple issues to be addressed more effectively, and ensure that the Council’s approach 
to equality is consistent and integrated across the organisation.   

 

2.  About the Strategy 
 
The Council’s existing Disability and Race equality schemes form the basis of the 
Equality Strategy, together with supplementary statistical information.  
 
The Disability priorities and actions remain identical to those contained in the Disability 
Equality Scheme, which was the product of extensive involvement work with disabled 
people last year. The priorities and actions identified in relation to Race reflect those set 
out in Year Three of the current Race Equality Scheme.  
 
Although the Strategy mainly focuses on Disability, Gender and Race equality, it also 
provides a summary of current issues in relation to poverty, deprivation and cohesion, 
and associated initiatives being delivered across the Council. This includes the 
Supporting Independence Programme, reducing teenage pregnancy, migration, and work 
on the Equality Standard for Local Government.  
 

3.  The five priority outcomes 
 
The Strategy identifies five priority outcomes, which support the Council’s Equality and 
Diversity Policy Statement: 
 

Page 29



• Equal and inclusive services and information for all, regardless of age, disability, 
gender, faith, race or sexual orientation. 

 

• Creative opportunities for participation and involvement in service planning and 
decision-making.  

 

• Work with our partners to ensure the county’s most vulnerable groups feel safe and 
free from harassment, and can report incidents in the knowledge that issues will be 
handled sensitively and effectively. 

 

• Enhance the quality of our intelligence and monitoring systems, to ensure we can 
target disadvantage in the county where action is most needed and best reflects 
effective use of resources. 

 

• Maintain our reputation as an excellent employer, promoting a culture where the 
Council recruits on merit, diversity is valued, and where employees are proactive in 
anticipating the needs of service users. 

 

4.  Next steps 
 
Consultation is currently taking place on the document with service users and 
employees. Engagement with service users on the Strategy will continue over the next six 
months, to explore issues in greater detail and reflect ongoing activity in Directorates 
and work on equality impact assessments. This will inform a review of the Strategy at the 
end of the year. 
 

Cabinet will be updated orally at the meeting on any key issues to emerge through 
current consultation activity. 

 

5.  Recommendations 
 
Cabinet is asked to: 

 

(a) Agree the Equality Strategy and Summary Action Plans;  
(b) Authorise the Lead Member to approve any minor amendments to the 

Strategy or Summary Action Plans indicated between now and 30 April; 
(c) Note that engagement with service users on the Strategy will continue 

over the next six months, to inform a review at the end of the year. 
 
 
 
 
 
Jo Richardson 
Inclusive Services Policy Manager 
01622 221851 
 
 

 

Background documents:  KCC’s Disability Equality Scheme 2006/09 
    KCC’s Race Equality Scheme 2005/08 

 

 

Page 30



 

 

 

 
Kent County Council 

 
Equality Strategy 

 

April 2007 – March 2010 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

For further information about the Strategy, or if you require it in an alternative 
format such as large print, Braille, audio tape or Easy to Read, or if you would like 
it to be explained to you in your language, contact us by:  
 

Email: diversityinfo@kent.gov.uk 
Telephone: 01622 221163 
Textphone: 08458 247905 

Page 31



 

Contents 
 

  Page 
 

1. Foreword 4 
 • What do we mean by equality and diversity? 

• Key strengths and achievements 
 

 

2. Executive summary 5 
 • Introduction and overview 

• Our five priority outcomes 
 

 

3. Introduction 7 
 • About the Strategy 

• Who is the Strategy for? 

• Why an Equality Strategy, and not three schemes? 

• How we developed the Strategy 
 

 

4. Who are the people of Kent?  9 

 • Some key facts about Kent 

• Community cohesion in Kent 
 

 

5. What shapes services in Kent? 16 

 • National legislation and priorities 

• The Council’s key strategic documents  

• The views of local people  
 

 

6. How we deliver equality in Kent 19 
 • About Kent County Council  

• Our structure for delivering equality 

• Equality in employment 

• Equality in education and schools 
 

 

7. Making equality part of everything we do 24 
 • How we communicate with our diverse communities 

• How we deal with complaints  

• Promoting equality and tackling unfair discrimination 
through partnerships 

• Promoting equality and tackling unfair discrimination 
through procurement 

 

   
 

Page 32



 

 
8. Our five priority outcomes 29 
 • Our top priority outcomes 

• Priorities for specific equality strands 
 

 

9. Disability equality in Kent 30 
 

 
  

10. Gender equality in Kent 35 
   
11. Race equality in Kent 41 
   
12. Using equality impact assessments to improve services 

for everyone in Kent 
48 

 • What are equality impact assessments? 
• Equality impact assessments make good business sense 
• What happens during an equality impact assessment? 
 

 

13. Performance and review 49 
 • Monitoring performance on the Equality Strategy 

• Publicising the Strategy 
 

 

14. Action plans  
 • Organisational action plan  

• Specific action plans for Disability, Gender and Race 
 

 

15. Appendices  
 • A Consultation summary 51 

 • B  Summary of equalities legislation 53 

 • C List of all County Council services 54 

   
   

 

   

Page 33



 

1. Foreword  
 

What do we mean by equality and diversity? 
 
For Kent County Council, equality and diversity means delivering excellent 
quality, value for money services to everyone in Kent. Our approach is simple. We 
aim to open doors to access and participation, to enable everybody to contribute to 
the life of the county, whatever their background or circumstances.  
 
Our services are already rated amongst the best in the country, and we have a 
strong record of achievement for raising standards, increasing choice and tackling 
inequality. We are proud of these successes, which cut across a whole range of 
areas such as social care, children’s services, education and employment: 
 

• Our nationally acclaimed Supporting Independence Programme – which tackles 
the root causes of inequality and promotes community cohesion, making a real 
difference to the lives of people living in Kent's most disadvantaged 
communities.  

• We were one of the first councils in the country to conduct an equal pay review. 

• We have worked with the Department of Health and key partners across the 
county to pilot ‘Culturally competent care’, an initiative designed to develop 
services for black and minority ethnic older people, and best practice checklists 
for frontline practitioners and carers.  

• The Disability Rights Commission has commended our partnership work on the 
development of our Disability Equality Scheme as ‘pioneering’. 

• We have hosted part of Natural England's diversity review, the ‘By all means’ 
project, increasing the numbers of disabled people in Kent who are able to 
access and enjoy countryside activities. 

• We are ranked 37th out of the 100 best employers in the UK for Lesbian and 
Gay staff, by independent group Stonewall, joining an elite group of 
organisations that includes blue chip FTSE 100 companies and government 
departments. 

 
This Strategy aims to support continuous improvement in service delivery across 
all areas of the Council, with a greater focus on meeting the needs of diverse 
service users. It is underpinned by a commitment to achieving best value for 
available resources, working in partnership and encouraging more people to have 
their say locally to influence decisions which affect them and their community.  
 
The priorities in the Strategy reflect both local aspirations and regional objectives. 
Please take a little time to read it and let us know your views and opinions on what 
we are doing. 
 
 

Page 34



 

2.  Executive Summary  
 
Introduction 
 

This is Kent County Council’s first Equality Strategy, effective from April 2007 to 
March 2010.  The Strategy sets out how the Council will promote equality and 
community cohesion and tackle unfair discrimination in Kent.  
 
The Strategy incorporates the Council’s Disability, Gender and Race equality 
schemes, and focuses primarily on these three areas. It spells out what Disability, 
Gender and Race equality mean for those who live, work in and visit Kent, and the 

priorities to be tackled in each area. It also deals with poverty, deprivation, and the 
cross-cutting issues of age, faith, and sexual orientation. In doing so it 
summarises specific initiatives being delivered across the Council to tackle these 
issues, such as reducing teenage pregnancy, migration, and work on the Equality 
Standard for Local Government.  
 
The Strategy supports a range of other key plans and strategies, such as Towards 
2010 and the Kent Children and Young People’s Plan.  
 

How we developed the Strategy 
 
This Equality Strategy is the result of: 
 

• Listening to the views of those who live, work in and visit Kent 

• Learning from reviews of services and information from inspections 

• Looking at our key performance measurements so we know what we are doing 
well and where we need to improve. 

 

Our five priority outcomes  
 

The Strategy identifies five priority outcomes, which describe our overall ambitions 
for equality, and provide a framework for delivering and managing all our services: 
 

• Equal and inclusive services and information for all, regardless of age, 
disability, gender, faith, race or sexual orientation. 

 
 

• Creative opportunities for participation and involvement in service planning 
and decision-making.  

 

• Work with our partners to ensure the county’s most vulnerable groups feel safe 
and free from harassment, and can report incidents in the knowledge that 
issues will be handled sensitively and effectively. 

 

• Enhance the quality of our intelligence and monitoring systems, to ensure we 
can target disadvantage in the county where action is most needed and best 
reflects effective use of resources. 

 

 

Page 35



 

• Maintain our reputation as an excellent employer, promoting a culture where 
the Council recruits on merit, diversity is valued, and where employees are 
proactive in anticipating the needs of service users. 

 
Focusing activity and targeting resources in these areas will have the greatest 
impact on promoting equality and tackling disadvantage in the county. 

 
Making our outcomes a reality 
 
Our five priority outcomes are underpinned by a range of objectives and actions 
that relate specifically to Age, Disability, Gender, Faith, Race and Sexual 
Orientation. These have been identified to address specific need within the county 
and the Council, and gaps in understanding or service provision.  
 
The Strategy is supported by a range of robust action plans, which set out a 
phased approach to achieving the five outcomes. The Council’s Strategic 
Equalities Group will monitor performance against the action plans. 
 
Over the next six months we are committed to ongoing developmental work on the 
Strategy with those who live and work in Kent, to explore issues highlighted 
through consultation in greater detail, identify appropriate responses and take 
forward key actions. 
 

If you have any questions about Kent County Council’s Equality Strategy, or 
would like to know how to get involved with ongoing activity to develop services in 

Kent, please contact Corporate Diversity Team on:  
 

 Email: diversityinfo@kent.gov.uk  
Telephone: 01622 221163 
Textphone: 08458 247905 

Page 36



 

3. Introduction 
 

About the Strategy 
 
The Kent County Council Equality Strategy is effective from April 2007 to March 
2010. It identifies the main activities that the Council will carry out to improve 
outcomes for Kent’s diverse communities. It is aimed at everyone in Kent, including 
residents, employees, staff working with diverse groups, stakeholders and 
inspectors. 
 
This Introduction explains why we are producing an Equality Strategy, and not 
three schemes. It also explains how the Council developed the Strategy, who was 
involved and how the views and opinions of local people influenced it.  
 
Section 4, ‘Who are the people of Kent?’ provides an overview of the county, 
and some interesting facts about the people of Kent. It also looks at community 
cohesion in Kent, and the work the Council is doing in this area. 
 
Section 5, ‘What shapes services in Kent?’ summarises the legislation informing 
the Strategy, and explains how the Strategy sits in relation to other key plans and 
decision-making structures in Kent. It also explains how the views of those who 
live, work in and visit Kent can influence services and decision-making. 
 
Section 6, ‘How we deliver equality in Kent’, explains how Kent County Council 
is structured, and how it is promoting equality as an employer and in education.  
 
Section 7, ‘Making equality part of everything we do’, explains how we 
communicate with our diverse communities. It also summarises the Council’s 
complaints system, and looks at how we promote equality through partnership 
working and procurement. 
 
Section 8, ‘Our five priority outcomes’, describes the five key outcomes the 
Council wants to achieve for diverse communities in Kent.  
 
Sections 9, 10, and 11 examine in turn the areas of Disability, Gender and Race 
equality. They summarise the key facts and challenges in Kent, the achievements 
we have already made in these areas, and the priorities to be addressed. 
 
Section 12, ‘Using equality impact assessments to improve services for 
everyone in Kent’, explains what an ‘equality impact assessment’ is, why they are 
important, and how they are helping to turn equality and diversity into every day 
practice.  
 
Section 13, ‘Performance and review’, sets out how we will monitor our progress 
against the Strategy, and make sure we achieve our outcomes. 
 
Section 14, ‘Action Plans’, sets out all the different actions we will be undertaking 
over the next three years, in order to achieve our outcomes. An Organisational 
Action Plan summarises actions which support all areas of equality, and three 

Page 37



 

separate action plans on Disability, Gender and Race equality summarises work 
that specifically relates to these areas. 
 
Section 15, ‘Appendices’, contains a range of additional information for further 
reading. 
 

Why an Equality Strategy, and not three schemes? 
 
The Council has a legal duty to produce three equality schemes in relation to 
Disability, Gender and Race.  However, it makes sense to bring these schemes 
together into one simple document, to ensure that our approach to equality is 
consistent and integrated across the organisation.  It also means that the Council 
can address multiple issues which cut across more than one diverse group more 
effectively.  
 
The legislation governing Disability, Gender and Race equality is slightly different 
for each area. In order to address these differences each area has its own section 
in the Strategy, and is supported by a specific action plan.  

 
How we developed the Strategy  
 
We undertook a range of important steps to develop the Strategy. These included: 
 

• Understanding the views of diverse groups in Kent - overall, the views 
of over 1000 individuals and community groups helped to shape the 
priorities and actions in the Strategy.  

• Collecting and analysing a range of key data and evidence on local 
trends - this included Census information, residents’ satisfaction surveys 
and performance management indicators. 

• The involvement of staff - through briefing sessions, themed groups and 
online surveys. 

• Engagement with the voluntary and community sector - the views of key 
voluntary and community groups will continue to play a key role in this 
Strategy. 

 
A full summary of who was involved in developing the Strategy is included in 
Appendix A. Unless otherwise indicated, all statistics are referenced to the Census 
2001. 
 

 

Over the next six months we are committed to ongoing developmental 
work on the Strategy with those who live and work in Kent, to explore 
issues highlighted through consultation in greater detail, identify 
appropriate responses and take forward key actions. 
 

Page 38



 

4. Who are the people of Kent? 

 

About Kent 
 
Kent County Council is the largest non-metropolitan local authority in England, with 
a resident population of 1,369,900 people (this figure is known as the ‘Kent County 
Council Area’, and excludes the Medway Council Area). Referred to as the Garden 
of England for its beautiful countryside, the county has impressive historical, 
cultural, shopping and educational facilities, as well as a thriving business sector. 
In total, there are 610 schools, 117 libraries, 22 youth and community centres and 
more than 5,000 miles of roads.  Kent is the main Gateway between the UK and 
mainland Europe, with the International Station, Ashford, as close in journey time 
to Lille as to London. 
 

Some key facts about the people of Kent 
 

• The population of the Kent County Council Area grew by 10,700 people (0.8 
per cent) between 2004 and 2005. 

 

• Overall, Ashford Borough has experienced the largest increase in population in 
real terms, with a growth of 2,300 people between 2004 and 2005. 

 

• No local authorities within Kent have experienced a decline in population. 
 

• The Kent County Council Area is ranked 106th out of a national scale of the 149 
most deprived authority areas in England.1 A rank of 1 is the most deprived. 
The Kent County Council Area is the 2nd most deprived county council area of 
all county councils within the South East Region (excluding unitary authorities).  

 

• There are similar numbers of men and women in the Kent County Council Area 
- 49 per cent and 51 per cent respectively. This is similar for all age groups, 
until after the age of 75, where there is a marked difference with significantly 
more women over the age of 75 (62 per cent) than men (38 per cent). 

 

• The Kent County Council Area has an age profile similar to that of England. 
However, the north of Kent has more people under the age of twenty and East 
Kent has more people over the age of sixty-five.  

 

• 41,534 people (3.1 per cent) in the Kent County Council Area classify 
themselves as from a Black Minority Ethnic (BME) group. This compares to 
54,957 (3.5 per cent) residents of the county as a whole who classify 
themselves as BME.  

 

• 13.1 per cent of people in the Kent County Council Area consider themselves 
to have a long term limiting illness.  

 

                                            
1
 Based on the average of lower super output area (LSOA) scores. 

 

Page 39



 

• The Council supports more than 30,000 disabled and older people to continue 
living in their own homes.2 

 

• There are 546,742 households in the Kent County Council Area. Of these, 73.6 
per cent are owner occupied and 26.4 per cent are rented. 83.5 per cent of our 
residents live in a house or bungalow, compared with 15.9 per cent who live in 
a flat, maisonette or apartment. 

 

• Married couple households are the most common single household type (48.9 
per cent) in Kent overall. The ‘traditional family’ household structure of a 
married couple with dependent children make up only 18.8 per cent of all Kent 
households.  

 

• The majority of the population in the Kent County Council Area is of Christian 
religion (75.13 per cent). The next largest religious group is Sikh with 0.6 per 
cent. 14.9 per cent state that they have no religion. 

 

• Sevenoaks District has the greatest concentration of Christians (77.0 per cent 
of the population state this as their religion), whilst Gravesham Borough has 
the largest concentration of people of Sikh religion with 6.7 per cent compared 
to only 0.6 per cent for the Kent County Council Area as a whole. 

 

• 65 per cent (728,664) of Kent’s resident working age population is employed. 
Of these, 603,835 work in the county, and around 17 per cent (124,829) work 
outside. Kent attracts an additional 50,542 people into the county to work.  

 

• Overall, just over 61 per cent of residents in the Kent County Council Area 
aged 16 and over are ‘economically active’. 

 

• In the county as a whole, the percentage of those aged 16-74 in full-time 
employment is highest in Dartford, followed by Medway Unitary Authority, 
Maidstone and Tonbridge and Malling. These four areas are above the South 
East regional average. 

 

• There is a greater percentage of people employed in the construction, health, 
finance and agricultural sectors in the Kent County Council Area, compared to 
the national average. However, there is a lower proportion of managerial and 
senior officials than in the South East as a whole. 

 

• Car ownership is higher in Kent than in the rest of England and has also grown 
marginally faster than the national average. 

                                            
2
 Kent Adult Social Services, management data April 2007 

Page 40



 

Community cohesion in Kent  
 
What is community cohesion? 
 
The links between equality and community cohesion are well documented. 
Tensions, insecurity and conflict in the community are all more likely to occur 
where there are serious inequalities. Difficulties arise when groups of people 
experience things like poverty, poor housing or access to education and other 
opportunities, which make them feel insecure. Communities can then blame one 
another for their difficulties. Blame can often fall upon minority groups in the 
community - whether these are from culturally different communities, or from 
groups whose values and behaviour appear to be different.  
 
The general definition of community cohesion is ‘a state of well-being that affects 
the harmony and stability of a given geographical community'.3 4 On a practical 
level, community cohesion is about recognising local risk factors for tension or 
misunderstanding between communities, and managing these dynamic 
relationships effectively.  Community cohesion is strongest when people have the 
opportunity, the resources and the motivation to participate in society as fully as 
they wish and on an equal basis with others.  
 
Starting from a position of strength 
 
Kent did not suffer from the deep polarisations and hostilities that were the root 
cause of the urban riots in many northern towns and cities in the summer of 2001. 
The county’s distinct geographical and cultural communities each have their own 
unique identity and character, and for the most part, live in harmony with one 
another. This is a strong indicator of cohesion within the area. 
 
However, the county has a number of characteristics which could represent 
potential tension points. For instance, the location of the major port of Dover in the 
East of Kent, an area of relative deprivation in the South East, has meant that in 
previous years the Council has had to accommodate large numbers of asylum 
seekers. Historically, this has exacerbated some community tensions. Although 
tensions were managed effectively and have eased, new trends are emerging such 
as an increase in migrant workers entering the county from the new accession 
countries5, many of whom are employed in low-wage jobs in agriculture. 
 

                                            
3
 Jointly agreed by the Home Office, the Local Government Association and the Commission for Racial 

Equality. 
4 
For further information see: The Report of the Independent Review Team Chaired by Ted Cantle, 2001; 

Building Cohesive Communities: Community Cohesion Education Standards for Schools, 2002; A Report of 
the Ministerial Group on Public Order, 2001; Report of the Community Cohesion Panel, July 2004; Community 
Cohesion: An Action Guide, November 2004 ; Building a Picture of Community Cohesion: December 2004, 
 

5 ‘Refers to the eight countries that joined the European Union in 2004: 

• Poland  • Czech Republic 

• Lithuania  • Hungary  

• Latvia  • Slovenia  

• Estonia • Slovakia 

 

Page 41



 

In addition, much of Kent’s Black and Minority Ethnic population is geographically 
concentrated in two distinct areas, and communities of relative affluence exist 
alongside pockets of deprivation such as in Thanet District and Swale Borough. 
This means that there may be groups of people in Kent, such as people who are 
new to the borough, travellers, unemployed people, and people on low incomes, 
who may not enjoy a strong sense of belonging.  
 
Addressing potential issues 
 
Local issues and trends change all the time, and are influenced by a whole range 
of factors, many of which are outside the Council’s control. Work is therefore 
ongoing to map trends effectively so that we can target activity appropriately. 
Currently, the Council’s focus is on the following key areas: 
 

• Developing local relationships 

• Through our Supporting Independence Programme, tackling the root causes of 
inequality and making a real difference to the lives of people living in Kent's 
most disadvantaged communities  

• Partnership working and intelligence sharing 

• Using consultation and involvement to achieve shared outcomes for 
communities 

• Regeneration 

• Placing schools and education at the heart of the agenda 

• Using culture and the arts to ‘build bridges’  

• Myth busting. 
 
This activity is summarised below. 
 
Developing local relationships 

 
The development of local relationships is a vital way in which to maintain and 
enhance community cohesion. The County Council plays a key role in 
demonstrating a positive and responsive presence in the community, and 
supporting local relationships.  This includes activity such as a recent goodwill visit 
undertaken by the Chairman of Kent County Council, the High Sheriff of Kent, and 
the Mayor of Gravesham, to Buddhist, Muslim and Sikh faith groups in Gravesham. 
 
Supporting Independence Programme 
 
The Council’s nationally recognised Supporting Independence Programme aims to 
make a real difference to the lives of people living in Kent's most disadvantaged or 
isolated communities. Working with partners from across the public and voluntary 
sectors, it seeks to help a diverse range of people to lift themselves out of 
dependency and into independence, employment and more fulfilling lives: 
 
• School leavers with low educational attainment  
• Adult and young offenders  
• Young people in care or leaving care  
• Lone and teenage parents  

Page 42



 

• People lacking basic life and social skills and who lack basic literacy or 
numeracy skills  

• People with alcohol and/or substance addictions  
• People with health problems, learning or physical disabilities or who are 

applying for low-level, long-term incapacity benefit  
• Transient or seasonal groups, including refugees, asylum seekers and the 

homeless  
• The long-term unemployed  
• Vulnerable older people aged 75 plus. 
 

For more information on the Supporting Independence Programme please contact: 
Telephone: 01622 696932 

Email: sip@kent.gov.uk 
Textphone: 08458 247905 

 
Partnership working and intelligence sharing 
 
Following a sharp increase in the number of asylum seekers coming into Dover in 
the mid 90s, the Council established a strategic partnership of local organisations 
to share intelligence and identify appropriate ways in which to address emerging 
tensions in the neighbouring community. The partnership included the County 
Council, Health, Kent Police, voluntary organisations and Immigration.  
 
Outcomes of the partnership included regular drop-in surgeries across the areas 
most affected and the establishment of a centre in Thanet where asylum seekers 
and local residents could seek advice on a range of issues from childcare to job 
seeking. It also included the development of the ‘Friendship Project’, which sought 
to teach children in primary school about different cultures, and the reasons why 
some people have to flee persecution. Members of the partnership support 
activities during national ‘refugee week’, such as a multi-cultural festival in Dover, 
and a football tournament.  
 
Using consultation and involvement to achieve shared outcomes 
 
Enabling diverse communities to participate in local decision making is a key facet 
of cohesion. Improvements in local facilities, for example, new play areas, new 
schools or other local developments, are very important in making people feel good 
about where they live. The actual process of getting these started and making 
them happen, through local consultation and involvement, often provides the 
‘cement’ that is needed to bring communities together, build positive local identities 
and strengthen the capacity of communities to help themselves.   
 
Initiatives such as this include a project delivered by the Library service, called 
‘Words Without Frontiers’, which worked with a variety of diverse communities to 
source books and other materials in relevant languages. The scheme also 
developed a highly successful temporary library ticket to enable asylum seekers 
and the homeless to access library services.  In Dartford, courses and information 
sessions at the Town Centre Library are available at weekend times, to address 
need in the local Black community. In Maidstone, courses have been held at the 

Page 43



 

Maidstone Mosque and family learning events at traveller sites, especially in 
Swanley and Edenbridge. 
 
Bringing communities together through regeneration 
 
Regeneration programmes, planning and urban design all have a vital role to play 
in addressing cohesion and integration, and can be key in facilitating interaction 
between different groups. The Council works in partnership with key stakeholders 
in the county to promote cohesion and social inclusion through economic 
prosperity for all.  Activity is focused in a number of identified ‘growth areas’ and 
areas of economic deprivation in East and Rural Kent.   
 
The backbone of regeneration activity is the promotion of ‘mixed’ developments 
with affordable housing, to ensure that housing provision reflects the needs of local 
communities. Developers are also encouraged to adopt design measures that help 
contribute to crime reduction, reduce physical isolation and encourage social 
inclusion.  Other activity includes: 
 

• The Kent Rural Delivery Framework targets actions at older people, young 
people, women and ethnic minorities to encourage entrepreneurship and 
community engagement  

• The URBAN project provides training and supports independence in deprived 
communities in North Kent in Gravesend and Dartford. 

• The Trading-Up project engages deprived communities. 

• The Enterprise Gateways project provides start-up advice to entrepreneurs in 
deprived communities. 

• The Empty Homes initiative looks at new and innovative ways to bring back 
into use homes that have been empty for longer than six months.   

 
Placing schools and education at the heart of the agenda 
 
As the hub of the community, schools play a key role in supporting community 
cohesion. They create numerous opportunities for people from a range of ages and 
backgrounds to meet, exchange ideas and learn life skills together in a positive 
environment.  
 
Within the curriculum, schools have the opportunity to address issues around 
stereotyping, discrimination and similar themes through personal, social and health 
education (PSHE), Citizenship and Religious education. The recently developed 
Kent Agreed Syllabus for religious education contains important guidance on this 
aspect for schools, and the role that different subjects have in challenging attitudes 
and behaviours. There are specific opportunities within the Syllabus to encourage 
learning about different faiths and cultures, particularly any religious groups which 
have local significance.  Other activities include: 
 

• The ‘Creative partnerships Kent’ project works with schools to develop a whole 
range of creative approaches to the curriculum, including cultural and religious 
celebrations. The Kent Standing Advisory Council on Religious Education 
(SACRE) is working with the Minority Communities Achievement Service 

Page 44



 

(MCAS) to provide a portable ‘multi-faith place of worship’ which will bring 
places of worship of different faiths to local schools.  

 

• Schools coordinate a variety of events throughout the year to enable pupils to 
learn about history, such as Black History Month.  

 

• The Council has produced detailed guidance to schools to assist with the 
development of anti-racist and anti-bullying policies, and has appointed an Anti-
Bullying Co-ordinator to co-ordinate this work. In addition, the Council recently 
developed guidance for schools to address issues around homophobic bullying. 
Schools are shortly to be invited to participate in a pilot project, where clusters 
of schools will be designated a “Safe Cluster” if they meet agreed criteria in 
recognition of their work to tackle bullying. 

 
Using culture and the arts to ‘build bridges’  

 
Cultural and artistic programmes provide numerous opportunities to bring 
communities together, and foster a sense of community pride. Multi-cultural 
festivals have a particular role to play, providing opportunities to celebrate the 
richness and value of local cultures, faiths and races. They promote a wider 
understanding of the contribution made by all to the whole area, and provide 
enjoyable opportunities to get to know and celebrate different ways of living.  
 
The Council works in partnership with stakeholders across the county to coordinate 
a broad range of activities each year,  such as ‘Black History Month’, Refugee 
week, Diwali, the Hindu festival of lights, and other important milestones such as 
the anniversary of the establishment of Virginia (USA), and the 200th anniversary of 
the Abolition of Slavery Act. The County Council will also use the location of the 
Tour de France in Kent and the Olympic Games in London as opportunities to 
develop inter-cultural, social, economic and curricular activities. 
 
Myth busting 

 
The Council’s award winning Gypsy and Traveller Unit engages with residents of 
the Council’s eight Gypsy and Traveller caravan sites and those of neighbouring 
communities to address tensions and facilitate relationships. The Unit also works 
with the local media to inform the public on Gypsy and Traveller matters and to 
‘myth bust’ common misconceptions.   
 

For more information on the Council’s Gypsy and Traveller Unit please contact: 
 

Telephone: 0845 345 0210 
Email: gypsy.liaison@kent.gov.uk 

Textphone: 08458 247905 

 

Page 45



 

5. What shapes services in Kent? 
 
Legal and national priorities 
 
Over the last three years a wide range of important legislation has been 
introduced, to promote equality and tackle unfair discrimination. This was partly in 
response to a number of incidents which highlighted the prevalence of 
institutionalized inequality in Britain – for instance, the Stephen Lawrence inquiry, 
and the urban riots of 2001.  As part of this reform, six key documents were 
published, which set out the framework for change and the implications for councils 
like Kent County Council: 
 

• The Equal Pay Act 1970 says women must be paid the same as men when 
they are doing work of equal value and vice-versa. 

 

• The Sex Discrimination Act 1975 makes it unlawful to discriminate on the 
grounds of sex, in employment, education, advertising or when providing 
housing, goods, services or facilities.  

 

• The Race Relations Act (RRA) 1976 (as amended 2000, 2003), makes it 
unlawful to discriminate on grounds of colour, race, nationality, ethnic or 
national origin. 
 

• The Disability Discrimination Act (DDA) 1995 (as amended 2003 and 2005) 
makes it unlawful to discriminate on grounds of disability. 
 

• The Employment Equality (Religion or Belief) Regulations 2003, and the 
Employment Equality (Sexual Orientation) Regulations 2003 make it 
unlawful to discriminate on grounds of religion or religious belief, or sexual 
orientation. 
 

• The Human Rights Act 1998 gives greater effect to rights and freedoms 
guaranteed under the European Convention on Human Rights. 
 

• The Employment Equality (Age) Regulations 2006 and the make it unlawful 
to discriminate on grounds of age. 
 

• The Equality Act 2006 makes provision for the establishment of the 
Commission for Equality and Human Rights (which will start its work in 2007), 
merging the Equal Opportunities Commission, the Commission for Racial 
Equality and the Disability Rights Commission, and covering the new strands 
of discrimination law - religion, sexual orientation and age. 

 

In addition, the recent independent Equalities Review commissioned by the 
Government has undertaken a comprehensive analysis of the causes of persistent 
discrimination and inequality in Britain. This activity will be further informed by the 
ongoing Discrimination Law Review (DLR), which is aiming to create a simpler, 
fairer legal framework for equalities.  

Page 46



 

Kent County Council’s key strategic documents 
 
‘Towards 2010’, produced by Kent County Council, provides the strategic 
framework for the Equality Strategy. Towards 2010 is Kent’s key document, which 
sets out a vision for the future of the county and the main challenges that we need 
to address along the way. A number of other important plans, strategies and 
initiatives also help to achieve our vision for Kent. These include: 
 

• Our Equality and Diversity Policy Statement, which sets out the Council’s 
overall aim to promote equality, value diversity and combat unfair treatment.  

• The Community Strategy, the Vision for Kent, details how the County Council 
will work with key partners in Kent to improve the economic, environmental and 
social wellbeing of the county over the next 20 years. 

• The Council’s Consultation Strategy ensures that diverse groups such as 
young people, refugees and asylum seekers and Gypsies and Travellers are 
not forgotten.  

• The Kent Children and Young People’s Plan, explains how the Council will 
work with other key partners in the county to improve the lives of children and 
young people. 

• The Kent Anti-Bullying Strategy, sets out how the Council and other key 
agencies will tackle bullying, and make the lives of children and young people 
safer and happier. 

• The Kent Youth Justice Plan explains how the statutory youth offending 
partnership agencies (Social Services, Health, Education, Police and 
Probation) will work together to prevent offending by children and young 
people. 

• The Kent Local Area Agreement was agreed by partners to improve sexual 
health and reduce teenage pregnancy in the county. 

• The Kent Crime and Disorder Strategy explains how the key agencies in 
Kent will work with individuals and communities to make the county a safe 
place to live, work and visit. 

• The Kent Rural Delivery Framework establishes clear regional rural priorities 
and effective and targeted delivery mechanisms for services across the county. 

 
The views and involvement of local people  
 
We have an excellent history of consulting local residents about a wide variety of 
issues, and provide a range of opportunities for local people to get involved with 
service planning and development. This includes a Residents’ Panel, and 
numerous working groups supported by different Directorates, such as discussion 
forums with disabled people, and a traveller liaison group. In addition, there is a 
network of 12 Local Boards across Kent, attended by Councillors and covering 
each district council area. Local boards provide a regular forum for community 
debate and consultation on local issues and services. 
 
The Council also works with the North-West Kent Racial Equality Council and the 
Kent-wide Black and Minority Ethnic Consultation Network. 
 

Page 47



 

Up-to-date information about the policies and services we are consulting on is 
always available on our website www.kent.gov.uk to make it easier for everyone to 
make their views known.  
 

If you would like to have your say on services in Kent, please contact Corporate 
Diversity Team on:  

 

 Email: diversityinfo@kent.gov.uk  
Telephone: 01622 221163 
Textphone: 08458 247905 

Page 48



 

6. How we deliver equality in Kent 
 

How Kent County Council is structured 
 
Kent County Council has 84 elected councillors who each have a dual role, 
attending to countywide concerns as well as to the needs and interests of 
constituents. The County Council is led by the Council Leader and his Cabinet, 
who make key decisions about policy and budget. The Chief Executive and his 
team of officers are responsible for the day-to-day running of the Council.  The 
Council is divided into five ‘directorates’, each of which is responsible for a 
particular area of council activity.  
 
The County Council works closely with 12 district councils, one unitary authority 
(Medway Council) and more than 300 town and parish councils to deliver services 
to the people of Kent. The County Council manages schools, social services, 
strategic planning issues, highways, refuse and waste disposal sites, museums 
and libraries. District Councils manage services such as town planning, 
environmental health, housing, benefits, council tax collection, refuse collection 
and leisure facilities. Parish and town councils represent the most local level of 
government, and are independent but work closely with both the County and 
district councils. 
 

The Council’s Corporate Diversity Team 

Although everyone in the Council has a responsibility to promote equality and 
tackle unfair discrimination, the Council has a central Corporate Diversity Team in 
place to support this activity and take the lead on key equalities issues. The Team 
has five main roles: 
 

• Supporting and embedding equality across all council services and 
employment 

• Ensuring the Council addresses the particular needs of the different 
communities of the county.  

• Breaking down barriers of age, disability, faith, gender, language, race and 
sexuality.  

• Co-coordinating and contributing to the Council's work to promote community 
cohesion and ensuring local people from diverse groups are involved in 
planning and decision making. 

• Coordinating research and information to ensure the Council can address the 
needs of the diverse communities of the county. 

 
A number of teams across the Council provide services to deal with particular 
vulnerable groups, such as Travelers and Gypsies, and Asylum and Immigration. A 
full list of all County Council services is provided at Appendix C. 

Page 49



 

Delivering equalities across the Council 
 
The Cabinet has collective Member responsibility to ensure that equality is 
successfully applied across all Council services and within the organisation as an 
employer. A Cabinet Member holds the Portfolio for Equality and Diversity. 
 
The County Council’s Strategic Equalities Group (SEG) is represented by cross-
party Members and senior lead officers from every Directorate, and is responsible 
for agreeing the overall direction of travel on equalities, and policy development. It 
is supported by the Equalities Lead Officer Group (ELOG), which consists of 
Directorate lead officers, staff group representatives, diversity specialists and trade 
unions. ELOG is responsible for day-to-day issues and implementation.  
 
In addition, each Directorate has its own equality group, which produces an annual 
action plan. 
 
Work on equalities is supported across all five Directorates by the presence of 48 
‘equality champions’. Equality champions are officers who volunteer to ‘champion’ 
a particular area of equalities, to raise its profile and encourage good practice. 
 
Figure 1 below sets out how all the various groups link together. 

 

 

Strategic Equalities Group 
(SEG) 

Role: Strategy and policy 

Specific working 
groups 

 

• Equality Standard 
for Local  
Government 
Steering Group  

• Diversity Training 
Group 

Equalities Lead Officer 
Group (ELOG) 

 

Role: Implementation  

 

Directorate Equality Groups 
 

Role: Directorate issues 
 

Staff groups 
 

• Level Playing 
Field (Disability) 

• Rainbow 
(Lesbian, gay, 
bisexual, 
transgender)  

• UNITE (Race) 

 

 

Cabinet 

Unions 
 

• Unison 

• GMB 

 

Equality champions  

Table 1:  
 

Structure chart – 
equalities in Kent 
County Council 

Page 50



 

Work on the Equality Standard for Local Government 

 
The Equality Standard for Local Government is a tool for local authorities like Kent 
County Council to mainstream equality across service areas and into every-day 
practice. It: 
 

• Helps authorities to meet their obligations under the law 

• Integrates equality objectives with Best Value 

• Encourages the development of anti-discriminatory practice appropriate to local 
circumstances 

• Provides a basis for addressing all forms of institutionalised discrimination 

• Provides a clear framework for auditing progress and achievement 

• Over time, provides a framework for improving performance. 

 
The Equality Standard specifies five varying levels of achievement which cover all 
aspects of policy-making, service delivery and employment. The County Council is 
currently at Level 2 and is on target to reach level 3 by March 2008. 
 
As part of our work to achieve Level 3 of the Standard we are assessing all our 
policies, procedures and practices to ensure that they are easily accessible by 
everyone. This work is described in more detail on page 48. 

 
Equality in employment 
 
Kent County Council is a major employer of over 44,000 people, and is committed 
to promoting equality, valuing diversity and combating unfair treatment. Our work 
on employment good practice extends across all areas of equalities, and is 
nationally recognised: 
 

• We were one of the first councils in the country to conduct an equal pay review 

• The Council has been accredited as a Two Ticks (Positive about Disabled 
People) Employer every year since 2002 

• In February 2006 we were featured in the Employers Forum on Disability (EFD) 
news for its good practice recruitment guide. 

• In September 2006, we were short-listed for Remploy’s ‘Leading the Way’ 
award in recognition of our employment of disabled people. 

• We are ranked 37th out of the 100 best employers in the country for Lesbian 
and Gay staff, by independent group Stonewall, joining an elite group of 
organisations that includes blue chip FTSE 100 companies and government 
departments. 

• Our Supported Employment Team within Kent Adult Social Services has 
worked with approximately 1000 people over the last three years, moving 250 
individuals to paid employment. 

• Formal Partnership working arrangements have been in place since 2003 with 
Kent Association for the Blind, Royal British Legion Industries, Blackthorn Trust, 
Action for Blind People, Jobcentre plus, Shaw Trust, Remploy. 

 
The Council supports three active staff groups on Disability (Level Playing Field), 
Race (Unite) and Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender issues (Rainbow). Staff 

Page 51



 

groups help us ensure that employment practice values and supports employees 
from diverse groups.   
 
We also use expert advisory services, such as the Employers Forum on Disability 
of which we have been a member since 2002. We are involved in on-going work to 
increase the accessibility of employment opportunities for diverse groups, for 
example inviting disabled employees to test new software for accessibility.  
 
Managing our performance on equality as an employer 
 
The Council undertakes a range of activities to promote equality in the workforce 
and tackle unfair discrimination. This includes regularly monitoring employee data 
and delivering a comprehensive training programme. For instance: 
 

• Training: We have now delivered Year 2 of our Council-wide ‘Diversity In 
Action’ training programme for staff and managers, held at various locations 
across the county. Specialised training is available for employees who are 
involved in the recruitment and selection process. Equality Impact Assessment 
Training has also taken place across all Directorates, incorporating both 
bespoke and general sessions. We maintain a brochure of Equality and 
Diversity training courses, and update Knet and Clusterweb online sites 
monthly, to reflect the training available.  

• We analyse the number of employees receiving training by disability, gender 
and race. The Council’s diversity training group prioritises identified training 
need, and produces an annual diversity training programme.  

• Awareness raising: Monthly themed Equality and Diversity Training 
‘Extramails’ are sent out globally via email to employees, to raise awareness 
about specific issues, and promote opportunities for further learning. Our Kent 
Adult Social Services Directorate is currently piloting ‘Recruitability’ 
Workshops, which are lunch time sessions for Mangers across Kent, focusing 
on the recruitment and retention of disabled people. They are also offering 
‘drop in’ sessions for staff to raise awareness about accessibility for Deaf 
people. 

• Recruitment: We analyse applications for employment by disability, gender 
and race on a monthly basis across all Directorates. This covers applications, 
short-listing and positions offered. The Council has a detailed and challenging 
action plan, developed with our equality champions and staff groups, to 
support the recruitment and retention of target groups.  

• Retention: We analyse data about staff leaving the Council by disability, 
gender and race. All staff leaving our employment are offered ‘exit interviews’, 
which provide an opportunity to discuss in confidence what it is like to work for 
the County Council. Our Redeployment Forum meets regularly to ensure 
disabled redeployees are given appropriate support, such as improving access 
to appropriate equipment or software. 

• Appraisal and reward and Grievance and disciplinary processes are 
monitored on an ongoing basis to ensure that all systems are fair, objective, 
and free from bias and stereotyping. Our appraisal process explores issues in 
relation to disability, gender and race and looks at whether any reasonable 
adjustments may be necessary to help an individual to do their job effectively, 

Page 52



 

and achieve their full potential. Our Environment & Regeneration Directorate is 
currently piloting equality as part of its ‘Ways to Success’ appraisal process.  

• Staff in post and our ‘top 5% earners’: The numbers of staff in post and the 
number of staff earning the top 5% of salaries in the Council are analysed by 
disability, gender and race. This information is also reported within our overall 
Best Value Performance Indicators. 

 
Equality in education and schools 
 
Schools have a number of duties under legislation relating to equality, in relation to 
age, disability, gender, faith, race and sexual orientation. As a local education 
authority, the County Council is responsible for monitoring the performance and 
statistics of schools, and helping them to meet the requirements of the Act. The 
main duties of schools include: 
 
Disability equality in schools 
 
Schools are required to have regard to the need to:  
 

• Promote equality of opportunity between disabled and other people;  

• Eliminate unfair discrimination and harassment; promote positive attitudes to 
disabled people;  

• Encourage participation by disabled people in public life; and  

• Take steps to meet disabled people’s needs, even if this requires more 
favourable treatment; 

• Secondary schools are required to publish a Disability Equality Scheme (this 
requirement came into force in December 2006), and primary and special 
schools must have one in place by December 2007.  

 
Gender equality in schools 
 
From April 2007, schools have a duty to promote equality of opportunity between 
men and women (including boys and girls), and to publish a Gender Equality 
Scheme showing how the school intends to fulfil its duties. Schools must revise 
and review the plan every three years and report on progress annually.  
 
Race equality in schools 
 

Schools are under a duty to promote equality of opportunity and good relations 
between persons of a different race and nationality. They are required to have in 
place a written race equality policy. They also have a duty to assess and monitor 
the impact of policies on pupils, staff and parents, in particular the attainment levels 
of pupils from different racial groups. Ofsted, the official body for inspecting 
schools, inspects and reports on whether schools are meeting their duties.  

All schools and educational establishments are required to record racist incidents 
and to report them to the local authority on a regular basis. 

Page 53



 

7. Making equality part of 
 everything we do 

 

How we communicate with our diverse communities 
 
Effective communication is an essential part of our day-to-day business. It is 
particularly important to get communication right when engaging with diverse 
communities, because inaccessible or inadequate information is a major factor in 
exclusion. It prevents people from making informed choices about the important 
matters in their lives.  
 
Effective communication is also crucial to community cohesion, because it enables 
strong relationships to be maintained with groups working within the community. 
This enables issues to be addressed as they arise, and demonstrates that the 
Council understands and values the contribution of different communities. 
 
The Council employs a range of communication methods designed to address a 
wide variety of access issues.  These are summarised below. 
 
Accessible formats and technologies 

 
Each of our publications and the web pages on which they can be found give 
details of how to request information in alternative formats or languages. This 
includes formats such as audiotape or CD, in Braille and large print, and as 
computer files in accessible electronic formats. Information can also be made 
available in easy-to-read formats for people with learning difficulties or poor literacy 
skills. 
  
Our Contact Centre keeps a list of staff who speak different languages fluently for 
‘on-the-spot’ interpretation requirements, and where this is not available ‘language 
line’ is used which provides direct telephone access to interpreters and enables 
three way conversations to take place in emergency situations.  
 
We are currently engaged in a range of initiatives to enhance how we 
communicate as a Council: 
 

• We are setting up a new service to provide consistent, high quality language 
interpretation for our service users and staff. A pilot project has been undertaken 
in our Asylum and Migration unit and we intend to make the new service 
available to the whole organisation by the summer of 2007. 

• A new website content management system has been established, to help make 
our websites and intranet more accessible and usable for disabled people.  We 
are also investigating effective ways of making our web-based information more 
accessible in languages other than English. 

• Guidelines have been produced for staff to enable them to understand how to 
communicate well with our service users and colleagues.  These show how to 

Page 54



 

respond to requests for information in formats other than standard print and 
languages besides English. 

• Textphone services are available to enable Deaf, deafblind, hard of hearing and 
speech-impaired people to communicate easily with us. 

• Our Sensory Disabilities Unit is working to ensure that a consistent and 
excellent service can be provided to Deaf people who may need speech-to-text 
reporting or British Sign Language interpreting. 

 

How we deal with complaints  
 
Kent County Council treats all complaints of unfair discrimination or harassment 
very seriously.  Unfair discrimination on the grounds of age, disability, gender, faith, 
race (direct or indirect), sexual orientation, or harassment, victimisation or abuse of 
any kind is a serious disciplinary offence for employees.  
 
If you believe that you have been affected by a failure of the Council to comply with 
equality legislation you should tell us. Even in the best run organisations there can 
be times when things go wrong and you are not happy with the service you 
receive. If this happens then please let us know so that we can try to put things 
right for you.  
 
If you do have cause for complaint: 
 
As an employee: 
 
Employees who feel they are being discriminated against because of their 
background or circumstances by other employees should raise the matter under 
the Council’s Grievance/Complaints Procedure. If, in the course of their work, 
employees suffer abuse or harassment from members of the public, the Council 
will take appropriate action. 
 
As a member of the public: 
 

• Please start by telling the person you have been dealing with at the Council. 
Most problems can be resolved this way.  

 

• If you feel you need to pursue your complaint further, then please contact the 
director of the service you have been dealing with. It will help us to deal with 
your complaint speedily if you write ‘Complaint’ in the top left corner of the 
envelope. The addresses of our directorates are on the back of this leaflet, but 
if you are in any doubt about where to write to, please address your complaint 
to the Chief Executive and a member of his staff will forward it to the right 
person. 

 

• If you phone or visit one of our offices with your complaint, our staff will try to 
help you by answering your query or taking down details so that it can be 
investigated. They will telephone or write to you to tell you the outcome of the 
investigation as soon as they can. 

 

Page 55



 

• If you put your complaint in a letter or e-mail, you can expect to receive an 
acknowledgement within one week and a full reply normally within four weeks. 
If your complaint raises complex issues that cannot be answered within four 
weeks, we will keep you informed of progress at four-weekly intervals until we 
are able to respond fully to your complaint. 

 

• If you are not satisfied with the director’s response you should send full details 
of your complaint to the chief executive, at the address on the back of this 
leaflet, and ask him to look into it. 

 

• A member of the chief executive’s staff will try to resolve the matter to your 
satisfaction. You can again expect to receive an acknowledgement within one 
week of the chief executive receiving your letter or e-mail and a full reply 
normally within four weeks. 

 

• Your local county councillor may be able to help resolve your complaint by 
pursuing it on your behalf with the director concerned or with the chief 
executive. You can find out the name and address of the county councillor for 
your area by telephoning our Contact Centre on 08458 247247 or logging on to 
our website (www.kent.gov.uk) and going to the “Your Council” section. 

 

• If you are still not satisfied after all these steps have been taken, there are two 
ways you can take your complaint forward depending on whether your 
complaint is about a Council service, or about the Council’s response to a 
request you have made for information under the Data Protection Act 1998, the 
Freedom of Information Act 2000, or the Environmental Information Regulations 
2004. 

 

• If your complaint is about a Kent County Council service, you have the right to 
take it to the Local Government Ombudsman. The Local Government 
Ombudsman is an independent and impartial person, appointed by central 
government to investigate complaints of maladministration by local authorities. 
A leaflet explaining how to complain to the Local Government Ombudsman is 
available direct from the Ombudsman’s office (contact the Ombudsman’s 
Advice-line on 0845 602 1983 or visit the website: www.lgo.org.uk). 

 
Promoting equality through partnerships 
 
Kent County Council works with a wide variety of partners and stakeholders such 
as Kent Police, Health and local businesses, in order to improve quality of life for 
local people. Partnerships vary enormously in size and remit, but one of the most 
important is the countywide Kent Partnership, which is responsible for overseeing 
Kent's community strategy, the Vision for Kent. The Partnership is made up of 
representatives from the private, public, voluntary and community sectors and has 
a key role in encouraging community leadership, supporting new initiatives and 
helping to ensure the effective delivery of services.  
 
The Partnership is involved with a number of important pieces of work to promote 
greater equality in the county, such as the Kent Compact. The Compact aims to 

Page 56



 

create a new approach to partnership between the County Council and the 
voluntary and community sector. In addition to establishing a robust framework of 
engagement, the Compact ensures via monitoring and analysis that local 
organisations have fair and equal access to Kent County Council funding streams. 
It also ensures that where possible organisations are supported to acquire funding 
to build capacity and prepare and deliver projects. In addition, the Compact 
requires all partnership bids to Kent County Council funding streams to 
demonstrate, where appropriate, that meaningful consultation with and involvement 
of relevant access groups and organisations working with diverse groups has 
occurred. 
 
In addition to this activity, Kent County Council and 12 district councils have signed 
a new commitment to improve services and achieve significant savings for the 
people of Kent, through an innovative local agreement known as the ‘Kent 
Commitment’. The agreement targets five major areas for further improvement, all 
of which have strong links to the equality agenda.  

 
Other important partnership activity includes: 
 

• The County Council co-leads a good practice Equality Partnership Group with 
Kent Police. The group is open to all public authorities within Kent, and includes 
Medway Council, Kent Fire and Rescue service, Kent Strategic Health 
Authorities and most of the borough councils within the county. 

• The successful partnership between Kent County Council, Churches in Society 
(CIS) and Medway Council, the Critical Incident Chaplains (CIC) training 
programme, is now into its third year with nearly 100 chaplains.  The chaplains 
support the emergency services, local authorities, health services and voluntary 
sector as well as the wider community in the event of a major emergency.  This 
programme was recently expanded to include a wide range of faiths and 
cultures, and an introductory event is planned for February 2008. 

 
Stretching our performance through partnerships 
 
Partners represented on the Kent Strategic Partnership have signed up to a Local 
Area Agreement (LAA) improve sexual health and reduce teenage pregnancy in 
the county. Reducing teenage pregnancy is a key factor in preventing health 
inequalities, child poverty and social exclusion. Girls from the poorest 
backgrounds are ten times more likely to become teenage mothers than girls from 
professional backgrounds. Infant mortality rates for babies born to mothers under 
the age of 18 are twice the average, and are at high risk of growing up in poverty 
and experiencing poor health and social outcomes.6 
 

An LAA is a formal agreement between the Council, local partners and central 
Government, setting out challenging outcomes and targets over a three-year 
period. What is new about this way of working is that it moves away from a ‘one 
size fits all’ national approach to making improvements, to one where priorities and 
targets are decided locally. This allows us to target resources wherever they are 
needed most.  

                                            
6
 Department of Health, March 2007 

Page 57



 

 
Promoting equality through procurement 
 
The County Council sometimes pays other organisations to provide services, such 
as social care and youth services, in order to deliver the highest quality, most cost-
effective services for the people of Kent. This is generally known as ‘procurement’. 
Before the contract is awarded, the Council assesses the potential contractor’s 
approach to equality, which includes looking at their commitment to providing 
accessible goods and services, taking into account advice and guidance produced 
by the Disability Rights Commission, the Commission for Race Equality, the Equal 
Opportunities Commission and the new Commission for Equality and Human 
Rights (CEHR). Although the contractor supplying the service is responsible for 
complying with relevant legislation on equality, the Council is responsible for 
monitoring the contract. 
 
Under earlier legislation7 the law limited the questions we could ask potential 
providers. Since then, certain aspects of the law have been repealed, which means 
that we can now ask potential contractors additional questions to assess their 
attitude and approach to equalities. Exploring how best to do this is a key action in 
our action plan and cuts across all areas of equality.  This also includes ensuring 
that diverse businesses and voluntary organisations have equal access to Council 
contracts. 
 
All our services are subject to Best Value Review on a rolling programme, including 
those that are outsourced. As a result all our services are subject to an equalities 
assessment at regular intervals, regardless of who provides them. 

                                            
7
 Local Government Act 1988 

Page 58



 

8.  Our five priority outcomes 
 
Five key priority outcomes have been identified based on local data and evidence, 
the views of diverse groups and information about our performance. They describe 
our overall ambitions for equality, and provide a framework for delivering and 
managing all our services: 
 

• Equal and inclusive services and information for all, regardless of age, 
disability, gender, faith, race or sexual orientation. 

 
 

• Creative opportunities for participation and involvement in service planning 
and decision-making.  

 

• Work with our partners to ensure the county’s most vulnerable groups feel safe 
and free from harassment, and can report incidents in the knowledge that 
issues will be handled sensitively and effectively. 

 

• Enhance the quality of our intelligence and monitoring systems, to ensure we 
can target disadvantage in the county where action is most needed and best 
reflects effective use of resources. 

 

• Maintain our reputation as an excellent employer, promoting a culture where 
the Council recruits on merit, diversity is valued, and where employees are 
proactive in anticipating the needs of service users. 

 
Priorities for specific equality strands 
 
Our five priority outcomes are underpinned by a range of specific priorities and 
actions in relation to Age, Disability, Gender, Faith, Race and Sexual Orientation. 
These have been identified for each of the strands as a direct result of evidence 
gathering and user involvement, in order to address specific need, or gaps in 
understanding or service provision.  
 
For details of specific priorities in relation to Disability, Gender and Race equality, 
please see: 
 

• Disability (Page 30) 

• Gender (Page 35) 

• Race: (Page 41) 
 
For details of our priorities more generally as an organisation in relation to other 
equality strands, see our Organisational Action Plan. 

 
 
 

Page 59



 

9. Disability equality in Kent 
 
What do we mean by “Disability”?  
 
The Disability Discrimination Act 1995 defines disability as ‘a physical or mental 
impairment which has a substantial and long-term adverse effect on the ability to 
carry out normal day-to-day activities'. However, many disabled people are 
unhappy with the limitations of this definition, and prefer a definition of disability 
called ‘the Social Model’.  The Social Model of disability suggests that disability 
occurs because of the way society is organized, and that it presents numerous 
barriers which prevent disabled people from being properly involved in community 
life. This includes discriminatory attitudes, inaccessible services and information, 
and physical barriers, such as the design of buildings and public transport. 
 

The legal framework 
 
A clear legal framework underpins our activities in tackling unfair discrimination and 
promoting equality for disabled people. The main legislation includes: 
 

• The Disability Discrimination Act 1995 (DDA), which makes it unlawful to 
treat a disabled person less favourably than others in employment, providing 
services or carrying out public functions. Employers and service providers must 
make ‘reasonable adjustments’ to enable disabled people to access work and 
services. 

 

• The Disability Equality Duty, which came into force on 4 December 2006 is 
an important new duty aimed at promoting disability equality across the public 
sector. All public authorities must: 

 

o Publish a Disability Equality Scheme  
o Involve disabled people in producing the Scheme and action plan  
o Demonstrate that they have achieved outcomes  
o Report on progress  
o Review and revise the Scheme. 
  

• Under the Building Regulations Part M 1992 Act (updated in 2003), new and 
refurbished buildings must meet minimum physical access requirements. 

 

• The Special Educational Needs and Disability Act 2001 strengthens the 
rights of disabled children to access mainstream education and makes 
unjustified disability discrimination unlawful in nursery, primary, secondary, 
further and higher education. It also puts duties on local education authorities 
and schools to review their policies, procedures and practices to make sure that 
they do not discriminate against disabled pupils. 

 

• Other pieces of legislation that affect disabled people, but come from a 
traditional, medical model of disability include: 

 

Page 60



 

o Under the Chronically Sick and Disabled Persons Act 1970, local 
authorities must provide a range of social care services to meet the needs of 
eligible disabled people. 

o  Under the Community Care Act 1990, disabled people have the right to 
have their needs assessed by the local authority and a decision made about 
what services will be provided to them. The disabled person and his or her 
carer must be involved in the assessment. 

 
Disability in Kent 
 
Kent’s population is expanding, particularly in the growth areas of Ashford and 
Kent Thameside. As a result of this, we are seeing substantial year-on-year 
increases in demand for services for disabled people, particularly mental health 
services and services for people with learning difficulties. Some other key facts 
include: 
 

• The number of people with physical impairments accessing County Council 
social services has increased by some 12 per cent over the last five years, 
outstripping population increases. 

 

• Of the 1,369,900 people who live in the geographical area that is known as the 
Kent County Council Area (which covers the whole of the county but does not 
include Medway), 13.1 per cent of the population consider themselves to have 
a long term limiting illness.  Overall, the Council supports more than 30,000 
disabled and older people to continue living in their own homes. 

 

• It is currently estimated that 1 in 100 people in Kent suffer from a severe mental 
illness, but this is rising. By 2010 there are likely to be over 800 additional 
service users, and by 2016 there will be over 1700 extra people known to us 
with a severe mental illness. 

 

• Compared to the South East as a whole, the Kent County Council Area has a 
larger proportion of residents with a limiting long-term illness who say their 
health is ‘not good’. 

 

• According to recent research, it is estimated that over the next fifteen years 
there will be at least a 10 per cent increase in adults with learning disabilities 
known to social services and the estimated ‘true’ number of people with 
learning disabilities in Kent will increase by 15.6 per cent.  

 

• There is expected to be a 25 per cent increase in older people in Kent who live 
alone over the next 20 years, which could contribute to greater social isolation 
and depression. 8 

                                            
8
 Kent Adult Social Services, management data April 2007 

Page 61



 

Disability within the Council 
 
The Council currently employs 199 full time staff who state that they are disabled. 
Of these, 102 are male and 97 are female. 209 part time staff state that they are 
disabled, and of these 52 are male and 157 are female. 
 
The proportion of our top 5% of earners in the Council who consider themselves 
disabled is significantly lower than that of our staff overall.  Of our top 5% earners, 
six men out of 692, and four women out of 746 who work full time declare 
themselves disabled.    
 
Kent County Council monitors existing employees and applicants for jobs, 
promotion and training by disability.  Monitoring by disability is also undertaken on 
grievances, disciplinary action, performance appraisals and employees leaving the 
Council. This is an important way of identifying trends and issues, to enable 
inequalities to be addressed and action taken to remove barriers and promote 
equality of opportunity.  
 

The Council reports statistics and sets new targets annually in relation to the 
following national Best Value Performance Indicators (BVPI’s) which relate to 
disability: 
 

• BVPI 11c – Employees declaring that they meet Disability Discrimination Act 
(DDA) 1995 disability criteria that are in top 5 per cent earners 

• BVPI 16a – Employees declaring that they meet Disability Discrimination Act 
(DDA) 1995 disability criteria. 

 

What have we achieved so far? 
 

We are involved in an extensive range of projects to promote disability equality and 
tackle unfair discrimination. Over the last three years, we have achieved some real 
outcomes. These include: 
 

• Through our Kent Supported Employment team, we are now working in 
partnership with 24 branches of Woolworth's across the county, to improve the 
Company's knowledge of employing and retaining disabled staff.  We will begin 
a programme of work placements of up to six weeks.  It is hoped that, through 
the placement process, some participants will be identified as future employees 
of Woolworth's. 

 

• Work has taken place with both the Police and Health services to improve 
access to interpreters for Deaf people, which includes looking at developing a 
Kent wide interpreting service. The Council has improved access by ensuring 
the Contact Centre is accessible via textphone, the Gateways is purchasing 
video interpreting equipment and accessible information is being provided using 
British Sign Language via DVD and the website.  Work has also taken place to 
develop guidance to ensure that meetings, training and other events are 
accessible to Deaf, deafblind and visually impaired people.   

 

Page 62



 

• We have commissioned a new content management system for our intranet 
and website.  We have built in accessibility testing, which is already leading to 
improvements in accessibility which will benefit all visitors to the 
Council’s website.   

 

• During the past year, the Library service has been working closely with the 
Sevenoaks District Partnership Group of adults with learning difficulties, to 
identify an appropriate range of books, packs and audio visual resources for 
adults with learning difficulties. Cue cards with easy-to-read symbols are being 
produced, to make it easier for those who do not read to make their needs 
known. 

 

• We hosted part of Natural England's diversity review, the ‘By all means’ project, 
aimed at increasing the numbers of disabled people able to access and enjoy 
countryside activities. As a result of this our country parks events programme 
now includes an enhanced range of opportunities for disabled people, and the 
format of the Explore Kent website is being redesigned to make it compatible 
with software used by people with visual impairments. Projects such as the ‘all-
terrain tramper’ at Shorne and two other walks have been researched and 
implemented through close liaison with people with limited mobility.  In addition, 
an ‘easy access’ trail has recently been introduced at the Canterbury 
Environment Centre - providing an accessible, level trail in urban Canterbury. 

 

The challenges 
 
Local issues and trends change all the time, and are influenced by a whole range 
of factors. Although many of these changes are outside the Council’s control, they 
are likely to have a direct impact on life in Kent. These include: 
 

• Disabled people are 29 per cent less likely to be in work than non-disabled 
people with otherwise similar characteristics, such as age, ethnicity, educational 
qualifications and family composition.9 

 

• Young disabled people aged 16 are twice as likely not to be in any form of 
education or training as their non-disabled peers.  This increases to three times 
as likely at age 19.10 

 

• 54 per cent of Bangladeshis and 49 per cent of Pakistanis aged 50 to 64 report 
a limiting long-standing illness, compared to 27 per cent of the general 
population in this age range.  

 

• Over 1.4 million people aged 65 and over currently have severe disabilities or 
care needs. It is predicted that the growing older population will result in a 
dramatic increase in the numbers of people over 65 with chronic illnesses or 
disabilities.11   

 

                                            
9
 Fairness and Freedom: The Final Report of the Equalities Review, 2007 

10
 My School, my family, my life: Telling it like it is”, produced by The University of Birmingham, 

School of Education and commissioned and funded by the Disability Rights Commission. 
11

 Dementia UK”, produced by Alzheimer’s Society, February 2007 

Page 63



 

• An efficient and effective public transport system is key to empowering many 
disabled people to be able to take part fully in society. However, for many 
disabled people who do not have independent access to a car, public transport 
presents an insurmountable number of barriers.12 

 

Our top disability priorities for the next three years  
 

To promote disability equality and tackle unfair discrimination, activity will be 
targeted in a range of priority areas over the next three years: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                            
12

 Disability Rights Commission 2006 

Priority areas for action 
 

• Through equality impact assessments and ongoing involvement with disabled 
people, identify specific objectives and targets across all services, to tackle 
barriers to access and address need. 

 

• Explore opportunities for working jointly with partner agencies to build 
confidence amongst victims of hate crime and signpost to appropriate support.  

 
 

• Future evidence gathering exercises need a more representative sample. A 
longer period of time to respond to involvement surveys; providing surveys in 
more accessible, individualised formats; making sure that support is available 
to help individuals answer questions. Strategic targeting of ethnic minorities 
and people with mental health difficulties must also take place. The views of 
children and their carers (some of whom are also disabled) must also be 
covered. 

 

• The communication needs of all disabled people must be taken into account 
for all areas of life. In particular, the needs of people with sensory impairments 
should be pro-actively considered. 

 

• There are serious inequalities between disabled people as well as between 
disabled and non-disabled people in terms of quality of life issues. In particular, 
people with sensory impairments appear to be the ‘forgotten people’ when it 
comes to appropriate provision of communication support. 

 

• Whilst moves have been made to improve transport there is much to be done. 
Without good, reliable, accessible and appropriate transport, disabled people 
cannot participate in community life and many will continue to feel socially 
isolated. Kent County Council needs to continue to focus activity in relation to 
helping to change this situation. 

 

• Buildings need to be checked over by disabled people. Even better, disabled 
people should be consulted for advice before and during building work. 

 

• Staffing levels need to be flexible enough so that disabled people can socialise 
and participate in leisure and educational activities, particularly at night. 

 

• Disabled people should be consulted before, during, and after decisions have 
been made. The benefit of establishing a Kent Panel on Disability should be 
explored. 

 

• Continue activity to increase the percentage of the top 5% of disabled earners 
in the County Council. 

 

Page 64



 

10. Gender equality in Kent 
 

What do we mean by “Gender”?  
 
The term ‘gender’ refers to the different roles and expectations of men and women 
in society.  Gender roles can be affected by a variety of factors such as education 
or economics, and vary widely within different cultures. 
 
Gender roles and expectations are often identified as factors hindering the equal 
rights and status of men and women, with adverse consequences that affect life, 
family, socioeconomic status and health. For example, although girls generally out-
perform boys in schools, they are 30 per cent less likely to be in work than men 
with otherwise similar characteristics, such as age, ethnicity, educational 
qualifications and family composition.13 Similarly, men are around 25 per cent less 
likely to visit their GP than women, which has implications for their long-term health 
and well-being. For this reason, gender is an important element of planning 
services. 
 

What do we mean by “transgender”?  
 
Gender equality also takes into account the needs and experiences of transgender 
people. There is considerable debate around these definitions within gender 
identity groups, however, the legal definition of the term transsexual refers 
specifically to those people who have undergone, or are undergoing the medical 
process of gender reassignment.  The legal definition of transgender is wider; as 
well as transsexual people, it also includes, for example, those who choose to live 
as members of the opposite sex without intending to undergo medical gender 
reassignment. Although they fall outside the current legal definition, they 
experience significant harassment and discrimination on grounds of their identity. 

The legal framework 
 
A clear legal framework underpins our activities in tackling sexual discrimination 
and promoting equality for men and women. The main legislation includes: 
 

• The Sex Discrimination Act 1975 makes it unlawful to discriminate on the 
grounds of sex. Specifically, sex discrimination is not allowed in employment, 
education, advertising or when providing housing, goods, services or facilities. 

 

• The Equal Pay Act 1970 says women must be paid the same as men when 
they are doing work of equal value and vice-versa. 

 

• The Equality Act 2006 created the Gender Equality Duty for the public 
sector. The Gender Equality Duty has two parts to it, the ‘general’ duty and the 
‘specific’ duty. The general duty places a legal duty on the County Council: 

 

o To eliminate unlawful discrimination and harassment 

                                            
13 Fairness and Freedom: The Final Report of the Equalities Review, 2007 
 

Page 65



 

o Produce a gender equality scheme identifying gender equality goals and 
actions to meet them, in consultation with employers and other 
stakeholders 

o Monitor and review progress 
o Review the scheme every three years 
o Develop, publish and regularly review an equal pay policy, including 

measures to address promotion, development and occupational 
segregation. 

 

• Transgender people are protected under the Sex Discrimination Act (as 
amended in 1999). It is also unlawful to discriminate in the employment field on 
the grounds of pregnancy and maternity. Harassment in employment, 
vocational training and further education is also prohibited.  

 

• The Sex Discrimination (Gender Reassignment) Regulations 1999 protect 
the rights of people who intend to undergo, are undergoing, or have undergone 
gender reassignment by stating, for example, that employers must not treat 
such employees less favourably than other staff.  

 

• The Gender Recognition Act 2004 became law on 4 April 2005. It allows 
transsexuals to gain legal recognition in their acquired gender. Once issued 
with a gender recognition certificate, transsexuals have the right to marry and 
obtain a birth certificate in their acquired gender and obtain state benefits like 
anyone else of that gender. 

 
There is no current legal requirement under the Gender Duty for public authorities 
to take action to promote equality between transsexual or transgender people and 
non-transsexual or transgender people. However, the Government’s Discrimination 
Law Review will examine extending protection for transsexual and transgender 
people in this area.  
 

Gender in Kent 
 
The 2001 Census statistics show that there are similar numbers of men and women 
in the Kent County Council area - 49 per cent and 51 per cent respectively out of a 
population of 1,369,900. The exact number of transgender people living in the 
County is not currently known.  The proportion of boys and girls under 16 living in 
the County is also evenly balanced, at 51 per cent and 49 per cent respectively.  
However, the gender split amongst older people is very different, with significantly 
more women over the age of 75 (62 per cent) than men (38 per cent). Some other 
key facts include: 
 

• Women in Kent are significantly more likely to be ‘economically inactive’ as a 
result of looking after the home/ family, than men (13 per cent compared to 1 
per cent) (the term ‘economically inactive’ means people who are not working 
because they are full-time students, are retired or are unable to work due to 
long-term sickness or disability). 

 

• Similar numbers of women and men in Kent have a limiting long-term illness 
(17 per cent and 16 per cent respectively). 

 

Page 66



 

• There are 8.5 times more female than male lone parent families with 
dependent children in Kent, (32,000 as compared to 3,750).   

 

• The Kent teenage pregnancy rate currently stands at 38.0 per 1000 females 
under 18, which is below the national average of 41.3 per 1000.  Evidence 
suggests that teenage pregnancy is particularly high in Swale and Thanet.14  
There is a clear and acknowledged link between teenage pregnancy and 
deprivation.15.   

 

• Young women between 16 to 19 years of age are far less likely than young 
men to take part in physical activity or sport (50 per cent compared to 72 per 
cent). Similarly, women aged between 25 and 29 are also less likely than men 
to participate in sport (66 per cent compared to 78 per cent). 

 

• Women in Kent (18 per cent) are much more likely than men (11 per cent) not 
to have access to a car. 

 

• Overall, girls in Kent schools out-perform boys in terms of educational 
attainment. Boys’ under-achievement is most apparent at Key Stage 4. 
Significant gaps in attainment are evident in certain subjects with girls 
outperforming boys, although at Key Stage 3 there is no longer a gender gap in 
mathematics and science at Key Stage 3. In English at Key Stage 3 the gender 
gap was 12 per cent, which represents a continued reduction and is smaller 
than the national average. Boys writing improved in 2005 at Key Stage 3. In 
Kent this is most marked in primary writing assessments.  

 

• In Kent, more men (32 per cent) than women (23 per cent) occupy professional 
positions, including higher and lower managerial and professional 
occupations.  

 

• Men in Kent (19 per cent) are more likely than women (8 per cent) to be self-
employed. 

 

• The majority of Kent’s part time workers are women, who make up 87 per cent 
of employees.  Of all economically active females, high proportions of White 
British women (24 per cent) work part-time, compared to all other ethnic 
groups (18 per cent).   

 

• 27 per cent of women in Kent work within 2km from their home, compared to 
16 per cent of men. 

 

• 30 per cent of women in Kent have no qualifications as compared to males (27 
per cent).   

 

• Between January 2006 and December 2006, 24 gender hate incidents and 
seven transphobic hate incidents were reported to Kent Police. It is estimated 

                                            
14

 LPSA statistics (2002) report 
15

 Every Child Matters Cross-Government Group report January 2007, 2005 data returns. 

Page 67



 

that as much as 90 per cent of hate crime goes unreported, because victims 
are either too frightened to report it, or feel it will not make any difference.  

 

Gender within the Council 
 
Kent County Council currently employs 6030 men and 11637 women on a full time 
basis. This means that 66 per cent of our staff are women, and 34 per cent are 
men. In addition to this there are 3512 male (12 per cent) and 25089 female staff 
(88 per cent) on part time contracts. 
 
Kent County Council monitors existing employees and applicants for jobs, 
promotion and training by gender.  Monitoring by gender is also undertaken on 
grievances, disciplinary action, performance appraisals and employees leaving the 
Council. This is an important way of identifying trends and issues, to enable 
inequalities to be addressed and action taken to remove barriers and promote 
equality of opportunity.  
 
The Council reports statistics and sets new targets annually in relation to the 
following national Best Value Performance Indicators (BVPI’s) which relate to 
Gender: 
 

• BV2a: The Equality Standard for Local Government in England. 

• BV1a: % of top 5% earners that are women   

• BV176: Number of domestic violence refuge places per 100000 population 
provided/supported by authority 

• BV197: Teenage pregnancies. 
 

What have we achieved so far? 
 
We are involved in an extensive range of projects to promote gender equality and 
tackle sexual discrimination. Over the last three years, we have achieved some 
real outcomes. These include: 
 

• The ‘Why Suffer in Silence’ Domestic Violence Conference 2006 was organised 
in partnership by Kent County Council, North West Kent Racial Equality 
Council, Rethink Sahayak, and Thames Gateway Women’s Multifaith Forum.  
The conference was extremely well attended, and aimed at local communities 
and statutory partners to raise awareness. It focused on a range of multiple 
issues and specific implications for women from a Black or Minority Ethnic 
background. 

 

• We were one of the first councils in the country to conduct an equal pay review, 
which concluded in April 2006. 

 

• The Council has worked with local schools in Kent to produce national best 
practice guidance, ‘Boys can do better’, to provide teachers with ideas for 
raising the standards of boys' writing in their schools without any detrimental 
effect on girls. The case studies included are written by Kent teachers and 
based on work implemented in classrooms. 

Page 68



 

 

• The Council promotes an established programme of flexible working practices 
as part of its work life balance policy.  This includes flexible and compressed 
working hours, home and teleworking and job-sharing. 

 

• The Council is currently undertaking a special initiative to explore how to 
encourage girls to take part in more sport in school, and to address the reasons 
why some girls drop out of physical education. 

 
The challenges  

 
Local issues and trends change all the time, and are influenced by a whole range 
of factors. Although many of these changes are outside the Council’s control, they 
are likely to have a direct impact on life in Kent. These include: 

 
• Women make up nearly half of Britain’s workforce and the proportion is 

growing. Girls and young women are excelling and outperforming boys in 
education, but this is not translating into earnings for many. Women are still 
working predominantly in lower paid areas – cleaning, catering, caring, 
cashiering and clerical work – which is one of the reasons why their full-time 
pay on average remains 20 per cent less than full-time men, 40 per cent less if 
they work part-time. A key fact in this is their need to accommodate career 
interruptions through childbirth and care, and flexible working thereafter, into 
their careers.16 

 

• At the current rate of progress, it will take until 2085 to close the pay gap 
between men and women. 

 
• Occupational segregation between men and women is predicted to be a key 

factor in a major skills shortage in the future. While jobs are forecast to shrink in 
the next decade in manufacturing and heavy industry, three in four of the one 
million new jobs predicted by 2012 will be service sector jobs in education, 
health, personal and social care or retailing.17 

 

• Women with children under the age of 11 are more than 40 per cent more likely 
to be out of work than men.18  Overall, women are 23 per cent less likely to be 
in work than men with otherwise similar characteristics, such as age and 
ethnicity, the level of educational qualifications and family composition. 

 

• Domestic violence continues to be a major issue for many families. It accounts 
for a quarter of all violent crime, has the highest rate of re-offending of any type 
of crime. One in four women experience domestic violence at some time in their 
lives and two women are killed each week by violent partners or by former 
partners.19 

                                            
16

 Fairness and Freedom: The Final Report of the Equalities Review, 2007 
17 Fairness and Freedom: The Final Report of the Equalities Review, 2007 
 
18

 Fairness and Freedom: The Final Report of the Equalities Review, 2007 
19

 Women’s Aid, 2007 

Page 69



 

 

• Although the majority of lone parents in Britain are women, some men are 
bringing up children alone or share responsibility with former partners. 
Stereotyping about parental roles can mean that men's different needs and 
experiences are overlooked when support services are designed. 

 

• Men and women make different use of public transport. They have different 
access to private transport, different patterns of commuting and employment, 
and different child-care and other family responsibilities. Women are the prime 
users of public transport, especially buses. 

 

Our top gender priorities for the next three years 
 
To promote gender equality and tackle unfair discrimination, activity will be 
targeted in a range of priority areas: 
 

Priority areas for action 
 

• Through equality impact assessments and ongoing engagement activity with 
men and women, identify specific objectives and targets across all services, to 
tackle barriers to access and address need in relation to gender and 
transgender. 

 

• Explore opportunities with Kent Police and other specialist agencies to build 
confidence among victims of domestic violence, report incidents and signpost 
to appropriate support.  

 

• Review gender composition of the Transport Accessibility Forum taking 
positive action measures to encourage recruitment from women, to better 
reflect local transport issues affecting women. 

 

• Continue to tackle health inequalities in young people, to reduce the rate of 
teenage pregnancies in line with the national interim target of a reduction of 
15%, and increase physical exercise in girls and young women. 

 

• Continue to work with schools to tackle boys’ under-achievement.  
 

• Continue activity to increase the percentage of the top 5% of female earners 
in the County Council. 

Page 70



 

11. Race equality in Kent 
 

What do we mean by “Race”?  
 
Although the term ‘race’ has no exact legal definition, a racial group is any group 
that can be defined on racial grounds, for instance, in relation to race, colour, 
nationality (including citizenship), ethnic or national origins. A person can fall into 
more than one racial group; for example, a Nigerian may be defined by race, 
colour, ethnic or national origins and nationality.  
 
All racial groups are protected from unlawful racial discrimination under the Race 
Relations Act (RRA). In addition, Romany Gypsies, Irish Travellers, Jews and 
Sikhs are also recognised as constituting racial groups.20  

 
What do we mean by “racial discrimination”?  
 
Under the Race Relations Act, 'racial discrimination' means treating a person less 
favourably than others on the grounds of his or her race. However, the law applies 
only to people’s actions, not their personal opinions or beliefs. This means that it is 
against the law to refuse to provide someone with a service because of his or her 
race. It is not against the law to have private prejudices. 
 
Generally speaking, a racial incident is any incident which is perceived to be racist 
by the victim or any other person. Racial incidents include verbal racist abuse, 
threatening or intimidating remarks about a person's race, racially motivated 
assault and racially motivated damage to property.  
 
Between January 2006 and December 2006, 1290 race hate incidents were 
reported to Kent Police. It is estimated that as much as 90 per cent of hate crime 
goes unreported, because victims are either too frightened to report it, or feel it will 
not make any difference.  
 

The legal framework 
 
A clear legal framework underpins our activities in tackling racial discrimination and 
promoting equality. The main legislation includes: 
 

• The Race Relations Act 1976 (RRA), which makes it unlawful for employers 
and service providers to discriminate directly or indirectly because of 
someone’s race, colour, nationality (including citizenship), ethnic or national 
origin.  
 

                                            
20 It should be noted that although Jews and Sikhs have been defined as a racial or ethnic group 

for the purposes of the Race Relations Act, Jews have not wanted to be, and Sikhism is a religion. 
 

Page 71



 

• The Race Relations (Amendment) Act 2000, which placed a new duty on 
public authorities to consider how to meet the following objectives in relation to 
everything they do: 

 

o Eliminate unlawful racial discrimination; 
o Promote equal opportunities; 
o Promote good relations between people of different racial Groups. 
o Under the Act, each public authority has to publish a race equality scheme 

setting out what actions it will take to make sure they meets its duties.  
 

Race in Kent 
 
Of the 1,579,206 people who live in Kent, 54,957 (3.5 per cent) belong to a Black 
Minority Ethnic (BME) group. Within the geographical area that is known as the 
Kent County Council Area (which covers the whole of the county but does not 
include Medway), 41,534 people (3.1 per cent) classify themselves as BME.  
 
This figure is significantly lower than the percentage for England as a whole (9.1 
per cent) and slightly lower than the figure for the South East (4.9 per cent). In 
contrast, 28.9 per cent of the population of London are from an ethnic minority. 
 
As Figure 2 below shows, the majority of Kent’s minority ethnic population is 
concentrated in North Kent and Medway. Within the Kent County Council Area, 
North Kent has the greatest concentration of people from a BME background. 
Gravesham Borough has the highest proportion (10.5 per cent) of BME residents, 
followed by Dartford Borough with 5.5 per cent.  
 
Indians account for the largest BME group in the Kent County Council area, 
representing around 12,294 people (0.9 per cent of the total population). The 
category ‘Other Black’ represents the smallest group at 0.04 per cent, closely 
followed by Pakistanis (0.08 per cent) and Mixed White & Black African (0.08 per 
cent).  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 72



 

Gypsies and Travellers 
 
Around 8,200 (0.6 per cent) of the population in Kent is a Gypsy or Traveller. 
Probably less than half of that number lives in caravan or mobile home. The 
Council manages eight publicly-provided Gypsy and Traveller caravan sites in 
Kent. Other councils in Kent manage a further nine. The county’s 205 public 
pitches provide for nearly 300 caravans, and over 500 more caravans are on 
private sites with planning consent and tolerated sites in Kent. The Council works 
closely with Medway Council, all district councils and Kent Police when 
unauthorised encampments occur in the county.  
 
Recently, the Council formed a Joint Select Committee with borough and district 
councils in Kent, to strategically address the accommodation needs of Gypsies and 
Travellers. As part of this work the Committee published its Select Committee 
Report, Gypsy and Traveller Sites, in April 2006. The report made a number of 
recommendations which will provide a key focus for activity over coming months. 
 

Asylum and immigration 
 
In the UK the term 'asylum seekers' denotes people aged 18 or more who arrive 
from overseas and apply for refugee status, stating they are fleeing persecution, 
torture or war. While their applications are being considered by the Home Office, 
they are termed asylum seekers until their refugee status is confirmed. Those 
whose claims fail will have their leave to enter or to remain in the UK cancelled. 
 
In the past, the Council has had to accommodate large numbers of asylum 
seekers, mainly due to the location of the major port of Dover in the East of Kent. 
In recent years, several major pieces of legislation were introduced21  which led to 
the Home Office setting up the National Asylum Support Service (NASS) to take 
over from local authorities the role of providing support to asylum seekers. 
However, the County Council is still required to give assistance to those asylum 
seekers who arrived before April 2000 and have not yet had a decision on their 
claim. The Council administers the various benefits asylum seekers are entitled to 
and also makes provisions for temporary accommodation. Support under the 
Children Act is provided for unaccompanied minors arriving in the county from 
abroad. 
 

For more information on Asylum and Immigration please contact: 
 

Telephone: 08458 247 100 or Textphone: 08458 247905 
 

                                            
21 The Asylum and Immigration Act 2004. 

 

Page 73



 

Migration 
 
During May 2004 and September 2005, between 2,200 to 2,900 migrant workers 
from the new Accession countries were registered in Kent.22  Similarly to Norfolk, 
Lincolnshire, Cambridgeshire and the Grampians, Kent is one area of the country 
where there are significant concentrations of migrants employed in agriculture. 
 
Recent statistics suggest that there has been an increase in the last year in the 
number of migrants coming to Britain, which has been driven in the main by the EU 
Accession Countries, particularly from Poland. Overall, around 293,000 migrants 
moved to Britain during this period.  Around 22 per cent live in London, 14 per cent 
in the East of England, 9 per cent in East Midlands and around 8 per cent in the 
South East.  
 
Concerns that migrants would come to the UK to take advantage of social benefits 
have proved to be unfounded, though working migrants are entitled to claim in-
work benefits.  99 per cent of applications from migrants have been for 
employment purposes.  This is not a new trend and many high growth economies 
around the world rely upon attracting migrant workers.  
 

Race within the Council 
 
The Council currently employs 9542 men and 36726 women on a full and part time 
basis. Of these, 121 men and 418 women are from a BME group, representing 539 
BME employees overall. 
 
The Council monitors existing employees and applicants for jobs, promotion and 
training by racial group.  Monitoring by racial group is also undertaken on 
grievances, disciplinary action, performance appraisals and employees leaving the 
Council. This is an important way of identifying trends and issues, to enable 
inequalities to be addressed and action taken to remove barriers and promote 
equality of opportunity.  
 
The Council reports statistics and sets new targets annually in relation to the 
following national Best Value Performance Indicators (BVPI’s) which relate to 
Race: 
 

• BV2a: The Equality Standard for Local Government in England. 

• BV2b -The quality of an Authority’s Race Equality Scheme (RES) and the 
improvements resulting from it 

• BV11b -The percentage of the top 5 per cent of the Council’s staff who are from 
an ethnic minority 

• BV17a - The percentage of local authority employees from ethnic minority 
communities. 

 

                                            
22 It should be noted that migrants only need to register for 1 year upon arrival in the UK, and it is 

acknowledged to be an inaccurate measure as there is no requirement to re-register after a year. 
 

Page 74



 

What have we achieved so far? 
 
We are involved in an extensive range of projects to tackle racial discrimination, 
promote equality and good relations between different groups. Over the last three 
years, we have achieved some real outcomes. These include: 
 

• We launched and implemented a highly successful personal and leadership 
development programme, ‘ASPIRE’, for Black and Minority Ethnic staff in 
grades KS 8 – 12. The course was designed to improve confidence and 
performance in order to prepare delegates for more senior positions within the 
organisation. The programme ran during 2006, and was attended by 16 
delegates who received one-to-one coaching and mentoring as part of the 
programme. 

 

• Three BME ‘customer groups’ were set up in January 2006 in each of the 
Council’s library areas, enabling BME residents to participate and influence 
discussions about library services. Actions are being implemented as a result of 
these discussions, for instance, a number of new newspaper and magazine 
subscriptions have been agreed for various libraries.  

 

• We successfully delivered the ‘Kick Racism out of Football’ campaign in 
partnership with Kent Police, NWK Race Equality Council, Walk Tall, Kanko 
Arts and Kent County Football Association.  Events took place across the 
County during October 2006.   Over 100 people took part in each event. Work 
with young people on poster design and poetry reading in preparation for the 
event was so successful it has continued and has influenced drama sessions 
which are now exploring monologue work in relation to the cross cutting themes 
of race, sexuality, gender and disability. 

 

• Kent Youth County Council has an elected membership of 48 diverse young 
people aged 13 to 18. Young people involved come from across the different 
areas of the County. This is a mixed group that reflects various backgrounds 
based on race, gender, class, age, religion, sexuality, culture and disability. The 
group meets once per month in session house on Sundays across the year, 
they engage in debate, other informal and social education activities and take 
action at times on issues that are of a concern to them. 

 

• A recruitment DVD was commissioned in 2005 featuring a variety of Kent 
governors across the diversity range.  The DVD shares information about the 
governance role through the mouths of the featured governors, and forms the 
basis of a presentation to community groups, used in our county recruitment 
campaigns. 

 

• In response to identified need in the Dartford area, a project was set up for 
young Muslim people at Highfield youth and community centre. There are more 
than 40 members aged 13 - 19. 

 

• More than 2000 new British citizens were welcomed to the Kent community 
through the Registration and Coroners Citizenship Ceremonies programme in 
over 80 group ceremonies held at County Hall between April 2006 and March 

Page 75



 

2007. Customer feedback from the new citizens has indicated a high level of 
satisfaction and enjoyment of the ceremonies provided by Kent County Council. 

 

• Working in partnership with the Scrine Foundation, Dover Asylum Team and 
Kent Refugee Action at Canterbury, the Council provides opportunities for 
young refugees and asylum seekers to learn new skills around basic English, 
essential living and understanding 'British' culture. 60 young people are on the 
register and 35 attend regularly workshops take place 5 mornings a week 51 
weeks of the year. 

 

• Parkside Primary School, in Canterbury, has compiled a large index of 
resources for teachers wishing to incorporate aspects of Traveller culture into 
the Literacy Hour. Texts are grouped by genre, using categories from the 
Literacy Framework. 

 

The challenges 
 
Local issues and trends change all the time, and are influenced by a whole range 
of factors. Although many of these changes are outside the Council’s control, they 
are likely to have a direct impact on life in Kent. These include: 
 

• The ethnic minority population of Britain is forecast to grow from nine per cent 
to about 11 per cent by the end of the next decade. Within particular ethnic 
groups, the highest increases will be among Black Africans, Pakistanis and 
Bangladeshis. 

 

• The numbers of people in ethnic minority communities who are aged over 60 
are predicted to increase enormously over the next 10 years, from around 
175,000 people today to nearly 1.8 million in 2016. Older people from ethnic 
minorities face particular inequalities. For example, they tend to have health 
and social care needs at a younger age than average, and have poor 
knowledge and understanding of available services. 

 

• The numbers of migrant workers from the Accession countries coming to Kent 
is likely to increase over coming years. Migration is likely to be increasingly 
polarised between highly-skilled migrants and those with low skills, and also 
between short-term migrants and those who come to stay.  

 

• Pakistani and Bangladeshi women, with the same qualifications as White 
women, are 30 per cent more likely to be out of work. Despite high levels of 
economic activity, Black Caribbean women face high levels of unemployment, 
and obstacles to progression - particularly at senior manager level.  

 

• Some BME groups are far less likely to use pre-school education for their 
children. 77 per cent of the three and four year olds among ethnic minority 
children use early years provision, compared to nearly 87 per cent of White 
three and four year olds. 

 

Page 76



 

• Although Chinese, Mixed White and Asian heritage and Indian pupils are doing 
better on average than White British pupils, pupils from some other ethnic 
minority groups are doing less well. A large attainment gap exists between 
Gypsy/Roma and Traveller of Irish Heritage pupils and pupils from all other 
ethnic groups. In 2006, less than a third of Traveller of Irish Heritage pupils 
reached the expected levels in Reading and Writing at age seven. 

 

• Gypsies and Travellers have significantly poorer health and more self-reported 
symptoms of ill-health than other UK-resident, BME groups and economically 
disadvantaged white UK residents. The life expectancy of a Traveller or Gypsy 
is 20 years less than the average citizen.  

 

Our top race priorities for the next three years 
 
To promote race equality, tackle unfair discrimination and encourage good 
relations between groups, activity will be targeted in a range of priority areas: 
 
 

Priority areas for action 
 

• Through equality impact assessments and ongoing engagement activity, 
identify specific objectives and targets across all services, to tackle barriers to 
access and address need amongst Black and Minority Ethnic communities. 

 

• Explore opportunities for working jointly with Kent Police and specialist 
agencies to build confidence amongst victims of hate crime and signpost to 
appropriate support.  

 

• Review ethnic composition of the Kent Residents Panel, taking positive action 
measures to encourage recruitment from Kent BME communities to ensure 
panel composition reflects the Kent population as a whole. 

 

 

• Through consultation, identify information needs within Black and Minority 
Ethnic Communities, and how sign-posting to key services (particularly health 
and social related services) can be improved. 

 

• Work with partners to enhance the quality of race statistics collected across 
Kent, particularly in relation to satisfaction and service usage patterns. 

 

• Continue activity to increase the percentage of: 
 

o Black or minority ethnic employees in Kent County Council compared with 
the percentage among the economically active minority ethnic population 
of Kent 

 

o The top 5% of Black or minority ethnic earners in the County Council. 

 

Page 77



 

12. Using equality impact assessments to improve 
services for everyone in Kent 
 

What are equality impact assessments? 
 

Equality impact assessments are a way of rigorously checking all council policies 
and services, to ensure that they are easily accessible by everyone. They provide 
a clear system of quality assurance, and help us to focus on meeting the needs of 
service users.  
 
We have developed our own, evidenced-based system of equality impact 
assessments, which has been approved by Diversity in Action in Local 
Government (DIALOG). We aim to have finished assessing all our policies and 
practices by December 2007. See Appendix C for a list of County Council services. 
 

Equality impact assessments make good business sense 
 

Equality impact assessments make good business sense for everyone in Kent. 
They help us to understand the needs of all our service users, which enables us to 
target resources more efficiently. Understanding the needs of service users is an 
important part of service delivery, because providing services which are 
inappropriately designed is inefficient. By targeting resources where they will be 
most effective we can maximise our impact and deliver more competitive, value for 
money services which benefit everyone. 
 
What happens during an equality impact assessment? 

 
There are two stages to equality impact assessments in Kent: 
 

• Stage 1 is a screening and prioritisation exercise using a ‘screening tool’. 
The screening tool asks a range of questions to help assess the practical 
impact of our policies and services, and find out whether everyone has similar 
access to them. We will be asking service users to ‘reality check’ our initial 
findings, to help make sure that we are being thorough and robust. 

 

• Stage 2 involves full consultation and engagement with diverse groups on 
barriers to services, key issues and priority and objective setting. 

 
Publishing the results of equality impact assessments 
 
The findings of equality impact assessments will be reported on our website 
www.kent.gov.uk/diversity.  
 
 
 

If you have any questions about Equality Impact Assessments, or would like to 
get involved in ‘reality checking’ our findings, please contact: 
 

Email: diversityinfo@kent.gov.uk 
Telephone: 01622 221163 
Textphone: 08458 247905 

Page 78



 

13. Performance and review 
 

Monitoring performance on the Equality Strategy 
 
The Equality Strategy and progress on the action plan will be reviewed on an 
annual basis, by the Council’s Strategic Equalities Group. In addition, residents 
and employee forums will play an important role over the course of the year, in 
assessing our progress and making suggestions for improvements. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Publicising the Strategy 
 
The Strategy will be available online, in all libraries in the county and on request 
from Corporate Diversity Team.  
 
The Strategy will be available in alternative formats including CD and audiotape, 
Braille, large print and easy read. It will be available on request in alternative 
languages. 
 
Over the next 12 months we will use a range of tools to raise awareness about the 
Strategy and our work more generally to promote equality and tackle unfair 
discrimination. We are committed to ongoing developmental work on the Strategy 
with those who live and work in Kent, particularly around our supporting objectives 
and actions. 
 
Members of the Strategic Equalities Group, the Equalities Lead Officer Group and 
our Equality Champions have responsibility for raising awareness about the 
Strategy with employees, service users and partners.  

 

For further information about our performance, or if you would like to get involved 
in helping us assess our progress on the Equality Strategy, please contact: 
 

Email: diversityinfo@kent.gov.uk 
Telephone: 01622 221163 
Textphone: 08458 247905 

 

Page 79



 

 
 
 
 
 

Appendices 
 

Page 80



 

Consultation summary 
 
Disability 
 
Our arrangements for involving disabled people on the identification of issues and 
priorities in relation to the development of the Disability Equality Scheme included: 
 

•••• Staff were engaged and consulted in developing actions and priorities for the 
employment elements of the Scheme (during April and May 2006) through a 
questionnaire using the Council’s internal website (KNet) and council-wide 
emails, promoted through our disability champion network including our staff 
group Level Playing Field.  

 

•••• Working with the Tizard Centre at the University of Kent, a postal survey was 
sent to approximately 1,000 disabled people (service users). Focus groups 
comprising 99 people were also held at three Active Lives events in 
Maidstone. In total 402 disabled people took part. The questionnaires were 
analysed by Tizard using SPSS (Statistical Package for Social Sciences).  

 

•••• Findings from the questionnaire and the focus groups have been used to 
develop the Action Plan. 

 

•••• Directorates identified key priorities from their business plans, to be included 
in the Scheme. 

 

•••• We co-lead a Disability Equality Scheme Partnership Working Group with 
Kent Police.  This group is open to all public authorities within Kent, additional 
partners are: 

 
o Medway Council 
o Kent Fire and Rescue service 
o Kent Strategic Health Authorities 
o Most of the borough councils within the county 
 

The group meets four times a year to share good practice and help each other to 
develop their schemes. 

 
The Council is committed to ensuring continued involvement with disabled people 
on priorities and actions in relation to disability, through an active working group of 
volunteers. The working group will help ensure the Disability Action Plan is explicit 
and robust, and prioritised appropriately. Areas to be strengthened will also be 
identified and recorded, and this will inform all future development of this and future 
schemes.  
 
Disabled people will be involved on future updates of the Scheme at all key stages, 
to include identification of the issues and priorities, and the action plan. 

Appendix A 

Page 81



 

 
Age, gender and race 
 

•••• BVPI general satisfaction survey 2006, postal survey of 1396 male and 
female respondents, analysed and weighted in relation to age, gender and 
ethnicity.  

 

•••• Focus groups covering the cross-cutting issues of age, gender and race [full 
details to be included following conclusion and analysis]. 

 

•••• Employee survey  [full details to be included following conclusion and 
analysis] 

 
 

Over the next six months we are committed to ongoing developmental work on the 
Strategy with those who live and work in Kent, to explore issues highlighted 
through consultation in greater detail, identify appropriate responses and take 
forward key actions. 

 
 
 

Page 82



 

 

Summary of equalities legislation 

 
The Kent County Council Equality Strategy complies with the following Equal 
Opportunities Legislation, Codes of Practice and recommendations: 
 

• The Sex Discrimination Act 1975 and 1986 

• Sex Discrimination (Gender Reassignment) Regulations 1999 

• The Protection from Harassment Act 1997 

• Employment Equality (Sexual Orientation) Regulations 2003 

• Gender Equality Duty 

• The Equal Pay Act 1970 as amended by the Equal Pay (Amendment) 
Regulations 1983  

• Codes of Practice, including on Equal Pay 

• The Race Relations Act 1976 

• The Race Relations (Amendment) Act 2000 

• Employment Equality (Religion or Belief) Regulations 2003 

• Five Year Plan for Asylum and Immigration 

• Incitement to Religious Hatred Act (1986 Public Order Act) 

• The Macpherson Recommendations, Stephen Lawrence Inquiry 

• The Disability Discrimination Act 1995 

• The Disability Rights Commission (DRC) Act 1999 

• Disability Equality Duty 

• Special Educational Needs and Disability Act 2001 

• Equal Opportunities Commission and Commission for Racial Equality Codes of 
Practices 

• The Human Rights Act 1998. 

• Equality Standard for Local Government 

 
 

Appendix B 

Page 83



 

List of Kent County Council Services 
 

Adaptations and equipment for disabled 
people 
Additional (including special) educational 
needs 
Adoption 
Adult education 
Adult protection 
Air quality 
Alcohol and drugs misuse 
Animal feedstuffs 
Animal health and welfare (farm animals) 
Archaeology 
Archives and local studies 
Arts/cultural development 
Asylum seekers 
Awards (school, college and university 
students) 
Biodiversity 
Blue parking badges 
Bridges 
Business advice 
Career Services 
Care services for adults and support for their 
carers 
Child employment permits 
Children’s Centres 
Child protection 
Children’s Information Service (CIS) 
Children in entertainment licences 
Children with special needs 
Community care for vulnerable people 
Community Safety 
Conference and training facilities 
Connexions service for young people 
Consumer advice/protection 
Contact Centre 
Coroners 
Country parks and picnic sites 
Countryside and nature conservation 
Cultural Development 
Cycling strategy and cycleways/cycle routes 
Cycling proficiency courses 
Day care and day opportunities 
Deaf services 
Design Guide for Development 
Disability sport 
 

Drugs education 
Drug and Alcohol Action Team 
Duke of Edinburgh's Award 
Early Years  
Economic development 
Education 
Education welfare 
Emergency planning 
Environment Awards for Kent Business 
Environmental health 
Environmental policy/management 
Environment Task Force (New Deal) 
European affairs/funding 
Family support 
Farmers markets 
Food labelling 
Food safety training 
Footway maintenance 
Foster care 
Gypsies and travellers services 
HandyVan Scheme 
Heritage and museums 
Highway design for the mobility 
impaired 
HIV and AIDS advice and counselling 
Historic built environment advice 
Homecare services for elderly and 
disabled 
Household waste recycling centres 
Independent living 
Inward Investment 
Kent Children's University 
Kent Business Awards 
Kent Music School 
Kent Residents’ Panel 
Kent Schools Advisory Service 
Kent Scientific Services 
Kentish Fare 
Learning support service 
Link family scheme 
Libraries, including mobile libraries 
Meals on wheels 
Mental health services 
Minorities Communities Achievement 
Service 
Museums 

 

Appendix C 
 

Page 84



 

List of Kent County Council Services – continued. 
 

Nature conservation 
Nursery education 
Partnerships with Parents Service 
Pavement maintenance 
Pedestrian crossings 
Physical and learning disabilities 
Physical and sensory services for children 
(education) 
Planning applications 
Population statistics 
Pothole repairs 
Pre-school additional educational needs and 
portage services 
Princes Trust volunteers 
Proof of age cards 
Protection of vulnerable adults 
Psychology service (children) 
Public rights of way 
Recycling of waste 
Regeneration 
Registration of births, deaths and marriages 
Residential care 
Respite care 
Road maintenance, including winter 
gritting/snow clearing 
Road safety 
Roadworks information 
Rural Community Wardens 
Rural Regeneration and Revival grants 
 

Rural review programme 
Safer Kent scheme 
Safe Kent schools initiative 
School admission appeals 
School buildings 
School governors 
Schools: primary and secondary and 
special 
School provision planning 
School transport and school crossing 
patrols 
Social Services 
Special Educational Needs (SEN) 
Sports development 
Street lighting 
Substance misuse 
Supported employment for vulnerable 
adults 
Sustainable business partnership 
Tourism development and research 
Tourism promotion 
Trading standards 
Traffic signals 
Transport planning 
Volunteering 
Waste disposal 
Walks and countryside publications 
Weddings 
Weights and measures and 
weighbridges 
Youth and Community 
Youth offender support 
Youth Services 
 

 
The list of Kent County Council services changes from time to time. An updated list 
of Kent County Council services, which also provides guidance on where further 
information can be obtained, is to be found on our website (www.kent.gov.uk). 
 
 

Appendix C 
 

Page 85



Page 86

This page is intentionally left blank



  
 

 

K
e
n
t 
C
o
u
n
ty
 C
o
u
n
c
il
  

E
q
u
a
li
ty
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 2
0
0
7
/2
0
1
0
 

 
D
ra
ft
 S
u
m
m
a
ry
 A
c
ti
o
n
 P
la
n
s
 

 

  

Page 87



Contents 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  Page 
 

1. Organisational Action Plan 3 
   
2. Disability Equality Action Plan 13 
   
3. Gender Equality Action Plan 14 
   
4. Race Equality Action Plan 22 
   
   
   
   
   

 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 88



  
  

 

O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
A
c
ti
o
n
 P
la
n
 

 
S
u
m
m
a
ry
 A
c
ti
o
n
 P
la
n
 2
0
0
7
/2
0
1
0
 

 
 

  

Page 89



 

 
Y
e
a
r 
1
 A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

Im
p
a
c
t 

D
e
a
d
li
n
e
 

L
e
a
d
 o
ff
ic
e
r 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
o
f 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 

Y
e
a
rs
 2
 &
 3
 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 2
0
1
0
 

P
ri
o
ri
ty
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
 1
: 
 
E
q
u
a
l 
a
n
d
 i
n
c
lu
s
iv
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
n
d
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
a
ll
, 
re
g
a
rd
le
s
s
 o
f 
a
g
e
, 
d
is
a
b
il
it
y
, 
g
e
n
d
e
r,
 f
a
it
h
, 

 
 

 
 

ra
c
e
, 
g
e
n
d
e
r 
o
r 
s
e
x
u
a
l 
o
ri
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 

1
. 

D
e
liv
e
r 
o
n
g
o
in
g
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ta
l 

w
o
rk
 o
n
 t
h
e
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 w
it
h
 

th
o
s
e
 w
h
o
 l
iv
e
 a
n
d
 

w
o
rk
 i
n
 K
e
n
t 

 

T
o
 e
n
h
a
n
c
e
 

u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 o
f 

lo
c
a
lis
e
d
 i
s
s
u
e
s
, 

id
e
n
ti
fy
 

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 

re
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 a
n
d
 

ta
k
e
 f
o
rw
a
rd
 k
e
y
 

a
c
ti
o
n
s
. 

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
7
 

In
c
lu
s
iv
e
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

P
o
lic
y
 M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

 
 

2
. 

A
ll 
n
e
w
 p
o
lic
y
, 

p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 a
n
d
 

p
ra
c
ti
c
e
s
 t
o
 

u
n
d
e
rg
o
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 

im
p
a
c
t 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t,
 i
n
 

re
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 A
g
e
, 

D
is
a
b
ili
ty
, 
G
e
n
d
e
r,
 

F
a
it
h
, 
R
a
c
e
 a
n
d
 

S
e
x
u
a
l 
O
ri
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 

•
 
E
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 r
is
k
 

a
n
d
 r
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

•
 
F
u
ll 
a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
is
 

ta
k
e
n
 o
f 
th
e
 

n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
a
ll 

d
iv
e
rs
e
 g
ro
u
p
s
 

in
 t
h
e
 d
e
s
ig
n
, 

d
e
liv
e
ry
 a
n
d
 

e
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
. 

O
n
g
o
in
g
 

A
ll 
D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
s
 

 
 

3
. 

D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
s
 t
o
 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 w
o
rk
 

a
g
a
in
s
t 
k
e
y
 

a
c
ti
o
n
s
 /
e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 

to
 b
e
 c
o
lle
c
te
d
 i
n
 

S
e
lf
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
 L
e
v
e
l 
3
 o
f 

th
e
 E
q
u
a
lit
y
 

S
ta
n
d
a
rd
 f
o
r 
L
o
c
a
l 

G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 

to
 E
L
O
G
 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
: 
 

 •
 
4
 O
c
to
b
e
r 
0
7
 

 

C
h
a
ir
s
 o
f 

D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 

E
q
u
a
lit
y
 G
ro
u
p
s
, 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 b
y
 

E
q
u
a
lit
y
 S
ta
n
d
a
rd
 

S
te
e
ri
n
g
 G
ro
u
p
  

 
C
o
m
m
e
n
c
e
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 

o
n
 L
e
v
e
ls
 4
 a
n
d
 5
 

o
f 
th
e
 S
ta
n
d
a
rd
 

Page 90



 
Y
e
a
r 
1
 A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

Im
p
a
c
t 

D
e
a
d
li
n
e
 

L
e
a
d
 o
ff
ic
e
r 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
o
f 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 

Y
e
a
rs
 2
 &
 3
 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 2
0
1
0
 

w
o
rk
b
o
o
k
s
, 
in
 

o
rd
e
r 
to
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
 

L
e
v
e
l 
3
 o
f 
th
e
 

S
ta
n
d
a
rd
. 

F
in
a
l 
d
e
a
d
lin
e
: 
3
1
 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
8
 

 

4
. 

D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
s
 t
o
 

c
o
m
p
le
te
 S
ta
g
e
 1
 

e
q
u
a
lit
y
 i
m
p
a
c
t 

s
c
re
e
n
in
g
s
 

A
ll 
D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
s
 

h
o
ld
 r
e
le
v
a
n
t 

in
te
lli
g
e
n
c
e
 a
b
o
u
t 

d
iv
e
rs
e
 c
u
s
to
m
e
r 

n
e
e
d
 t
o
 e
n
a
b
le
 

th
e
m
 t
o
 p
re
d
ic
t 

a
n
d
 r
e
s
p
o
n
d
 t
o
 

c
h
a
n
g
e
. 

2
1
 J
u
n
e
 2
0
0
7
 

C
h
a
ir
s
 o
f 

D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 

E
q
u
a
lit
y
 G
ro
u
p
s
, 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 b
y
 

E
q
u
a
lit
y
 S
ta
n
d
a
rd
 

S
te
e
ri
n
g
 G
ro
u
p
  

N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
im
p
a
c
t 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 

a
g
re
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 

c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 w
it
h
in
 a
 

1
2
-m

o
n
th
 p
e
ri
o
d
. 

 

5
. 

D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
s
 t
o
 

c
o
m
p
le
te
 S
ta
g
e
 2
 

fu
ll 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 

o
f 
a
ll 
re
le
v
a
n
t 

p
o
lic
ie
s
, 

p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 a
n
d
 

p
ra
c
ti
c
e
s
 

T
o
 e
n
a
b
le
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
to
 a
d
d
re
s
s
 

th
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 

d
iv
e
rs
e
 g
ro
u
p
s
 a
t 

ri
s
k
 o
f 

d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
, 

p
ro
m
o
te
 g
o
o
d
 

re
la
ti
o
n
s
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 

d
iv
e
rs
e
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
, 
a
n
d
 

s
e
t 
p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 

a
c
c
o
rd
in
g
ly
 

3
1
 D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
7
 

 D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
s
 t
o
 

re
p
o
rt
 S
ta
g
e
 2
 f
u
ll 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

fi
n
d
in
g
s
 t
o
 E
L
O
G
 

J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
0
8
 

(d
a
te
 T
B
C
) 

 

C
h
a
ir
s
 o
f 

D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 

E
q
u
a
lit
y
 G
ro
u
p
s
, 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 b
y
 

E
q
u
a
lit
y
 S
ta
n
d
a
rd
 

S
te
e
ri
n
g
 G
ro
u
p
  

N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
im
p
a
c
t 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 

a
g
re
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 

c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 w
it
h
in
 a
 

1
2
-m

o
n
th
 p
e
ri
o
d
. 

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 

m
o
n
it
o
r 
p
o
lic
ie
s
, 

p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 a
n
d
 

p
ra
c
ti
c
e
s
 f
o
r 

a
d
v
e
rs
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
-

Q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
 

re
p
o
rt
s
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 t
o
 

E
L
O
G
 a
n
d
 C
h
a
ir
s
 

o
f 
D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 

E
q
u
a
lit
y
 G
ro
u
p
s
 

6
. 

F
o
llo
w
in
g
 

c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 o
f 

im
p
a
c
t 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

E
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 

is
s
u
e
s
 t
h
a
t 
m
a
tt
e
r 

m
o
s
t 
to
 l
o
c
a
l 

g
ro
u
p
s
 a
n
d
 

3
1
 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
8
 

 
C
h
a
ir
 o
f 
S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 

E
q
u
a
lit
y
 G
ro
u
p
, 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 b
y
 

D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 

 
D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
s
/ 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 a
re
a
s
 t
o
 

d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
te
 

p
ro
g
re
s
s
 i
n
 

Page 91



 
Y
e
a
r 
1
 A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

Im
p
a
c
t 

D
e
a
d
li
n
e
 

L
e
a
d
 o
ff
ic
e
r 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
o
f 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 

Y
e
a
rs
 2
 &
 3
 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 2
0
1
0
 

p
ro
c
e
s
s
, 

D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
s
/ 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 a
re
a
s
 t
o
 

id
e
n
ti
fy
 r
e
le
v
a
n
t 

e
q
u
a
lit
y
 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 

a
n
d
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 f
o
r 

a
g
e
, 
d
is
a
b
ili
ty
, 

g
e
n
d
e
r,
 f
a
it
h
, 
ra
c
e
 

a
n
d
 s
e
x
u
a
l 

o
ri
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
, 
fo
r 

e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t,
 p
a
y
, 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 

a
n
d
 p
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 
 

n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
 

a
re
 t
ra
n
s
la
te
d
 i
n
to
 

s
h
o
rt
, 
m
e
d
iu
m
 a
n
d
 

lo
n
g
 t
e
rm

 o
b
je
c
ts
, 

a
n
d
 i
n
te
g
ra
te
d
 i
n
to
 

p
o
lic
y
 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
, 

b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 p
la
n
s
 

a
n
d
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

ta
rg
e
ts
 

 

E
q
u
a
lit
y
 G
ro
u
p
s
  

a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 

a
n
d
 s
e
t 
n
e
w
 

ta
rg
e
ts
. 

7
. 

A
ll 
o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 a
n
d
 

ta
rg
e
ts
 t
o
 b
e
 

in
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
d
 i
n
to
 

b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 p
la
n
s
 

a
n
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 b
y
 

a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
s
. 

B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 

a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 

a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 c
le
a
rl
y
 

a
d
d
re
s
s
e
s
 t
h
e
 

n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
d
iv
e
rs
e
 

g
ro
u
p
s
 a
t 
ri
s
k
 o
f 

d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
. 

3
1
 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
8
 

 
 

 
 

8
. 

A
rr
a
n
g
e
 f
o
r 

e
x
te
rn
a
l 
a
s
s
e
s
s
o
r 

to
 v
e
ri
fy
 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 

L
e
v
e
l 
3
 o
f 
E
q
u
a
lit
y
 

S
ta
n
d
a
rd
 

 
A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
8
 

In
c
lu
s
iv
e
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

P
o
lic
y
 M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

 
 

9
. 

R
e
v
is
e
d
 l
is
t 
o
f 
a
ll 

K
e
n
t 
C
o
u
n
ty
 

C
o
m
p
ly
 w
it
h
 

le
g
is
la
ti
o
n
. 

•
 
A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
7
 

 

 
 

 

Page 92



 
Y
e
a
r 
1
 A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

Im
p
a
c
t 

D
e
a
d
li
n
e
 

L
e
a
d
 o
ff
ic
e
r 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
o
f 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 

Y
e
a
rs
 2
 &
 3
 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 2
0
1
0
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
p
o
lic
ie
s
, 

p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 a
n
d
 

p
ra
c
ti
c
e
s
 

p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
 a
n
d
 

a
v
a
ila
b
le
 f
o
r 

in
s
p
e
c
ti
o
n
 

•
 
A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
8
 

1
0
. 

T
a
rg
e
t 
a
c
ti
v
it
y
 t
o
 

m
e
e
t 
th
e
 

p
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 

o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 o
f 
th
e
 

E
q
u
a
lit
y
 S
ta
n
d
a
rd
 

fo
r 
L
o
c
a
l 

G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t.
 

 
 

P
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 

F
o
ru
m
 

 
 

1
1
. 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 g
o
o
d
 

p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 g
u
id
e
lin
e
s
 

fo
r 
p
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 
- 

d
ra
ft
e
d
 a
n
d
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
e
d
 u
p
o
n
 

b
o
th
 i
n
te
rn
a
lly
 a
n
d
 

w
it
h
 k
e
y
 e
x
te
rn
a
l 

s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
. 

E
q
u
a
lit
y
 i
s
 

in
c
lu
d
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 a
ll 

c
o
n
tr
a
c
ts
 a
n
d
 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

a
g
re
e
m
e
n
ts
 w
h
e
re
 

e
q
u
a
lit
y
 i
s
 a
 c
o
re
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 

d
e
liv
e
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 

 
 

 
G
o
o
d
 p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 

g
u
id
e
lin
e
s
 a
d
o
p
te
d
 

b
y
 D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 

p
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 

fu
n
c
ti
o
n
s
. 

1
2
. 

A
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 

te
n
d
e
ri
n
g
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
, 

a
n
d
 p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
a
te
 

to
 t
h
e
 v
a
lu
e
 o
f 
th
e
 

te
n
d
e
r,
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
 

p
ro
v
id
e
rs
 o
f 
g
o
o
d
s
 

E
q
u
a
lit
y
 i
s
 

in
c
lu
d
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 a
ll 

c
o
n
tr
a
c
ts
 a
n
d
 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

a
g
re
e
m
e
n
ts
 w
h
e
re
 

e
q
u
a
lit
y
 i
s
 a
 c
o
re
 

 
 

 
 

Page 93



 
Y
e
a
r 
1
 A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

Im
p
a
c
t 

D
e
a
d
li
n
e
 

L
e
a
d
 o
ff
ic
e
r 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
o
f 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 

Y
e
a
rs
 2
 &
 3
 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 2
0
1
0
 

a
n
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 t
o
 

s
u
p
p
ly
 a
n
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 

p
o
lic
y
 s
ta
te
m
e
n
t 

a
n
d
 a
ls
o
 

d
o
c
u
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 

s
h
o
w
in
g
 h
o
w
 t
h
e
 

p
o
lic
y
 i
s
 a
p
p
lie
d
. 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 

d
e
liv
e
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 

1
3
. 

E
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 

c
o
n
tr
a
c
to
rs
 a
n
d
 

s
u
p
p
lie
rs
 f
ro
m
 

B
M
E
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 

m
in
o
ri
ty
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 t
o
 

s
e
e
k
 a
d
m
is
s
io
n
 t
o
 

th
e
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
 l
is
ts
. 

 
 

 
 

 

1
4
. 

K
C
C
 C
o
m
p
a
c
t:
 

A
im
in
g
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 

th
e
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
s
h
ip
 

b
e
tw
e
e
n
 K
C
C
 a
n
d
 

th
e
 V
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 &
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
e
c
to
r 

(V
C
S
) 
in
 K
e
n
t 

V
a
lu
in
g
 &
 s
e
e
k
in
g
 

to
 w
o
rk
 b
e
tt
e
r 
w
it
h
 

th
e
 V
C
S
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 

th
e
 B
M
E
 V
C
S
 i
n
 

K
e
n
t 
a
s
 a
 p
u
b
lic
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 

p
a
rt
n
e
r 

 
K
e
n
t 
C
o
m
p
a
c
t 

B
M
E
 s
u
b
 g
ro
u
p
 

 

 
C
o
m
p
a
c
t 

p
ri
n
c
ip
le
s
 

a
n
d
 p
ra
c
ti
c
e
s
 

e
m
b
e
d
d
e
d
 i
n
 

d
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
s
 

 

1
5
. 

W
o
rk
 i
n
 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 w
it
h
 

K
e
n
t 
P
o
lic
e
 t
o
 

h
o
ld
 a
n
 e
v
e
n
t 
o
n
 

le
s
b
ia
n
, 
g
a
y
 a
n
d
 

b
is
e
x
u
a
l 
is
s
u
e
s
 i
n
 

 
M
a
y
 2
0
0
7
 

 
 

 

Page 94



 
Y
e
a
r 
1
 A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

Im
p
a
c
t 

D
e
a
d
li
n
e
 

L
e
a
d
 o
ff
ic
e
r 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
o
f 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 

Y
e
a
rs
 2
 &
 3
 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 2
0
1
0
 

y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
’s
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

P
ri
o
ri
ty
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
 2
: 
 
C
re
a
ti
v
e
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 f
o
r 
p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
n
d
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 

1
6
. 

A
g
re
e
 a
 c
o
u
n
ty
-

w
id
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

a
n
d
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 

m
a
p
 a
n
d
 p
ro
to
c
o
l 

to
 e
n
s
u
re
 a
ll 

d
iv
e
rs
e
 g
ro
u
p
s
 a
re
 

e
n
g
a
g
e
d
. 
T
o
 

in
c
lu
d
e
 v
ie
w
s
 a
n
d
 

n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
d
is
a
b
le
d
 

p
e
o
p
le
 f
ro
m
 B
M
E
 

g
ro
u
p
s
, 
m
e
n
ta
l 

h
e
a
lt
h
 s
u
rv
iv
o
rs
, 

a
n
d
 c
h
ild
re
n
/ 

p
u
p
ils
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
ir
 

c
a
re
rs
, 
s
o
m
e
 o
f 

w
h
o
m
 m
a
y
 b
e
 

d
is
a
b
le
d
. 

•
 
E
n
h
a
n
c
e
 

e
x
is
ti
n
g
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
/ 

in
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 

m
e
c
h
a
n
is
m
s
 t
o
 

in
c
re
a
s
e
 

u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 

o
f 
th
e
 v
ie
w
s
, 

n
e
e
d
s
, 
d
e
s
ir
e
s
 

a
n
d
 

p
re
fe
re
n
c
e
s
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 u
s
e
rs
 a
t 

ri
s
k
 o
f 

d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
. 
  

 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
8
 

In
c
lu
s
iv
e
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

P
o
lic
y
 M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

 
 

1
7
. 

‘R
e
s
u
lt
s
 o
f 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 p
a
g
e
’ 

m
a
in
ta
in
e
d
 a
n
d
 

u
s
e
d
 b
y
 

D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
s
 

 

E
n
s
u
re
 a
ll 
d
iv
e
rs
e
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 h
a
v
e
 

u
p
-t
o
-m

in
u
te
 

k
n
o
w
le
d
g
e
 o
f 
k
e
y
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
in
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
 

a
n
d
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
s
 

 
A
ll 
D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
s
 

 
 

 

Page 95



 

 
Y
e
a
r 
1
 A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

Im
p
a
c
t 

D
e
a
d
li
n
e
 

L
e
a
d
 o
ff
ic
e
r 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
o
f 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 

Y
e
a
rs
 2
 &
 3
 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 2
0
1
0
 

P
ri
o
ri
ty
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
 4
: 
 
E
n
h
a
n
c
e
 t
h
e
 q
u
a
li
ty
 o
f 
o
u
r 
in
te
ll
ig
e
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 s
y
s
te
m
s
, 
to
 e
n
s
u
re
 w
e
 c
a
n
 t
a
rg
e
t 
 

 
 

 
 

d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
ty
 w
h
e
re
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 i
s
 m

o
s
t 
n
e
e
d
e
d
 a
n
d
 b
e
s
t 
re
fl
e
c
ts
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 u
s
e
 o
f 
 

 
 

 
 

re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
. 

1
8
. 

E
x
p
lo
re
 

o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 f
o
r 

w
o
rk
in
g
 

c
o
lla
b
o
ra
ti
v
e
ly
 

w
it
h
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 a
n
d
 

s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 o
n
 

d
a
ta
 g
a
th
e
ri
n
g
 

a
n
d
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
/ 

in
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 

e
x
e
rc
is
e
s
 

S
e
c
u
re
 s
u
p
e
ri
o
r 

q
u
a
lit
y
 d
a
ta
 a
n
d
 

s
e
c
u
re
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
 

s
a
v
in
g
s
. 

 
In
c
lu
s
iv
e
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

P
o
lic
y
 M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

 
 

1
9
. 

C
o
m
p
le
te
 r
e
v
ie
w
/ 

im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 

c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 

c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 

p
ro
c
e
s
s
  

T
o
 e
n
a
b
le
 

e
n
h
a
n
c
e
d
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
 

o
f 
c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 f
ro
m
 

d
iv
e
rs
e
 g
ro
u
p
s
 

 
P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r,
 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

T
e
a
m

 

 
 

2
0
. 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 

re
s
p
o
n
s
iv
e
 r
is
k
-

b
a
s
e
d
 m
o
d
e
l 
fo
r 

c
o
h
e
s
io
n
 i
n
 K
e
n
t 

S
e
c
u
re
 s
u
p
e
ri
o
r 

q
u
a
lit
y
 d
a
ta
 t
o
 

in
fo
rm

 s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 

p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 

O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
0
7
 

In
c
lu
s
iv
e
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

P
o
lic
y
 M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

 
 

2
1
. 

C
o
m
p
le
te
 

m
a
p
p
in
g
 e
x
e
rc
is
e
/ 

n
e
e
d
s
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
 o
n
 

m
ig
ra
ti
o
n
  

 
 

S
e
n
io
r 
P
o
lic
y
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r,
 C
e
n
tr
a
l 

P
o
lic
y
 U
n
it
 

 
 

Page 96



 
Y
e
a
r 
1
 A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

Im
p
a
c
t 

D
e
a
d
li
n
e
 

L
e
a
d
 o
ff
ic
e
r 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
o
f 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 

Y
e
a
rs
 2
 &
 3
 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 2
0
1
0
 

P
ri
o
ri
ty
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
 5
: 
 
M
a
in
ta
in
 o
u
r 
re
p
u
ta
ti
o
n
 a
s
 a
n
 e
x
c
e
ll
e
n
t 
e
m
p
lo
y
e
r,
 p
ro
m
o
ti
n
g
 a
 c
u
lt
u
re
 w
h
e
re
 t
h
e
  
 

 

 
 

 
 

C
o
u
n
c
il
 r
e
c
ru
it
s
 o
n
 m

e
ri
t,
 d
iv
e
rs
it
y
 i
s
 v
a
lu
e
d
, 
a
n
d
 w
h
e
re
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 a
re
 p
ro
a
c
ti
v
e
  
 

 
 

 
 

 
in
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 u
s
e
rs
. 

2
2
. 

E
v
a
lu
a
te
 2
0
0
6
/0
7
 

y
e
a
r 
o
f 
C
o
u
n
c
il 

d
iv
e
rs
it
y
 t
ra
in
in
g
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 a
n
d
 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 w
it
h
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 p
o
s
t 

e
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
. 

 
 

 
 

 

2
3
. 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 n
e
w
 D
a
ta
 

Q
u
a
lit
y
 W

o
rk
in
g
 

G
ro
u
p
 

E
n
s
u
re
 d
iv
e
rs
it
y
  

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
  
a
c
ro
s
s
 

th
e
 f
u
n
c
ti
o
n
 i
s
 f
it
 

fo
r 
p
u
rp
o
s
e
 a
n
d
 

m
e
e
ts
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 

p
o
s
it
iv
e
 a
c
ti
o
n
, 
a
s
 

re
q
u
ir
e
d
 

O
n
-g
o
in
g
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
O
f 

P
e
rs
o
n
n
e
l 
&
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

 
 

2
4
. 

E
L
O
G
 t
o
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 

to
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
 a
n
d
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 

d
iv
e
rs
e
 w
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 

re
p
o
rt
s
, 
to
 a
g
re
e
 

p
o
s
it
iv
e
 a
c
ti
o
n
 

in
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
 t
o
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 

ta
rg
e
ts
 a
c
ro
s
s
 

S
ix
 m

o
n
th
ly
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

re
p
o
rt
s
 m
a
d
e
 t
o
 

E
L
O
G
 i
n
 

a
c
c
o
rd
a
n
c
e
 w
it
h
 

a
g
re
e
d
 E
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 

 

J
u
n
e
 a
n
d
 

D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r/
J
a
n
u
a
ry
 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 e
a
c
h
 

y
e
a
rs
 

 

 
 

 

Page 97



 
Y
e
a
r 
1
 A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

Im
p
a
c
t 

D
e
a
d
li
n
e
 

L
e
a
d
 o
ff
ic
e
r 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
o
f 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 

Y
e
a
rs
 2
 &
 3
 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 2
0
1
0
 

D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
s
. 

R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 

to
 b
e
 m
a
d
e
 t
o
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 
a
n
d
 C
h
ie
f 

O
ff
ic
e
rs
’ 
G
ro
u
p
 t
o
 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 

2
5
. 

A
s
s
e
s
s
 a
n
n
u
a
l 

e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 

m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 i
n
 

s
c
h
o
o
ls
 d
a
ta
 a
n
d
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 

a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
. 

 
 

P
o
lic
y
 A
n
d
 

S
ta
tu
to
ry
 

C
o
m
p
lia
n
c
e
 

O
ff
ic
e
r 

 
 

2
6
. 

D
a
ta
 C
a
p
tu
re
 

E
x
e
rc
is
e
 

U
p
-d
a
te
 a
n
d
 

in
c
re
a
s
e
 d
iv
e
rs
it
y
 

d
a
ta
 h
e
ld
 o
n
 

P
e
rs
o
n
n
e
l 

In
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 s
y
s
te
m
 

to
 e
n
s
u
re
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 

a
ll 
s
ta
ff
 b
e
in
g
 m
e
t,
 

a
n
d
 f
u
ll 
d
a
ta
 

a
v
a
ila
b
le
 f
o
r 

p
o
s
it
iv
e
 a
c
ti
o
n
, 
a
s
 

re
q
u
ir
e
d
 

A
p
ri
l 
0
7
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
O
f 

P
e
rs
o
n
n
e
l 
&
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

 
 

 

Page 98



   
 

 

D
is
a
b
il
it
y
 e
q
u
a
li
ty
 

 
S
u
m
m
a
ry
 A
c
ti
o
n
 P
la
n
 2
0
0
7
/2
0
1
0
 

 
T
o
 b
e
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
, 
a
s
 p
e
r 
a
g
re
e
d
 D
is
a
b
il
it
y
 E
q
u
a
li
ty
 S
c
h
e
m
e
. 

  

Page 99



  
 

 
G
e
n
d
e
r 
e
q
u
a
li
ty
 

 
S
u
m
m
a
ry
 A
c
ti
o
n
 P
la
n
 2
0
0
7
/2
0
1
0
 

  

Page 100



 

 
Y
e
a
r 
1
 A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

O
u
tc
o
m
e
 

D
e
a
d
li
n
e
 

L
e
a
d
 o
ff
ic
e
r 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
o
f 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

2
0
0
8
/2
0
1
0
 

 
P
ri
o
ri
ty
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
 1
: 
 
E
q
u
a
l 
a
n
d
 i
n
c
lu
s
iv
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
n
d
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
a
ll
, 
re
g
a
rd
le
s
s
 o
f 
a
g
e
, 
d
is
a
b
il
it
y
, 
g
e
n
d
e
r,
 

 
 

 
 

fa
it
h
, 
ra
c
e
, 
g
e
n
d
e
r 
o
r 
s
e
x
u
a
l 
o
ri
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 

1
. 

T
a
k
e
 O
u
r 
Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le
 t
o
 W

o
rk
 

In
it
ia
ti
v
e
 

C
o
u
n
te
r 
jo
b
 

s
e
g
re
g
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

s
te
re
o
ty
p
ic
a
l 
ro
le
s
 

fo
r 
y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 

 
C
o
n
ti
n
u
o
u
s
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

N
u
m
b
e
rs
 o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 

p
e
o
p
le
 t
a
k
in
g
 p
a
rt
 

in
 i
n
it
ia
ti
v
e
 

F
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 f
ro
m
 

p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
n
ts
 

 

2
. 

P
ro
m
o
te
 ‘
n
o
n
-

tr
a
d
it
io
n
a
l’ 
jo
b
s
 

th
ro
u
g
h
, 
fo
r 

e
x
a
m
p
le
, 
th
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 w
e
b
s
it
e
, 

ta
rg
e
te
d
 

p
u
b
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
, 
jo
b
 

fa
ir
s
 a
n
d
 s
c
h
o
o
ls
 

a
n
d
 c
o
lle
g
e
s
. 

C
o
u
n
te
r 
jo
b
 

s
e
g
re
g
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

s
te
re
o
ty
p
ic
a
l 
ro
le
s
 

fo
r 
y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 -
 

in
c
re
a
s
e
 i
n
 

n
u
m
b
e
rs
 o
f 
m
e
n
 

a
n
d
 w
o
m
e
n
 

a
p
p
ly
in
g
 f
o
r 
‘n
o
n
-

tr
a
d
it
io
n
a
l’ 
jo
b
s
. 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 

to
 E
L
O
G
 

D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
7
 

 
T
h
e
 %

 o
f 
m
a
le
s
 

a
n
d
 f
e
m
a
le
s
 

a
p
p
ly
in
g
 f
o
r 
a
 

ra
n
g
e
 o
f 
d
if
fe
re
n
t 

o
c
c
u
p
a
ti
o
n
s
. 

 

3
. 

In
c
re
a
s
e
 t
h
e
 t
a
k
e
 

u
p
 l
e
v
e
ls
 o
f 
m
a
le
s
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
in
g
 l
ib
ra
ry
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
. 

In
c
re
a
s
e
 i
n
 

n
u
m
b
e
rs
 o
f 
m
a
le
s
 

b
e
n
e
fi
ti
n
g
 f
ro
m
 

lib
ra
ry
 a
n
d
 

m
u
s
e
u
m
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
. 

 
 

%
 o
f 
m
a
le
s
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
in
g
 l
ib
ra
ry
 

a
n
d
 m
u
s
e
u
m
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
. 

 

4
. 

Im
p
ro
v
e
 S
e
x
 a
n
d
 

R
e
la
ti
o
n
s
h
ip
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 f
o
r 
y
o
u
n
g
 

p
e
o
p
le
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 

b
o
y
s
 a
n
d
 y
o
u
n
g
 

m
e
n
. 

A
 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 

te
e
n
a
g
e
 

p
re
g
n
a
n
c
y
 a
n
d
 

s
e
x
u
a
lly
 

tr
a
n
s
m
it
te
d
 

d
is
e
a
s
e
s
. 

 
 

%
 R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 

te
e
n
a
g
e
 

c
o
n
c
e
p
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
. 

 

Page 101



 
Y
e
a
r 
1
 A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

O
u
tc
o
m
e
 

D
e
a
d
li
n
e
 

L
e
a
d
 o
ff
ic
e
r 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
o
f 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

2
0
0
8
/2
0
1
0
 

5
. 

E
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 m
o
re
 

g
ir
ls
 a
n
d
 w
o
m
e
n
 

to
 p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
te
 i
n
 

p
h
y
s
ic
a
l 
a
c
ti
v
it
y
. 

A
n
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 

th
e
 h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 

lif
e
s
ty
le
 o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 

p
e
o
p
le
. 

 
 

%
 I
n
c
re
a
s
e
 o
f 

s
c
h
o
o
l 
c
h
ild
re
n
 

s
p
e
n
d
in
g
 a
 

m
in
im
u
m
 o
f 
2
 

h
o
u
rs
 p
e
r 
w
e
e
k
 o
n
 

h
ig
h
 q
u
a
lit
y
 P
E
 

a
n
d
 s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
p
o
rt
. 

 

6
. 

In
c
re
a
s
e
 t
h
e
 

e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

a
tt
a
in
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
b
o
y
s
 

a
t 
k
e
y
 s
ta
g
e
 4
. 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 

e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

a
tt
a
in
m
e
n
t 
re
s
u
lt
s
 

fo
r 
ta
rg
e
t 
g
ro
u
p
. 

R
e
fe
r 
to
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 i
n
 

K
e
n
t 
C
h
ild
re
n
 a
n
d
 

Y
o
u
n
g
 P
e
o
p
le
’s
 

P
la
n
 

 
A
v
e
ra
g
e
 p
o
in
t 

s
c
o
re
s
 a
t 
K
e
y
 

s
ta
g
e
 4
. 

 

 
P
ri
o
ri
ty
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
 2
: 
 
 

C
re
a
ti
v
e
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 f
o
r 
p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
n
d
  

 
 

 
 

 
d
e
c
is
io
n
 

7
. 

R
e
v
ie
w
 g
e
n
d
e
r 

c
o
m
p
o
s
it
io
n
 o
f 
th
e
 

T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 

A
c
c
e
s
s
ib
ili
ty
 

F
o
ru
m
 t
a
k
in
g
 

p
o
s
it
iv
e
 a
c
ti
o
n
 

m
e
a
s
u
re
s
 t
o
 

e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 

re
c
ru
it
m
e
n
t 
fr
o
m
 

w
o
m
e
n
 

A
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
 

g
ro
u
p
 i
s
 

e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 w
h
ic
h
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
rs
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 

a
ff
e
c
ti
n
g
 w
o
m
e
n
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
in
g
 p
u
b
lic
 

tr
a
n
s
p
o
rt
 

 
 

R
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 

a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
ili
ty
 f
o
ru
m
 

S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 

tr
a
n
s
p
o
rt
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

b
y
 g
e
n
d
e
r 

 

 

Page 102



 

 
Y
e
a
r 
1
 A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

O
u
tc
o
m
e
 

D
e
a
d
li
n
e
 

L
e
a
d
 o
ff
ic
e
r 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
o
f 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

2
0
0
8
/2
0
1
0
 

 
P
ri
o
ri
ty
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
 3
: 
 
 

W
o
rk
 w
it
h
 o
u
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
ty
’s
 m

o
s
t 
v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 g
ro
u
p
s
 f
e
e
l 
s
a
fe
 a
n
d
 

 
 

 
 

 
fr
e
e
 f
ro
m
 h
a
ra
s
s
m
e
n
t,
 a
n
d
 c
a
n
 r
e
p
o
rt
 i
n
c
id
e
n
ts
 i
n
  t
h
e
 k
n
o
w
le
d
g
e
 t
h
a
t 
is
s
u
e
s
 w
il
l 
b
e
 

 
 

 
 

 
h
a
n
d
le
d
 s
e
n
s
it
iv
e
ly
 a
n
d
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly
 

8
. 

E
x
te
n
d
 t
h
e
 r
a
c
is
t 

in
c
id
e
n
ts
 c
o
m
m
o
n
 

m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

p
ro
je
c
ts
 t
o
 c
a
p
tu
re
 

o
th
e
r 
h
a
te
 r
e
la
te
d
 

in
c
id
e
n
ts
, 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
 i
n
c
id
e
n
ts
 

re
la
ti
n
g
 t
o
 a
 

p
e
rs
o
n
s
’ 
g
e
n
d
e
r 

o
r 
tr
a
n
s
g
e
n
d
e
r 

id
e
n
ti
ty
. 

G
e
n
d
e
r 
re
la
te
d
 

in
c
id
e
n
ts
 a
re
 

re
c
o
rd
e
d
 a
n
d
 

m
a
p
p
e
d
. 

 
 

E
s
ta
b
lis
h
m
e
n
t 
o
f 

c
o
m
m
o
n
 

m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 s
y
s
te
m
 

to
 c
a
p
tu
re
 d
a
ta
 o
n
 

h
a
te
 c
ri
m
e
. 

 

9
. 

W
o
rk
 i
n
 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 w
it
h
 

K
e
n
t 
P
o
lic
e
 t
o
 

b
u
ild
 c
o
n
fi
d
e
n
c
e
 

a
m
o
n
g
 v
ic
ti
m
s
 o
f 

d
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 v
io
le
n
c
e
 

to
 r
e
p
o
rt
 i
n
c
id
e
n
ts
, 

p
ro
v
id
e
 v
ic
ti
m
s
 

w
it
h
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 

w
o
rk
 w
it
h
 

p
e
rp
e
tr
a
to
rs
 t
o
 

re
d
u
c
e
 r
e
p
e
a
t 

o
ff
e
n
c
e
s
. 

T
o
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 o
v
e
ra
ll 

c
ri
m
e
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 

v
io
le
n
t 
c
ri
m
e
, 

d
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 v
io
le
n
c
e
 

a
n
d
 h
a
te
 c
ri
m
e
. 

 

 
 

•
 In
c
re
a
s
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 

o
f 
re
p
o
rt
e
d
 

d
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 v
io
le
n
c
e
 

in
c
id
e
n
ts
 b
y
 5
%
. 

•
 R
e
d
u
c
e
 b
y
 a
 t
h
ir
d
 

th
e
 %

 o
f 

D
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 

V
io
le
n
c
e
 o
ff
e
n
c
e
s
 

c
o
m
m
it
te
d
 b
y
 

re
p
e
a
t 
o
ff
e
n
d
e
rs
 

in
 a
 t
w
e
lv
e
-m

o
n
th
 

p
e
ri
o
d
. 

 

Page 103



 
Y
e
a
r 
1
 A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

O
u
tc
o
m
e
 

D
e
a
d
li
n
e
 

L
e
a
d
 o
ff
ic
e
r 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
o
f 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

2
0
0
8
/2
0
1
0
 

 
P
ri
o
ri
ty
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
 4
: 
 
E
n
h
a
n
c
e
 t
h
e
 q
u
a
li
ty
 o
f 
o
u
r 
in
te
ll
ig
e
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 s
y
s
te
m
s
, 
to
 e
n
s
u
re
 w
e
 c
a
n
 t
a
rg
e
t 

 
 

 
 

d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
ty
 w
h
e
re
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 i
s
 m

o
s
t 
n
e
e
d
e
d
 a
n
d
 b
e
s
t 
re
fl
e
c
ts
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 u
s
e
 o
f 

 
 

 
 

re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
. 

1
0
. 

F
o
llo
w
in
g
 

c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 o
f 

e
q
u
a
lit
y
 i
m
p
a
c
t 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

p
ro
c
e
s
s
, 
a
ll 

b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 p
la
n
s
 t
o
 

in
c
lu
d
e
 g
e
n
d
e
r 

s
p
e
c
if
ic
 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 

a
n
d
 t
a
rg
e
ts
. 

M
e
a
n
in
g
fu
l 
g
e
n
d
e
r 

e
q
u
a
lit
y
 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 

a
n
d
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 i
n
 

re
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 

d
e
liv
e
ry
 a
n
d
 

e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
h
a
v
e
 

b
e
e
n
 s
e
t 
a
n
d
 w
o
rk
 

s
ta
rt
e
d
 t
o
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
 

th
e
m
. 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
8
 

C
h
a
ir
s
 o
f 

D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 

E
q
u
a
lit
y
 G
ro
u
p
s
 

 H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 a
n
d
 

ta
rg
e
ts
 t
o
 b
e
 f
o
u
n
d
 

in
 a
ll 
b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

p
la
n
s
. 

D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
s
/ 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 a
re
a
s
 t
o
 

h
a
v
e
 m

e
t 
a
ll 

g
e
n
d
e
r 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 

ta
rg
e
ts
 a
n
d
 s
e
t 

n
e
w
 t
a
rg
e
ts
. 

1
1
. 

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 

a
n
a
ly
s
e
 

tr
e
n
d
s
/i
s
s
u
e
s
 i
n
 

s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
s
 

b
e
tw
e
e
n
 m
e
n
 a
n
d
 

w
o
m
e
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

c
o
u
n
ty
, 
th
ro
u
g
h
 

th
e
 B
V
P
I 
a
n
n
u
a
l 

s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 s
u
rv
e
y
 

Q
u
a
lit
y
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
iv
e
 

d
a
ta
 t
o
 i
n
fo
rm

 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 

a
n
d
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

O
n
g
o
in
g
 

C
e
n
tr
a
l 
P
o
lic
y
 U
n
it
 

D
if
fe
re
n
c
e
s
 

m
o
n
it
o
re
d
 a
g
a
in
s
t 

th
e
 B
V
P
I 
a
n
n
u
a
l 

s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 s
u
rv
e
y
 

 

1
2
. 

E
x
p
lo
re
 w
a
y
s
 i
n
 

w
h
ic
h
 t
o
 b
e
tt
e
r 

a
d
d
re
s
s
 c
ro
s
s
-

c
u
tt
in
g
 i
s
s
u
e
s
, 

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 a
ro
u
n
d
 

d
a
ta
 c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
. 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 104



 
Y
e
a
r 
1
 A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

O
u
tc
o
m
e
 

D
e
a
d
li
n
e
 

L
e
a
d
 o
ff
ic
e
r 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
o
f 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

2
0
0
8
/2
0
1
0
 

 
P
ri
o
ri
ty
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
 5
: 
 
 

M
a
in
ta
in
 o
u
r 
re
p
u
ta
ti
o
n
 a
s
 a
n
 e
x
c
e
ll
e
n
t 
e
m
p
lo
y
e
r,
 p
ro
m
o
ti
n
g
 a
 c
u
lt
u
re
 w
h
e
re
 t
h
e
  

 
 

 
 

 
C
o
u
n
c
il
 r
e
c
ru
it
s
 o
n
 m

e
ri
t,
 d
iv
e
rs
it
y
 i
s
 v
a
lu
e
d
, 
a
n
d
 w
h
e
re
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 a
re
 p
ro
a
c
ti
v
e
  

 
 

 
 

 
in
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 u
s
e
rs
. 

1
3
. 

C
o
n
ti
n
u
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 

E
q
u
a
l 
P
a
y
 A
u
d
it
 -
 

g
e
n
d
e
r 

E
n
s
u
re
 n
o
 

d
e
tr
im
e
n
t 
in
 p
a
y
 

O
n
-g
o
in
g
 

R
e
w
a
rd
 M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

P
ro
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 

re
p
o
rt
 w
it
h
 

re
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 

a
ri
s
in
g
 f
ro
m
 a
u
d
it
. 

 

1
4
. 

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 

to
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 t
o
p
 5
%
 

w
o
m
e
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
 

 

1
5
. 

R
e
w
a
rd
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 –
 

a
u
d
it
in
g
 o
f 
T
o
ta
l 

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 P
a
y
 

p
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 -
 

g
e
n
d
e
r 

E
n
s
u
re
 n
o
 

d
e
tr
im
e
n
t 
in
 

re
w
a
rd
 s
y
s
te
m
 

O
n
-g
o
in
g
 

R
e
w
a
rd
 M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

 
 

1
6
. 

R
e
p
o
rt
in
g
 o
f 
d
a
ta
 

to
 E
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
 L
e
a
d
 

O
ff
ic
e
r 
G
ro
u
p
 

th
ro
u
g
h
 d
e
d
ic
a
te
d
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

In
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

A
n
a
ly
s
is
 P
o
s
t 

E
n
s
u
re
 a
c
c
u
ra
te
, 

u
p
-t
o
-d
a
te
, 
ro
b
u
s
t 

d
a
ta
 m
a
d
e
 

a
v
a
ila
b
le
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 

p
o
s
it
iv
e
 a
c
ti
o
n
, 
a
s
 

re
q
u
ir
e
d
 

O
n
-g
o
in
g
 

S
ta
ff
 C
a
re
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r/
 

P
e
rs
o
n
n
e
l 
- 

D
iv
e
rs
it
y
 O
ff
ic
e
r 

 
 

1
7
. 

F
o
rm

a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
D
a
ta
 

Q
u
a
lit
y
 W

o
rk
in
g
 

G
ro
u
p
 

D
iv
e
rs
it
y
  

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
  
fi
t 
fo
r 

p
u
rp
o
s
e
 

O
n
-g
o
in
g
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
O
f 

P
e
rs
o
n
n
e
l 
&
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

 
 

Page 105



 
Y
e
a
r 
1
 A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

O
u
tc
o
m
e
 

D
e
a
d
li
n
e
 

L
e
a
d
 o
ff
ic
e
r 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
o
f 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

2
0
0
8
/2
0
1
0
 

1
8
. 

D
a
ta
 C
a
p
tu
re
 

E
x
e
rc
is
e
 

U
p
-d
a
te
 a
n
d
 

in
c
re
a
s
e
 d
a
ta
 h
e
ld
 

o
n
 P
e
rs
o
n
n
e
l 

In
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 s
y
s
te
m
 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
7
 

 
 

 

1
9
. 

R
e
v
ie
w
 p
a
rt
-t
im
e
 

w
o
rk
in
g
 a
n
d
 j
o
b
 

s
h
a
re
 p
ra
c
ti
c
e
. 

 

Id
e
n
ti
fy
 t
h
e
 

b
a
rr
ie
rs
 t
o
 p
a
rt
 

ti
m
e
 w
o
rk
in
g
 a
n
d
 

jo
b
 s
h
a
re
 

o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 w
it
h
 

a
 v
ie
w
 t
o
 r
e
m
o
v
in
g
 

s
u
c
h
 b
a
rr
ie
rs
 

w
h
e
re
v
e
r 
p
o
s
s
ib
le
. 

 
 

%
 O
f 
p
a
rt
 t
im
e
 

e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

c
o
u
n
c
il 
b
y
 g
e
n
d
e
r 

a
n
d
, 
%
 o
f 
p
a
rt
 t
im
e
 

e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 a
t 

s
e
n
io
r 
le
v
e
ls
 b
y
 

g
e
n
d
e
r.
 

 

 

2
0
. 

R
e
v
ie
w
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 

p
ro
v
id
in
g
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 

a
n
d
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

fo
r 
e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 w
it
h
 

c
a
ri
n
g
 

re
s
p
o
n
s
ib
ili
ti
e
s
. 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 

e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 w
h
o
 

h
a
v
e
 c
a
ri
n
g
 

re
s
p
o
n
s
ib
ili
ti
e
s
  

 
 

S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 

th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
s
 a
 

g
o
o
d
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
r 
a
s
 

m
e
a
s
u
re
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

a
n
n
u
a
l 
s
ta
ff
 

s
u
rv
e
y
. 
  

 

 

2
1
. 

E
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 

g
e
n
d
e
r 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 i
s
 

in
te
g
ra
te
d
 i
n
to
 t
h
e
 

d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 
th
e
 

e
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 

d
iv
e
rs
it
y
 t
ra
in
in
g
 

s
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

S
ta
ff
 h
a
v
e
 c
le
a
r 

u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 o
f 

h
o
w
 g
e
n
d
e
r 

e
q
u
a
lit
y
 i
m
p
a
c
ts
 

u
p
o
n
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 

d
e
liv
e
ry
 a
n
d
 

e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

th
e
ir
 

re
s
p
o
n
s
ib
ili
ti
e
s
. 

A
ll 
re
le
v
a
n
t 

tr
a
in
in
g
 a
n
d
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

a
c
ti
v
it
y
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 

g
e
n
d
e
r 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 

c
o
m
p
o
n
e
n
t 

 
 

 

Page 106



 
Y
e
a
r 
1
 A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

O
u
tc
o
m
e
 

D
e
a
d
li
n
e
 

L
e
a
d
 o
ff
ic
e
r 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
o
f 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

2
0
0
8
/2
0
1
0
 

2
2
. 

R
e
v
ie
w
 a
n
d
 

im
p
le
m
e
n
t 
th
e
 

h
a
ra
s
s
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

b
u
lly
in
g
 

p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
, 

e
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 

e
le
m
e
n
ts
 r
e
le
v
a
n
t 

to
 s
e
x
u
a
l 

h
a
ra
s
s
m
e
n
t 
a
re
 

fu
lly
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
. 

 

E
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 a
n
d
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
 a
re
 

a
w
a
re
 o
f 
th
e
ir
 

re
s
p
o
n
s
ib
ili
ti
e
s
 o
n
 

s
e
x
u
a
l 

h
a
ra
s
s
m
e
n
t,
 h
o
w
 

to
 r
e
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 d
e
a
l 

w
it
h
 i
t 

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
ly
 t
o
 

m
in
im
is
e
 d
is
tr
e
s
s
 

fo
r 
th
o
s
e
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
d
. 

 
 

P
o
lic
y
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 a
n
d
 

tr
a
in
in
g
 b
e
in
g
 

p
ro
v
id
e
d
. 

 

     
 

Page 107



 
  

R
a
c
e
 E
q
u
a
li
ty
 

 
S
u
m
m
a
ry
 A
c
ti
o
n
 P
la
n
 2
0
0
8
/2
0
1
0
 

  

Page 108



 

  
Y
e
a
r 
1
 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

Im
p
a
c
t 

D
e
a
d
li
n
e
 

L
e
a
d
 o
ff
ic
e
r 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
o
f 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

2
0
0
8
/2
0
1
0
 

 
P
ri
o
ri
ty
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
 1
: 

 
E
q
u
a
l 
a
n
d
 i
n
c
lu
s
iv
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
n
d
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
a
ll
, 
re
g
a
rd
le
s
s
 o
f 
a
g
e
, 
d
is
a
b
il
it
y
, 
 

 
 

 
 

 
g
e
n
d
e
r,
 f
a
it
h
, 
ra
c
e
, 
g
e
n
d
e
r 
o
r 
s
e
x
u
a
l 
o
ri
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 

1
. 

W
o
rk
 w
it
h
 K
e
n
t 

P
o
lic
e
 t
o
 

c
o
o
rd
in
a
te
 a
n
d
 

p
u
b
lic
is
e
 a
 s
e
ri
e
s
 

o
f 
e
v
e
n
ts
 t
o
 

c
e
le
b
ra
te
 B
la
c
k
 

H
is
to
ry
 M
o
n
th
 

2
0
0
7
 a
n
d
 

c
o
m
m
e
m
o
ra
te
 t
h
e
 

A
b
o
lit
io
n
 o
f 
th
e
 

S
la
v
e
 T
ra
d
e
 A
c
t 

T
o
 t
a
c
k
le
 r
a
c
ia
l 

s
te
re
o
ty
p
e
 a
n
d
 

p
re
ju
d
ic
e
, 

c
h
a
lle
n
g
e
 

m
is
c
o
n
c
e
p
ti
o
n
s
, 

ra
c
e
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 

a
n
d
 c
e
le
b
ra
te
 

c
u
lt
u
ra
l 
d
iv
e
rs
it
y
 

O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
0
7
 

In
c
lu
s
iv
e
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 

P
o
lic
y
 M
a
n
a
g
e
r/
 

D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 

E
q
u
a
lit
y
 L
e
a
d
s
/ 

R
a
c
e
 C
h
a
m
p
io
n
s
 /
 

U
N
IT
E
 

 
 

2
. 

T
h
e
 C
ri
ti
c
a
l 

In
c
id
e
n
t 

C
h
a
p
la
in
s
 t
ra
in
in
g
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 t
o
 

e
x
p
a
n
d
 t
o
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 

a
 w
id
e
r 
ra
n
g
e
 o
f 

fa
it
h
s
 a
n
d
 

c
u
lt
u
re
s
, 
a
n
d
 h
o
ld
 

a
n
 i
n
tr
o
d
u
c
to
ry
 

e
v
e
n
t 
fo
r 
u
p
 t
o
 

1
2
5
 d
e
le
g
a
te
s
. 

T
o
 e
n
h
a
n
c
e
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

c
o
h
e
s
io
n
 a
n
d
 

e
x
is
ti
n
g
 

e
m
e
rg
e
n
c
y
 

p
la
n
n
in
g
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 

F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
0
8
 

 
 

 

Page 109



  
Y
e
a
r 
1
 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

Im
p
a
c
t 

D
e
a
d
li
n
e
 

L
e
a
d
 o
ff
ic
e
r 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
o
f 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

2
0
0
8
/2
0
1
0
 

3
. 

R
e
v
ie
w
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 

la
n
g
u
a
g
e
 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
 a
t 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
o
in
ts
 

 
 

 
 

 

4
. 

M
o
n
it
o
r 
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 

o
n
 r
a
c
e
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 

a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
s
 i
n
 

s
c
h
o
o
ls
 a
n
d
 

re
v
ie
w
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
  

 
 

 
 

 

5
. 

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 

im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 

in
te
rp
re
ti
n
g
 a
n
d
 

tr
a
n
s
la
ti
o
n
 p
ilo
t.
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
P
ri
o
ri
ty
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
 2
: 
 
 

C
re
a
ti
v
e
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 f
o
r 
p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
n
d
  

 
 

 
 

 
d
e
c
is
io
n
-m

a
k
in
g
 

6
. 

R
e
v
ie
w
 e
th
n
ic
 

c
o
m
p
o
s
it
io
n
 o
f 

K
e
n
t 
R
e
s
id
e
n
ts
 

P
a
n
e
l,
 t
a
k
in
g
 

p
o
s
it
iv
e
 a
c
ti
o
n
 

m
e
a
s
u
re
s
 t
o
 

e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 

re
c
ru
it
m
e
n
t 
fr
o
m
 

K
e
n
t 
B
M
E
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
.  

E
n
s
u
re
 p
a
n
e
l 

c
o
m
p
o
s
it
io
n
 

re
fl
e
c
ts
 t
h
e
 K
e
n
t 

p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 a
s
 a
 

w
h
o
le
 

 
C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 P
o
lic
y
 

U
n
it
 

 
O
n
g
o
in
g
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
 

a
n
d
 p
o
s
it
iv
e
 a
c
ti
o
n
 

m
e
a
s
u
re
s
 a
s
 

n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
 

  

Page 110



  
Y
e
a
r 
1
 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

Im
p
a
c
t 

D
e
a
d
li
n
e
 

L
e
a
d
 o
ff
ic
e
r 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
o
f 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

2
0
0
8
/2
0
1
0
 

7
. 

L
o
c
a
l 
A
re
a
 

B
o
a
rd
s
 d
e
v
is
e
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 t
o
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
 o
n
 

m
a
tt
e
rs
 o
f 

re
le
v
a
n
c
e
 t
o
 B
M
E
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 i
n
 

D
a
rt
fo
rd
, 

G
ra
v
e
s
h
a
m
, 

A
s
h
fo
rd
 a
n
d
 

C
a
n
te
rb
u
ry
. 

T
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
k
n
o
w
s
 

w
h
a
t 
is
s
u
e
s
 m
a
tt
e
r 

m
o
s
t 
to
 l
o
c
a
l 

g
ro
u
p
s
 a
n
d
 

n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
 

a
n
d
 c
o
n
c
e
n
tr
a
te
s
 

it
s
 e
ff
o
rt
s
 i
n
 

p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 t
o
 t
h
is
. 

 
 

 
 

8
. 

R
e
la
ti
o
n
s
h
ip
 b
u
ild
 

w
it
h
 k
e
y
 B
M
E
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

g
ro
u
p
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

c
o
u
n
ty
 

 
 

In
c
lu
s
iv
e
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

P
o
lic
y
 M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

 
 

 
P
ri
o
ri
ty
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
 3
: 
 
 

W
o
rk
 w
it
h
 o
u
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
ty
’s
 m

o
s
t 
v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 g
ro
u
p
s
 f
e
e
l 
s
a
fe
 a
n
d
 

 
 

 
 

 
fr
e
e
 f
ro
m
 h
a
ra
s
s
m
e
n
t,
 a
n
d
 c
a
n
 r
e
p
o
rt
 i
n
c
id
e
n
ts
 i
n
  t
h
e
 k
n
o
w
le
d
g
e
 t
h
a
t 
is
s
u
e
s
 w
il
l 
b
e
 

 
 

 
 

 
h
a
n
d
le
d
 s
e
n
s
it
iv
e
ly
 a
n
d
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly
 

9
. 

E
x
p
lo
re
 

o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 f
o
r 

w
o
rk
in
g
 i
n
 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 w
it
h
 

K
e
n
t 
P
o
lic
e
 t
o
 

b
u
ild
 c
o
n
fi
d
e
n
c
e
 

a
m
o
n
g
 v
ic
ti
m
s
 o
f 

T
o
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 o
v
e
ra
ll 

c
ri
m
e
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 

v
io
le
n
t 
c
ri
m
e
, 

d
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 v
io
le
n
c
e
 

a
n
d
 h
a
te
 c
ri
m
e
. 

 

 
In
c
lu
s
iv
e
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

P
o
lic
y
 M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

 
 

Page 111



  
Y
e
a
r 
1
 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

Im
p
a
c
t 

D
e
a
d
li
n
e
 

L
e
a
d
 o
ff
ic
e
r 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
o
f 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

2
0
0
8
/2
0
1
0
 

h
a
te
 c
ri
m
e
, 
to
 

re
p
o
rt
 i
n
c
id
e
n
ts
 

a
n
d
 p
ro
v
id
e
 

v
ic
ti
m
s
 w
it
h
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
. 

1
0
. 

A
s
s
e
s
s
 r
a
c
ia
l 

in
c
id
e
n
ts
 

m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 i
n
 

s
c
h
o
o
ls
 a
n
d
 n
e
e
d
 

fo
r 
a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 

a
c
ti
o
n
. 

 
 

P
o
lic
y
 a
n
d
 

S
ta
tu
to
ry
 

C
o
m
p
lia
n
c
e
 

O
ff
ic
e
r 

 
 

 
P
ri
o
ri
ty
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
 4
: 
 
E
n
h
a
n
c
e
 t
h
e
 q
u
a
li
ty
 o
f 
o
u
r 
in
te
ll
ig
e
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 s
y
s
te
m
s
, 
to
 e
n
s
u
re
 w
e
 c
a
n
 t
a
rg
e
t 

 
 

 
 

d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
ty
 w
h
e
re
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 i
s
 m

o
s
t 
n
e
e
d
e
d
 a
n
d
 b
e
s
t 
re
fl
e
c
ts
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 u
s
e
 

 
 

 
 

o
f 
re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
. 

1
1
. 

N
e
w
 m

o
d
e
l 
fo
r 

d
a
ta
 c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 

a
n
d
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 o
f 

ra
c
e
 s
ta
ti
s
ti
c
s
 

a
c
ro
s
s
 K
e
n
t 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 a
n
d
 

p
ilo
te
d
 

R
e
fi
n
e
 o
u
r 

u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 o
f 

lo
c
a
lis
e
d
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 

R
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
o
 E
L
O
G
 

2
1
 J
u
n
e
 2
0
0
7
 

In
c
lu
s
iv
e
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 

P
o
lic
y
 M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

 
 

 

Page 112



 

 
Y
e
a
r 
1
 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

Im
p
a
c
t 

D
e
a
d
li
n
e
 

L
e
a
d
 o
ff
ic
e
r 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
o
f 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

2
0
0
8
/2
0
1
0
 

 
P
ri
o
ri
ty
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
 5
: 
 
 

M
a
in
ta
in
 o
u
r 
re
p
u
ta
ti
o
n
 a
s
 a
n
 e
x
c
e
ll
e
n
t 
e
m
p
lo
y
e
r,
 p
ro
m
o
ti
n
g
 a
 c
u
lt
u
re
 w
h
e
re
 t
h
e
  

 
 

 
 

 
C
o
u
n
c
il
 r
e
c
ru
it
s
 o
n
 m

e
ri
t,
 d
iv
e
rs
it
y
 i
s
 v
a
lu
e
d
, 
a
n
d
 w
h
e
re
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 a
re
 p
ro
a
c
ti
v
e
 i
n
 

 
 

 
 

 
a
n
ti
c
ip
a
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 u
s
e
rs
 

1
2
. 

R
e
v
ie
w
 s
u
c
c
e
s
s
 

o
f 
A
S
P
IR
E
 

p
e
rs
o
n
a
l 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 f
o
r 

B
M
E
 s
ta
ff
 

E
n
h
a
n
c
e
 

p
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
a
l 

o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 f
o
r 

B
M
E
 s
ta
ff
  

 
T
ra
in
in
g
 A
n
d
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 
/ 
T
ra
in
in
g
 

&
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

O
ff
ic
e
r 

 
 

1
3
. 

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 

to
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 t
o
p
 

5
%
 B
M
E
 s
ta
ff
 i
n
 

th
e
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 

 
 

 
 

 

1
4
. 

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 

im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 

E
q
u
a
l 
P
a
y
 A
u
d
it
 

o
n
 R
a
c
e
 

E
n
s
u
re
 n
o
 

d
e
tr
im
e
n
t 
in
 p
a
y
 

C
o
m
m
e
n
c
e
d
 A
p
ri
l 

2
0
0
6
 -
 o
n
g
o
in
g
 

R
e
w
a
rd
 M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

 
 

1
5
. 

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 R
e
w
a
rd
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
u
d
it
 o
f 

T
o
ta
l 
C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 

P
a
y
 r
e
g
a
rd
in
g
 

R
a
c
e
 

E
n
s
u
re
 n
o
 

d
e
tr
im
e
n
t 
in
 

re
w
a
rd
 s
y
s
te
m
 

O
n
-g
o
in
g
 

R
e
w
a
rd
 M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

 
 

1
6
. 

N
e
w
 s
o
ft
w
a
re
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 a
n
d
 

im
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 t
o
 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 113



 
Y
e
a
r 
1
 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

Im
p
a
c
t 

D
e
a
d
li
n
e
 

L
e
a
d
 o
ff
ic
e
r 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
o
f 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

2
0
0
8
/2
0
1
0
 

e
n
a
b
le
 c
ro
s
s
-

d
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 

a
n
a
ly
s
is
 o
f 

tr
a
in
in
g
 d
a
ta
 a
n
d
 

re
w
a
rd
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

1
7
. 

C
ro
s
s
-d
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 

W
o
rk
in
g
 G
ro
u
p
 

e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 t
o
 

e
n
s
u
re
 r
a
c
ia
l 

in
c
id
e
n
ts
 

in
v
o
lv
in
g
 s
e
rv
ic
e
-

u
s
e
rs
 a
n
d
 s
ta
ff
 i
s
 

re
c
o
rd
e
d
 a
n
d
 

a
n
a
ly
s
e
d
. 

 
 

 
 

 

1
8
. 

M
o
n
it
o
r 

G
ri
e
v
a
n
c
e
, 

D
is
c
ip
lin
a
ry
 a
n
d
 

H
a
ra
s
s
m
e
n
t 

P
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 b
y
 

‘t
y
p
e
 o
f 
in
c
id
e
n
t’
 

th
ro
u
g
h
 D
ig
n
it
y
 a
t 

W
o
rk
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 

D
a
ta
 c
a
p
tu
re
d
 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly
 a
n
d
 

p
o
s
it
iv
e
 a
c
ti
o
n
 

n
e
e
d
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 a
s
 

re
q
u
ir
e
d
 

D
ig
n
it
y
 a
t 
W
o
rk
 

G
u
id
a
n
c
e
 f
o
r 

M
a
n
a
g
e
rs
 t
o
 b
e
 

p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
 d
u
ri
n
g
 

2
0
0
7
 

 
 

 

1
9
. 

A
n
a
ly
s
is
 o
f 
Y
e
a
r 

O
n
e
 R
e
w
a
rd
 a
n
d
 

T
ra
in
in
g
 d
a
ta
 w
ill
 

b
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
o
 

E
L
O
G
 t
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 114



 
Y
e
a
r 
1
 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

Im
p
a
c
t 

D
e
a
d
li
n
e
 

L
e
a
d
 o
ff
ic
e
r 

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
o
f 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 

2
0
0
8
/2
0
1
0
 

d
e
tr
im
e
n
t.
 

R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n

s
 t
o
 b
e
 m
a
d
e
 t
o
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 
a
n
d
 C
h
ie
f 

O
ff
ic
e
rs
’ 
G
ro
u
p
 t
o
 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
 t
a
rg
e
ts
. 

2
0
. 

R
e
v
ie
w
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
f 

e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 

p
o
lic
y
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 

a
n
a
ly
s
is
 o
f 

m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 e
.g
. 

g
ri
e
v
a
n
c
e
, 

d
is
c
ip
lin
a
ry
, 

h
a
ra
s
s
m
e
n
t.
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

Page 115



Page 116

This page is intentionally left blank



 
CABINET SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 25 APRIL 2007 
 
Report Title: Kent TV 

 

Document Attached: Report to Cabinet, 16 March (Item 6) 
Cabinet approved the recommendations in the 
report (subject to some changes in the 
wording). 

 
Purpose of Consideration: (a) to explore further the potential risks of this  

project; 
 
 (b) to examine the costs of this project  

against the benefits it is likely to provide 
for KCC and for Kent as a whole. 

 
Possible Decisions: The Constitution (Appendix 4 Part 8) requires 

the Committee to take one of the following 
decisions:- 

 
(a) make no comments; or 
(b) express comments but not require 

reconsideration of the decision; or 
(c) require implementation of the decision to 

be postponed pending reconsideration 
of the matter by the Cabinet Member in 
the light of the Committee’s comments; 
or 

(d) require implementation of the decision to 
be postponed pending reconsideration 
of the matter by full Council.   

 
Previous Consideration: None. 
 
Background Documents: None. 

Agenda Item C2

Page 117



Page 118

This page is intentionally left blank



 
By:   Paul Carter, Leader 
   Peter Gilroy, Chief Executive 
 
To:   Cabinet – 16 April 2007 
 
Subject:  Kent TV 
 
Classification: Unrestricted 
 

Summary: To outline the proposals for Kent TV and seek approval for 
implementation 

 
For Decision 

 
1.   Introduction 
 
1.1 The spread of digital technology is increasing rapidly and Kent County Council 

(KCC) is keen to maximise the potential this offers for transforming how we 
communicate with the public and how we raise the profile of Kent locally, 
nationally and internationally.   

1.2 KCC is not the first local authority to invest in local television.  The national 
government invests in Directgov teletext service on Sky and the internet, Glasgow 
and London both invest in channels designed to promote tourism and other local 
authorities are looking at following a similar route to Kent.  There is also a generic 
local government channel that various local authorities invest in.  Other countries, 
such as the USA are much more advanced in their use of television channels, for 
example New York and Seattle.  However, at this stage, KCC would be the first 
local authority in the UK to embrace this concept in such a broad and high quality 
way, putting us at the cutting edge. 

1.3 Kent TV fits comfortably with KCC’s powers under the section 349 of the 
Communications Act 2003, the promoting wellbeing and community leadership 
role in the Local Government Act 2000 and in the Government White Paper “A New 
Future for Communications”, which enables local authorities to provide 
information services via TV and radio.   

1.4 “Finding new and innovative ways of communicating with the public, including 
trialling webcast TV” is a Towards 2010 target (number 24). 

1.5 We commissioned specialists in this industry to explore this project.  The report 
by Armitage Bucks Communications in July 2006 was a cornerstone in KCC’s 
desire to explore Kent TV as it found a “powerful argument” to proceed.  In such a 
fast-moving technology age however, this argument is now even more significant. 

1.6 The digital age is well underway and KCC needs to embrace this in order to deliver 
modernised local government services and ensure information is available in a 
modern and contemporary way.  Whilst revolutionary in what it can achieve, Kent 
TV is a natural next step in communication. 

 
 
2.  Context 
2.1 The case supporting Kent TV 
2.2 The case supporting Kent TV is very powerful and is becoming more powerful all 

the time.  The main reasons for KCC investing in Kent TV are as follows (this list is 
not exhaustive): 

• Kent TV will create employment both directly by the provider company and by 
stimulating the local creative industry, there will be indirect employment.  The 
successful company delivering Kent TV will employ mainly local residents. 

Page 119



• It has the potential to transform the way we communicate with the public and the 
way they communicate with us.  This will increase consultation opportunities and 
interaction more generally. 

• The opportunities for Kent TV to enhance the democratic process are significant.   
KCC will be able to reach out to the people of Kent with information, particularly 
those in the younger age-bracket of 18-32, where the voting percentage is lowest 
and explore new ways of engaging in council processes. 

• The channel will maximise local produced content, e.g. from schools, universities 
and colleges as well as user-generated content from individuals, community 
groups etc.  The potential is almost endless and a number of individuals and 
community groups have been in touch already who wish to be part of this. 

• Kent TV can provide an outlet for a range of local talent, from music to acting and 
from journalism to presenting. 

• It is also an outlet for the wealth of existing material within KCC, for example 
wildlife watching and community safety messages. 

• Kent TV will showcase the best of Kent, particularly for tourism and inward 
investment purposes, working closely with organisations such as Kent Tourism 
Alliance and Locate in Kent.  This medium will enable us to reach out to Kent 
residents and to people all over the world. 

• It will enable us to maximise the benefits to Kent of major events, such as 2012 
Olympics. 

• Kent TV will provide a showcase opportunity for local businesses. 

• Increased educational opportunities are key to this channel.  With over 600 
schools, the potential for shared learning and master-classes focussing on 
particular topics is being explored with education colleagues.  This medium can 
open up a whole new range of opportunities for children at school and outside 
school. 

• Sharing professional training opportunities is also possible, e.g. social work or 
teaching. 

• Critical to the longer-term funding of Kent TV, over time it will reduce KCC’s 
reliance on paper communications, thereby saving money and supporting our 
green agenda. 

• The potential for advertising and sponsorship revenue is significant.  This is 
addressed in paragraph 4. 

 
2.2 Outline proposal 

• Kent TV will be delivered as a broadband channel and will be available 24 hours a 
day 7 days a week locally, nationally and internationally, wherever a broadband 
internet connection is available.  This is a preferable option to any presence on Sky 
TV at this stage for several reasons: 

o It will reach a wider potential audience  
o It reduces costs 
o Broadband is the future of television and this is demonstrated by the much 

publicised increase in advertising money spent on broadband rather than 
traditional television. 

• The proposal is for a pilot to run for two years from 1 September 2007 to 31 
August 2009.  If the channel continues after this point, KCC will re-tender. 

• Viewing figures are hard to predict accurately with such a new channel, but 
50,000 viewers per month is felt to be achievable within the first few months, 
increasing thereafter.  The channel is aimed at all ages. 

• An independent company will be commissioned to deliver this channel. The tender 
process began in November 2006 and we are currently in the final stages of 
contract negotiation and the successful company will be announced shortly. 

• The schedule will be varied but will focus on tourism, education, information, 
news, user-generated content, democratic participation etc.  Any news element will 

Page 120



be delivered independently from KCC.  The channel will also maximise existing 
content where possible, both from KCC and other organisations where this is 
appropriate. 

• As well as a live streaming option, viewers will be able to utilise a range of video on 
demand options from an archive that will increase over time. 

• The channel will maximise the use of current and emerging technologies, such as 
podcasts on mobile phones, ipods and other MP4 players.  There is also the 
potential for Kent TV to be streamed on television screens in KCC buildings that 
the public access, e.g. libraries and schools, and in public places, such as 
shopping malls. 

• The technology is developing and improving constantly and the technology now 
exists to watch broadband television through your normal living room television.  
More and more people have access to broadband e.g. virtually all schools in Kent 
now have access, and the offers being provided by various companies, such as 
mobile phone companies, means the cost of accessing broadband is becoming 
cheaper and more competitive.  Broadband is also accessible through games 
consoles now e.g. Xbox 360 and Playstation 2.  Kent TV will utilise the progress in 
this technology. 

• The quality of the channel and the content will be continuously monitored through 
processes outlined in the provider contract.  This will be undertaken by the Board 
of Governors (see below).  There will also be a moderating process for all user-
generated content, which will be run by the provider company. 

• To ensure the independence of the channel, particularly in terms of content, a 
Board of Governors will be established that will consist of representatives with an 
interest or level of expertise in Kent and/or the media.  The exact make-up of this 
Board is yet to be confirmed.  The role of the Board will be to essentially represent 
the interests of everyone in the county by monitoring the channel’s performance 
against targets and standards, ensuring the channel delivers good value to the 
people of Kent, ensuring the channel is impartial and arbitrating on complaints 
from viewers in the last resort. 

• KCC will work with a range of partners in order to deliver Kent TV and maximise 
its benefits to Kent and beyond, including other public sector organisations such 
as Kent Police, Kent Fire & Rescue, NHS, voluntary organisations, district and 
borough councils etc., along with private sector partners. 

 
 
2.3 Risks 
2.4 The risks are low, particularly compared to the enormous opportunities Kent TV 

offers.  The main potential risks are outlined below: 
1) Income generation (see paragraph 4) may not meet expectations initially.  

This is low risk as we have already received significant interest in 
sponsorship and the company providing Kent TV will have a role in 
generating income. 

2) Maximising viewing figures.  This is also low risk as the channel is very 
broad so will appeal to a range of people locally, nationally and 
internationally.  The quality of the channel will be high and we will 
obtain feedback, thereby ensuring the channel is meeting public 
demand.  This will be key to overcoming this risk and ensuring viewing 
figures are high. 

3) Reputation.  KCC has received some negative publicity for investing in 
Kent TV.  However, when balanced against the positive communications 
and support received directly from community groups, individuals and 
the voluntary and private sector and national government, this risk is 
perceived as low overall.  Once the channel is up and running, the 
public and everyone can judge for themselves.  Constant feedback from 

Page 121



those people watching the channel will be sought and will influence the 
future direction of it.   

4) Maintaining the site.  The technical specification that forms part of the 
contract with the provider has clear requirements in order to ensure the 
site is maintained and that a risk of the site being down for any period of 
time is low.  KCC will retain ownership of all the content on the site and 
all the relevant financial checks will have been undertaken on the 
provider company. 

 
3.  Funding 
3.1  KCC is initially investing £600k per annum for the two year pilot and this was agreed 
by County Council in February 2007.  However, we are confident that a significant 
proportion of this will be covered by advertising and sponsorship.  This has been 
validated by those companies who remain in the tendering process.  We would hope for 
the channel to become self-funding over the first two years and then generate income 
thereafter if the channel continues beyond the pilot.  Expressions of interest from various 
Kent-based organisations looking to contribute as sponsors have already been received. 
3.1   The successful company will have a role in securing sponsorship and advertising 
and this will be within guidelines determined by the Board of Governors.  KCC will also 
maximise this potential where possible and appropriate according to the same guidelines. 
3.2   By investing in Kent TV, KCC will over time be able to reduce investment in paper 
communications, which will help fund the channel.  We will also optimise the investment 
in all our web-based communications.   
 
 
4.   Summary 
4.1 As originally stated, the case for Kent TV is very powerful and the opportunities for 
what can be delivered through this channel are enormous.  The digital age is upon us 
and the time is right for KCC to make the commitment to Kent TV that will both 
transform our communication processes and raise the profile of Kent locally, nationally 
and internationally. 
 
 
5. Recommendations 
 
Cabinet are asked to: 

1) Agree the implementation of the Kent TV pilot 
2) Delegate to the Leader and Chief Executive the final approval of the provider 

company 
 
 
 
 
 
Tanya Oliver 
Head of Strategic Development Unit  (01622) 694817 
April 2007  

Page 122



Item D1

CABINET SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 25 APRIL 2007 

Report Title: East Kent Empty Property Initiative – Direct 
Purchase Scheme (Decision 07/00934) 

Document Attached: Report to Leader of the Council published on 
28 March 2007. 

Purpose of Consideration: (a) to ascertain the reason for the delay since
the original launch of the initiative; 

(b) to confirm how local Members were  
consulted about the proposal for the direct 
purchase scheme; 

(c) to explore further the criteria for selecting
properties;

(d) to explore further the potential financial  
risks of the direct purchase scheme. 

Possible Decisions: The Constitution (Appendix 4 Part 8) requires 
the Committee to take one of the following 
decisions:-

(a) make no comments; or 
(b) express comments but not require 

reconsideration of the decision; or 
(c) require implementation of the decision to 

be postponed pending reconsideration 
of the matter by the Cabinet Member in 
the light of the Committee’s comments; 
or

(d) require implementation of the decision to 
be postponed pending reconsideration 
of the matter by full Council.   

Previous Consideration: None. 

Background Documents: None. 

Agenda Item D1

Page 123



1

To: Mr Paul Carter, Leader, Kent County Council 

By, Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Regeneration and Supporting 
Independence, Nick Chard, Cabinet Member for Finance, Mike Austerberry, 
Director of Property and Pete Raine, Managing Director for Environment and 
Regeneration

Subject: East Kent Empty Property Initiative Direct Purchase Scheme 
Classification: Unrestricted 

FOR DECISION 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
Summary:
The East Kent Empty Property Initiative (EKEPI) has been instigated to deliver 
a regeneration target under KCC’s second Public Service Agreement (PSA). 
The aim of this PSA target is to drive forward the regeneration of the East 
Kent Coastal Districts by bringing empty properties back into use as quality 
housing accommodation. This report seeks approval to spend £1.5million on 
the purchase and renovation of empty properties in East Kent, to secure their 
reuse as quality accommodation, thus contributing to achievement of the 
Public Service Agreement target.
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

1. Introduction and Background

The East Kent Empty Property Initiative (EKEPI) under its campaign “No Use 
Empty” has been set up to deliver a regeneration target under Round 2 of the 
Local Public Service Agreement (LPSA). This is “To improve the physical 
environment in four coastal districts of Kent - Dover, Shepway, Swale and 
Thanet by bringing empty properties back into use”.  This LPSA target has 
now been incorporated into the Kent Agreement (outcome 17) i.e. to improve 
Kent residents’ access to homes of excellent quality in the right place, at the 
right time and the right cost.

The direct purchase scheme as proposed in this report will deliver four 
principal aims towards the achievement of both the LPSA and the Kent 
Agreement: -

(i) Affordable housing 
 Increase the supply of affordable housing into the housing market. Research 
undertaken for the set –up phase for the EKEPI identified that the majority of 
empty properties in the East Kent area are located in areas of high housing 
need. The direct purchase scheme will contribute to a beneficial increase in 
housing supply by bringing back into use long term empty properties for 
residential occupation.  

(ii) Regeneration of the coastal urban areas
Targeting key empty properties as part of the wider regeneration activities 
being undertaken through KCC, including Margate Old Town and Dover Pride. 
Vacant and dilapidated properties act as a disincentive to new investment in 

1Page 124



2

these areas. The direct purchase scheme will be undertaken in consultation 
with the appropriate regeneration organisations and relevant Districts to 
identify key properties to be targeted for possible acquisition to help secure 
regeneration for these areas.

(iii) Decent homes. 
All refurbishment work undertaken through the direct purchase scheme will be 
undertaken to a high standard in addition to complying with the Government’s 
Decent Homes Standard and with current building regulations.

(iv) Stimulate housing markets 
Vacant and dilapidated buildings act as a disincentive to investment by other 
homeowners. Renovating such properties and bringing them back into use will 
encourage other home owners to invest in their own property and encourage  
new owners to move in, thus stimulating the housing market in the Initiative’s 
target areas.

2. Selection of Properties

It is expected that properties for possible acquisition will be identified through 
four main routes. 

 Direct approach by KCC to owners to acquire key run down and 
dilapidated properties. 

 Offer by an owner to KCC to purchase a property, as an alternative to 
enforcement action by one of the partner Districts. E.g. an owner may offer 
a property to KCC which is subject to possible compulsory purchase 
action.

 Owners responding the EKEPI’s advertising for the direct purchase 
scheme.

 Properties for sale on the open market where market failure is evident and 
appropriate for KCC’s intervention.   

It is expected that the majority of properties will have an initial purchase price 
in the region of £100,000 to £200,000, but in any event will not exceed 
£500,000.

Any property considered, as a prospective purchase through the direct 
purchase scheme, will be dealt with in accordance with the working procedure 
attached at appendix one. In particular the working procedure details how 
suitable properties will be selected, the business case to support their 
acquisition and the legislative requirements.

2. Governance

(i) The property decisions to acquire, dispose and manage operational, non-
operational and investment properties are governed by the Property 
Management Protocol as set out in the Council’s Constitution. The Property 
Management Protocol allows delegated authority to the Director of Property to 
acquire or dispose of property up to £1 million.

2Page 125



3

(ii) In order to allow the EKEPI to act decisively when an opportunity to 
purchase arises it is recommended that Cabinet should establish the Scheme 
within the parameters outlined in this proposal. In particular Cabinet is asked 
to delegate authority to spend within the Scheme to the Director of Property, 
and the Managing Director for Environment & Regeneration, in consultation 
with the Cabinet Member for Finance and the Cabinet Member for 
Regeneration and Supporting Independence. 
(iii) Each purchase proposal under the Direct Purchase Scheme will be 
supported by a robust business case containing: - 

(a) Details of the proposal 
(b) The rationale for the purchase 
(c) The objective to be satisfied 
(d) The costs involved in the acquisition, refurbishment and anticipated 
resale value. 
(e) details of any planning/building control issues that may impact of the 
proposed refurbishment works. 
(f) The opportunities to be gained 
(g) the anticipated financial return to the Scheme. 

(iv) A consultant surveying firm has been commissioned through the Property 
Group’s framework to provide the specialist advice listed above. 

In accordance with (g) above the scheme will aim to make a profit of between 
8-10% on each property acquired through the Scheme.

The funding for the Scheme will operate as a revolving pot. Therefore all 
monies from the sale of the properties, and profits, will be returned to the 
scheme to support further acquisitions, until such time as repayment of the 
Scheme funding is required in accordance with the Medium Term Financial 
Plan.

However there may be instances where the proposed purchase will achieve 
significant benefits to the overall Initiative, but where the business case does 
not support the making of a profit. In such instances the report requesting 
authority to purchase will make explicit the wider benefits that will be achieved 
in lieu of an increase in capital for the Direct Purchase Scheme.

Each business case shall be subjected to review by the Directors of Property 
and Finance, who shall satisfy themselves that the purchase proposal is valid 
and supportable. 

4. Consultation

The Directors of Finance, Property, and Law and Governance, have been 
consulted for their confirmation that the proposed direct purchase scheme will 
comply with the PMP and any statutory requirements. 

Additionally the local members for each District within the EKEPI area have 
been consulted for their views and support for the direct purchase scheme. All 
responses received are supportive for the scheme. 

3Page 126



4

5. Legal considerations

The direct purchase scheme will be instigated using the power of economic, 
social and environmental well-being under section 2 of the Local Government 
Act 2000. Consultations with the Director of Law and Governance have 
determined that there are no restrictions under section 3 of the same Act, 
which would prevent the operation of the direct purchase scheme. 

6. Financial and tax considerations

The VAT incurred on the costs of acquiring the properties, not including the 
purchase price, and on the renovation costs will have to be taken into KCC’s 
partial exemption calculation. To ensure that this scheme does not have an 
adverse impact on KCC’s partial exemption status regular consultations will 
be undertaken with the Corporate Finance Section. 

Stamp duty will be payable on any property purchase over £125,000 
(£150,000 in “disadvantaged” areas) and these costs will be incorporated as 
part of the business plan in 2 above.

KCC being a local authority is exempt for Capital Gains Tax 

7. Resource implications.
The direct purchase scheme will be undertaken within existing staffing and 
revenue resources established specifically to progress work on this Initiative. 
A Capital funding allocation of £1.5 million needs to be agreed, this to be 

drawn down from the total provision of £5million set out in the Medium Term 
Financial Plan for 2007-2010. 

In accordance with the PMP KCC acquired properties are held corporately but 
in this project, the costs and budgets will be ring-fenced and any risks 
contained within the current capital funding of £1.5 million. 

Recommended Decision

 The Leader is asked to approve the East Kent Empty Property direct 
purchase scheme, on the basis set out in this report and subject to the 
procedures set out in the attached Appendix. 

 That the sum of £1.5m be allocated to the scheme, this to be drawn down 
from the sum of £5.m identified in the 2007 -2010  Medium Term Plan 

 That authority be delegated to the Director of Property and the Managing 
Director for Environment & Regeneration to approve under the terms of 
this scheme any property acquisitions, or disposals in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Finance and the Cabinet Member for Regeneration 
and Supporting Independence. 

Background papers: none

Contact: Susan Pledger, Regeneration and Project Manager 
Susan.pledger@kent.gov.uk 01622 696814 

4Page 127



5

Appendix One 

Procedure for Direct Purchase of Empty Properties by KCC for 
Renovation and Sale 

Action By Whom 

(1) Identification of appropriate properties 

Properties for possible direct acquisition by KCC will be identified 
through one of the following routes: - 

 Direct offer of purchase by KCC to the current owner of key 
rundown and dilapidated properties. 

 Property offered to KCC by current owner 

 Enforcement action being undertaken by the Districts where the 
owner will be offered a voluntary sale to KCC 

 For sale on the open market through either estate agents or at 
auction, or 

 Properties put forward by the district’s Empty Property Officer 
(EPO)

Initial inspection of the property undertaken and enquires made 
with the District EPO to ascertain if any adverse information held 
on the property and conform that will contribute to the PSA target. 
If property ownership details unknown undertake search with the 
Land Registry. 
Draft proposal paper drawn up as to why property considered 
appropriate for direct purchase and the proposed refurbishment 
scheme (This may include conversion of buildings into residential 
accommodation and sub-division into self-contained units). 
(If a property is found to have serious structural defects, other 
adverse defects e.g. extensive dry rot, or cannot be renovated to 
comply with the Decent Homes Standard or the minimum health 
and safety housing standards do not proceed with purchase, but 
refer to the districts for appropriate action)

Regeneration and 
Project
Manager/District
EPO

(2) Business case

To support the acquisition of an empty property a business case 
will be required to demonstrate the financial viability for the 
purchase. A specialist valuation/surveying firm has been 
commissioned through the Property Group’s frameworks relating 
estate matters as well as design and maintenance consultants to 
provide the following information. 
1. Current valuation.  
2. Detailed surveys, defects schedule, schedule of works and 

anticipated expected total cost of refurbishment to an agreed 
specification.

3. Expected market value once fully refurbished. 
4. Confirmation of or suggested proposals for the refurbishment 

scheme.
Where from the above figures the acquisition is financially viable:
5. Detailed schedule of remedial works commissioned. This will 

KCC Property 
Services
framework

KCC Property 
Services
framework

5Page 128



6

include an assessment of energy efficiency required in order to 
produce the appropriate Energy Performance Certificate that 
must be produced on sale of a property from July 2007. 

6. Estimates obtained to undertake detailed schedule as per 4. 
above.

7. Decision made on the offer price to be made to the current 
owner.

8. Enquiries made with appropriate planning/building control 
departments to establish if they have any issues which may 
impact on the proposed refurbishment/conversion works. 

On receipt of all of the above information, where a viable case 
exists for acquisition, a detailed business case will be produced 
requesting approval to proceed with the property purchase and 
submitted for approval by the Managing Director for Environment & 
Regeneration in accordance with approval for the Scheme. 

Regeneration and 
Project Manager

(3) Exchange of Contracts and Completion of Purchase 

Contracts drawn up for proposed purchase and exchange date 
arranged with the owner 
Heads of Terms will need to be drafted by Estates team/Disposals 
team and reported to Legal. Legal will need to assign a resource to 
handle this acquisition and disposal in a prompt manner. 
Complete purchase (If owner withdraws from sale prior to 
completion notify relevant district council for possible Compulsory 
Purchase Order/EDMO if deemed appropriate)

KCC Legal 
services

(4) Renovation of Property 

Contract awarded to contractor with best proposal.
Application made to relevant district for Building Regulation 
Approval and fee paid 
Renovation scheme undertaken, works monitored by surveyor 
appointed through the Property Group framework. 
On completion of works obtain final certification from the relevant 
building control department and produce appropriate Energy 
Performance Certificate. 

KCC Property 
Services
framework.

(5) Renovated property put up for sale 

Property marketed to obtain disposal price. KCC Property 
Services
framework.

6Page 129



Page 130

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	A2 Minutes - 21 March 2007
	A3 Informal Member Group on "Kent: What Price Growth?" - 26 March 2007
	A4 Informal Member Group on Budgetary Issues - 12 April 2007
	A5 Cabinet Scrutiny Committee - Standing Report to April 20007
	A6 Directorate Business Plans 2007/08
	Cabinet Report

	C1 Equality Strategy 2007-10
	Equality Strategy 2007 - 2010
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	C2 Kent TV
	Kent TV

	D1 East Kent Empty Property Initiative - Direct Purchase Scheme (Decision 07/00934)

